UNDERSTANDING THE PARASITIC VARIABILITY OF THE NORTHERN ROOT KNOT NEMATODE (*MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA*) THROUGH MULTIDISCIPLINARY APPROACHES OF SOIL BIOME AND ENVIRONMENT

By

Isaac Lartey

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Horticulture - Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

UNDERSTANDING THE PARASITIC VARIABILITY OF THE NORTHERN ROOT KNOT NEMATODE (*MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA*) THROUGH MULTIDISCIPLINARY APPROACHES OF SOIL BIOME AND ENVIRONMENT

By

Isaac Lartey

Managing *Meloidogyne hapla* remains challenging due to the ban of broad-spectrum nematicides, lack of resistant crops and its broad host range. It also has parasitic variability (PV) where populations (pop) are morphologically and genetically similar but vary in pathogenicity and reproductive potential. Although PV in M. hapla appears to have some relationship to soil types, what soil conditions favor its PV and/or its distribution are unknown. The goal of my research was to understand the soil conditions where M. hapla PV exist by quantifying the biophysicochemical (BPC) conditions from the ecosystem down to microbiome level. I designed observational and experimental approaches and tested four objectives. First, was to evaluate the association between soil conditions and *M. hapla* distribution at the ecosystem level. My hypothesis was that the presence of *M. hapla* will be associated with degraded soil conditions. I selected 15 (6 muck and 9 mineral soil) agricultural fields with adjacent natural vegetation in southwest, northwest and eastern regions of the lower peninsula of Michigan as study sites. I collected a total of 75 (5 per field) georeferenced soil samples from agricultural fields and equal number from adjacent natural vegetation soils, quantified the soil food web (SFW) conditions using the Ferris SFW model, and screened for *M. hapla* presence or absence. The fields were described either as disturbed, degraded (worst-case) or maturing (best-case). Meloidogyne hapla was present in 3 mineral (2, 8 and 13) and 6 muck (4, 5, 6, 10, 14 15) agricultural fields with degraded and/or disturbed soil conditions and absent from maturing soils, partially supporting the hypothesis. Degraded soils had low nitrogen content in both soil groups. The second objective was to

isolate and culture the 9 *M. hapla* populations to test a hypothesis that PV is related to specific SFW conditions. I found three categories of reproductive potential: the highest (Pop 13), medium (Pop 8), both from degraded mineral soils, and lowest from disturbed mineral (Pop 2) and disturbed (Pops 4, 6 and 10) and degraded (Pops 5, 14 and 15) muck soils. Thus, the hypothesis was not supported. The third objective, was to determine relationships between microbial community structure and *M. hapla* distribution. My working hypotheses were that there is a relationship among microbiome, soil health and M. hapla occurrence-Microbial community structure in the fields was determined from sub-samples of the same samples where the nematodes were isolated. I used 16S (bacteria) and ITS (fungi) rDNA analysis and characterized the microbial composition, core- and indicator-microbes coexisting with *M. hapla* pop in the field soils and soil conditions relative to the Ferris SFW model description. The results showed that bacterial and fungal community abundance and composition varied by soil group, SFW conditions and/or M. hapla occurrence. I found that a core of 39 bacterial and 44 fungal sub-operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were found variably, 25 bacterial OTUs associated with presence or absence of *M. hapla*, and 1,065 OTUs were associated SFW conditions. All three hypotheses were supported. The final objective was to determine the relationship between PV and the microbes associated with M. hapla pop. I compared bacteria present in M. hapla pop isolated from the field and greenhouse cultures. The hypothesis was that either presence and/or absence of specific bacteria are associated with M. hapla population. Population 8 shared more bacteria with the lowest reproductive potential pop than Population 13. Presence of several bacteria was unique to Population 8 as was the absence of other bacteria to Pop 13 in either field or greenhouse nematodes. Therefore, the hypothesis was supported. My research findings provide a foundation for: a) testing the relationship between M. hapla PV and the BPC conditions and b) designing soil health-based management strategies.

I dedicate this to my beloved family Samariyan, and Kimberly and Kamilla

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to use this opportunity to thank all the people who in diverse ways made it possible for me to succeed and to accomplish the work in this dissertation. My first and foremost appreciation goes to my major professor, Dr. Haddish Melakeberhan who gave me the opportunity to pursue a Ph.D. degree under his tutelage and mentorship. I also want to thank members of my advisory committee, Dr. Alexandra Kravchenko, Dr. Daniel Brainard and Dr. Gregory Bonito for their encouragement, guidance, and mentorship during my program. Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. Terrence Marsh who gave advice and support in the early part of my program.

I am grateful for the fantastic support I got from Michigan State University (MSU) extension educators, Benjamin Werling, Benjamin Phillips and Ronald Goldy through their coordination to get me access to vegetable farms across Michigan. Many thanks to the farmers who granted me the permission to sample from their fields. I am also grateful for diverse support I received from Dr. Stephen Kakaire, Dr. Reid Longley, Dr. Gian Benucci, Dr. Xorla Kanfra, Sherry Mulvaney, Meghan Hill and Kaylene Kirby.

I would like to thank the MSU Graduate School, MSU College of Agriculture and Natural Resources, MSU AgBioResearch, USDA/NIFA Hatch Project (MICL #1792) and MSU Department of Horticulture for the financial support provided for my research.

Most importantly, I would want to thank my wife, Samariyan for her love and support through the stressful and difficult times in the covid pandemic. I also appreciate the selfless support I received from my mother, Beatrice Dankwah, who was instrumental in my educational journey.

V

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS	xviii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW Meloidogyne hapla distribution and significance of its parasitic variability (PV) Michigan Role of beneficial nematodes as bioindicators of soil health conditions Meloidogyne hapla biology and soil microbiome associations The project goal, objectives, and hypotheses	1 in 1 4 6 8
CHAPTER 2 GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS Soil sampling and partitioning Nematode extraction, fixing and enumeration Nematode community analysis for determining soil health conditions Screening soils for <i>Meloidogyne hapla</i> presence. Culturing <i>Meloidogyne hapla</i> populations. Soil microbiome DNA extraction, library preparation, sequencing, and enumeration.	11 12 14 14 15 16 tion 16
Soil biophysicochemical data analysis of <i>M. hapla</i> infested field soils	21
CHAPTER 3 OCCURRENCE OF <i>MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA</i> RELATIVE TO NEMATODE ABUNDANCE AND SOIL FOOD WEB STRUCTURE IN SOIL GROUPS OF	24
SELECTED MICHIGAN VEGETABLE PRODUCTION FIELD. Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Statistical analyses Results Screening for <i>M. hapla</i> presence Relationship of <i>M. hapla</i> presence with soil food web structure Relationship of <i>M. hapla</i> presence with nematode trophic group abundance Discussion Conclusions	24 25 26 28 28 29 29 29 31 34 40 42
CHAPTER 4	43

PARASITIC VARIABILITY OF MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA RELATIVE TO SOIL	
GROUPS AND SOIL HEALTH CONDITIONS	43
Abstract	43
Introduction	44
Materials and methods	46
Soils, SFW conditions and regions where M. hapla populations came from	46
Experimental design, set up and measurements	46
Data analysis	48
Results	50
Meloidogyne hapla developmental stages in roots	50
Effect on galling, total and percent infection	54
Discussion	60
Conclusion	62
CHAPTER 5	63
CHARACTERIZING MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE	
NORTHERN ROOT-KNOT NEMATODE (<i>MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA</i>) OCCURREN	NCE
AND SOIL HEALTH	
Abstract	63
Introduction	64
Materials and methods	67
Sample Sites with <i>Meloidogyne hapla</i> Occurrence	67
Statistical Analyses	68
Results	70
Bacterial community composition	70
Fungal community composition	73
Bacterial alpha diversity	76
Fungal alpha diversity	76
Beta diversity of bacterial communities	78
Beta diversity of fungal communities	78
Core bacterial communities	81
Core fungal communities	81
Indicators of <i>M. hapla</i> occurrence and soil health conditions	83
Discussion	86
Microbial diversity and community composition	86
Core microbial communities	89
Indicator bacterial communities relative to <i>M. hapla</i> occurrence	91
Conclusions	93
СНАРТЕВ 6	95
COMPOSITION AND FUNCTION OF BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES ASSOCIAT	ΓED
WITH THE NORTHERN ROOT-KNOT NEMATODE (MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA)	
POPULATIONS SHOWING PARASITIC VARIABILITY	
Abstract	
Introduction	96
Materials and methods	
Meloidogyne hapla Populations	
Statistical and Data Analyses	99
Results	100

Community composition	100
Functional groups	
Alpha diversity	110
Beta diversity	111
Discussion	114
Community diversity and composition	114
Functional groups and their habitats	117
Connections with core and indicator groups	
Conclusions	
CHADTED 7	127
CENEDAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	127
GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	127
Dackground	$1 a \mathbf{D} \mathbf{V}$
The toadinap towards understanding the biophysicochemical basis of <i>M. nup</i>	120 I 120
The readman towards designing soil health based M hanla management	120
Conclusions	1/2
Conclusions	
APPENDICES	143
APPENDIX A Institutional review board (IRB) letter	144
APPENDIX B Soil sampling data sheet/questionnaire responses for 15 agricultur	al fields
APPENDIX C Assigned field codes for voucher specimen of 15 agricultural field	ls148
APPENDIX D PCR mix and thermocycle used for PCR in Chapter 2	149
APPENDIX E PCR mix and thermocycle used for 3-step PCR in Chapter 2	
APPENDIX F Worm lysis buffer (WLB) mix used in Chapter 2	
APPENDIX G Voucher specimens.	
· 1	_
BIBLIOGRAPHY	156

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Field GPS coordinates (latitude and longitude) of 15 agricultural fields sampled from Michigan by regions (east, southwest and northwest) and soil groups (mineral and muck). 12
Table 3.1 A regional (eastern, southwestern and northwestern of Michigan, USA), soil (mineral and muck) and soil type (loam, sandy loam, organic and loamy sand) categorization of the 15 agricultural fields sampled in June 2018 with their suitable host (SU: tomato, soybean, onion, vetch, carrot, parsnip and sugar beet) or unsuitable host (US: oats, corn, apple seedlings and wheat) crops and the presence or absence of <i>Meloidogyne hapla</i>
Table 3.2 Mean enrichment (EI) and structure (SI) indices by region (RG: eastern, southwestern and northwestern of Michigan, USA), soil (ST: mineral and muck), and presence or absence of <i>Meloidogyne hapla</i> (Mh) in agricultural fields (A) and RG and ST in adjacent natural vegetation site (B)
Table 3.3 Genera of herbivore, bacterivore, fungivore, predator and omnivore nematodes and their colonizer-persister (cp) categories values observed in the soil samples from areas in Michigan, USA
Table 3.4 Mean numbers of herbivore (HV), bacterivore (BV), fungivore (FV), predator (PR) and omnivore (OV) nematodes, sum of all trophic groups (SUM), sum of free-living nematodes (SFL), sum of free-living nematodes from cp 2 to cp 5 (SFL25), and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 nematodes (S25) per 100 cm ³ soil by region (RG: east, SW-southwestern and NW-northwestern of Michigan, USA), soil (ST: mineral and muck), and <i>Meloidogyne hapla</i> (Mh: present and absent) in agricultural fields (A), RG and ST in adjacent natural vegetation site (B), RG, ST and land use (C)(LU: agricultural and natural vegetations)
Table 4.1 Mean number of second stage (J2), third and fourth stage (J3/J4) juveniles and adult nematode developmental stages recovered from the low (2000) and high (4000) egg inocula (IN) treatments across 9 <i>M. hapla</i> (MH) populations and the two-way interaction (p-values) of MH and IN
Table 4.2 Mean number of second stage (J2), third and fourth stage (J3/J4) juveniles and adult nematode developmental stages of <i>M. hapla</i> populations recovered across regions (RG: East, Southwest-SW and Northwest-NW), soil groups (SG: Muck and Mineral), from inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of RG, SG and IN
Table 4.3 Mean number of second stage (J2), third and fourth stage (J3/J4) juveniles and adult nematode developmental stages of <i>M. hapla</i> populations recovered from soil health (SFW: disturbed and degraded) conditions and inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of soil group (SG), SFW and IN
Table 4.4 Means of galls, total and total (% Infection) associated with the low (2000) and high (4000) egg inocula (IN) treatments across 9 <i>M. hapla</i> (MH) populations and the two-way interaction (p-values) of MH and IN

Table 4.5 Means of galls, total and total (% Infection) associated with <i>M. hapla</i> populations recovered across regions (RG: East, Southwest-SW and Northwest-NW), soil groups (SG: Muck and Mineral), from inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of RG, SG and IN
Table 4.6 Means of gall, total and % Infection associated with <i>M. hapla</i> populations recovered from soil health (SFW: disturbed and degraded) conditions and inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of soil group (SG), SFW and IN
Table 5.1 Permutational multivariate analysis of variance <i>adonis</i> and multivariate homogeneity of groups dispersions analysis (betadisper) results for bacteria and fungi communities associated with <i>M. hapla</i> occurrence (MH), soil group (SG), region (RG), soil health (SFW) conditions, and interactions 15 agricultural fields
Table 6.1 Functional groups microbial genera found in field and greenhouse <i>M. hapla</i> populations. 106
Table 6.2 Permutational multivariate analysis of variance and multivariate homogeneity of groups dispersions analysis results microbial communities associated with field and greenhouse <i>M. hapla</i> based on soil group (SG), region (RG), soil health (SFW) conditions, and interactions. 113
Table 6.3 Taxonomy (Phylum, Class, Order, Family and Genera) and function of 25bacterial indicators found in locations with <i>M. hapla</i> presence or absence
Table 6.4 Taxonomy (Phylum, Class, Order, Family and Genera) and function of 11 core- bacteria found in locations with <i>M. hapla</i> presence or absence. 125
Table 7.1 Means and standard deviation (\pm) concentration of nitrate (NO ₃ ⁻) and ammonium (NH ₄ ⁺) present in <i>Meloidogyne hapla</i> infested fields across regions (east, southwest and northwest), soils groups (mineral and muck) and soil foodweb conditions (SFW: degraded and disturbed)
Table B1 General field data of the 15 agricultural fields collected from regions (east, southwestern and northwestern) and soil groups (mineral and muck) of Michigan showing the latitude, longitude, crop-rotation status, nutrient source, tillage, soil conditions and comments. 146
Table C1 Field codes of the 15 agricultural fields sampled from regions (east, southwestern and northwestern) and soil groups (mineral and muck) of Michigan, used as cross-reference labels for data and the voucher specimen
Table D1 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) mix with volumes and thermocycle settings (temperature, time and cycles) used to amplify the 16 ribosomal region of bacteria
Table E1 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) mix with volumes and thermocycle settings(temperature, time and cycles) used to amplify the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region offungal ribosome.150

Table F1 | Worm lysis buffer (WLB) mix used to extract bacterial DNA associated with *Meloidogyne hapla* populations isolated directly from field soils and greenhouse cultures. 152

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.4 | A graphical abstract illustrating my project goal, the different soil conditions of sandy to muck soil, cropping systems, and the variable soil health conditions *M. hapla* PV exists, the sandy soil *M. hapla* populations with a higher parasitism than muck populations, research questions, observational and experimental objectives, and how their synthesis lays the basis for potential biophysicochemical associations with PV.

Figure 2.2 | Diagram of major steps followed for DNA extraction (A), library preparation (B), sequencing (C) and bioinformatic analysis (D) as part of the field soil microbiome analysis. DNA extraction was performed using the using the PowerSoil® DNA isolation kit with 2 g soil to prepare sample for cell lysis, removal of inhibitors, binding of DNA, washing and elution steps. The library preparation stage mixed DNA, primers (16S to target bacteria and

Figure 5.1 | Description of the 15 agricultural fields showing *M. hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]), soil group (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]), soil food web conditions (SFW: D-Degraded [red], A-Disturbed [yellow], B-Maturing [green]), and regions (E-Eastern [grey], S-Southwestern [purple] and N-Northwestern [orange]). 67

Figure 5.5 | Principal coordinates analysis plots, based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, of (A) bacterial communities, and (B) fungal communities. Colors represent *Meloidogyne hapla* occurrence in soil groups (Mineral_Absent: red, Mineral_Present: blue, Muck_Present: green), while the shapes represent regions (east: circle, northwest: triangle, southwest: square) of the lower peninsula of Michigan. Categories were separated with a 70% ellipse..79

Figure 5.7 | Bacterial indicator heatmap of the top 25 most abundant of OTUs associated with *M. hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]) across soil groups (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]). Deeper red color corresponds with a higher bacteria abundance. On the y-axis (hierarchical clustering) is the lower cluster showing indicators associated with *M. hapla* presence (OTU17 to OTU25) and the upper cluster (bray Curtis dissimilarity) showing indicators of *M. hapla* absence (OTU1 to OTU16). The lower cluster with taxa like

Figure 5.8 | Venn diagram showing the distribution of 1065 bacterial indicators associated with disturbed (A-yellow), degraded (D-red) and maturing (B-green) soil health conditions. The degraded had 5 unique indicators, the disturbed with 89 and the maturing conditions with 787 indicators. The maturing conditions shared 135 indicators with degraded and 49 indicators with the disturbed conditions. No indicators were shared by degraded and disturbed conditions or by all three soil health conditions. A complete list of soil health condition indicators is available using this link (https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1FaYYF25SXTXSKVtTWaJg-

TtPEzcwvVme/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=101736667728877041455&rtpof=true&sd=true)..85

Figure 6.3 | Stacked bar plots showing the relative abundance of bacterial genera associated with (A) field and (B) greenhouse *M. hapla* populations originating from different soil groups (SG: muck [brown] and mineral [white]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: Deg: Degraded [red] and Dist: Disturbed [yellow]). Sixty genera were detected in both field and greenhouse populations, five (*Norcardia, Rhodomicrobium, Gemmata, Fluviicola and Vibrio*) in only field populations, and one (*Steroidobacter*) in only greenhouse populations. Other OTUs which were not assigned genera were labelled as unclassified. Colors of bacteria and fungi correspond with colors in the stacked bar plots and each bar represents a field. Relative abundance of bacterial genera was variable across the field and the greenhouse populations. Sequences were assigned to taxonomic groups using the ACT (alignment, classification, tree service; https://www.arb-silva.de/aligner/) tool of SILVA online database. Each numbered vertical bar of the plot represents an *M. hapla* population in the field or the greenhouse..... 104

Figure 6.4 | Stacked bar plots showing the relative abundance of bacterial functional groups associated with field (A) and greenhouse (B) *M. hapla* populations originating from different soil groups (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: Deg-Degraded [red], Dist-Disturbed [yellow]). Greenhouse samples were isolated from

Figure 7.1 | A graphical abstract illustrating my project goal (grey box), the different soil conditions of sandy to muck soil, cropping systems, and the variable soil health conditions *M*. *hapla* PV exists, the sandy soil *M*. *hapla* populations with a higher parasitism than muck populations, research questions, and strategy (blue boxes and arrows), observational and experimental objectives (red boxes), key findings (yellow boxes), and conclusions (orange boxes) and how the findings (green box and arrows) collectively lead to understanding the potential biophysicochemical basis of PV and designing soil health management strategies.

Figure 7.3 | Redundancy analysis ordinations showing 9 *M. hapla* populations [(A) mineral = 13, 8, 2, and (B) muck 4, 5, 6, 10, 14, 15)] relative to physicochemical parameters (blue arrow: NH_4^+ , NH_3^- , pH, soil organic matter - som, sand, silt, and clay) and the abundance (red arrow) of the bacterial phyla of isolated field *M. hapla* nematodes and *M. hapla* parasitic variability parameters of *M. hapla* (J2, J3.J4, adult, total, percent infectivity, galling). The ending of each bacterial and fungal label for bulk soil (_BS), isolated field *M. hapla* (_FMH), and isolated greenhouse *M. hapla* (_GMH) is used to identify the source of the microbe. ...133

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS

Quadrant A	disturbed conditions			
ACT	alignment, classification, tree service			
ANOVA	analysis of variance			
b	basal			
Quadrant B	maturing conditions			
BS	bulk soil			
CABI	Center for Agriculture and Bioscience International			
CONSTAX	consensus taxonomy			
с-р	colonizer-persister			
CCA	canonical correspondence analysis			
DCA	detrended correspondence analysis			
Quadrant D	degraded conditions			
DD	degree day			
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid			
rDNA	ribosomal deoxyribonucleic acid			
e	enrichment			
EI	enrichment index			
F	forward primer			
FD	Fields			
FDR	false discovery rate			
FMH	field Meloidogyne hapla			
FV	fungivore			
GMH	greenhouse Meloidogyne hapla			
GPS	global positioning system			
hr	hour			

HV	herbivore		
IN	inoculum		
ITS	internal transcribed spacer		
J2	second stage juvenile		
J3	third stage juvenile		
J4	fourth stage juvenile		
k	weight of nematode guild		
LU	land use		
MH	Meloidogyne hapla population		
Mh+	Meloidogyne hapla presence		
Mh-	Meloidogyne hapla absence		
Mi	mineral		
MSU	Michigan State University		
Mu	muck		
Ν	relative frequency of each functional guild		
NCBI SRA	national center for biotechnology information sequence read archive		
NE	Nebraska		
N-P-K	Nitrogen-Phosphorus-Potassium		
NRKN	northern root knot nematode		
OM	organic matter		
OTU	sub-operational taxonomic sequence		
OV	omnivore		
PCA	principal component analysis		
PC	principal component		
PCoA	principal coordinate analysis		
PCR	polymerase chain reasction		
PERMANOVA	permutational multi variate analysis of variance		

PNA	peptide nucleotide acid			
Рор	Population			
PR	predator			
PPN	plant parasitic nematode			
PV	parasitic variability			
q2	qiime2			
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction			
RG	region			
R	reverse primer			
RWA	Russian wheat aphid			
S	structure			
SFL	sum of free living			
SFL25	sum of free living from cp 2 to 5			
SFW	soil food web			
SG	soil group			
SI	structure index			
ST	soils			
SU	suitable host			
SUM	sum of all trophic groups			
SYBR	Synergy Brands			
TAF	triethanolamine formalin			
US	unsuitable host			

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Meloidogyne hapla distribution and significance of its parasitic variability (PV) in Michigan

The northern root-knot nematode (NRKN, *Meloidogyne hapla* Chitwood, 1949) is one of the most widely distributed plant-parasitic nematodes (PPN) across all continents, but Antarctica (CABI, 2002; Hunt and Handoo, 2010). Globally, *M. hapla* has broad range of dicotyledonous plants and weed hosts (Widmer et al., 1999). In Michigan and the United States Mid-West, *M. hapla* has particular economic significance in vegetable crops (Grabau et al., 2017; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2012; Melakeberhan et al., 2012; Melakeberhan et al., 2007). *Meloidogyne hapla* symptoms include galling, stunting, chlorosis, and wilting in all susceptible crops, and forking in carrots, leading to lower quantity and quality of crop yield (Anon, 2005; Mitkowski and Abawi, 2003). Crop losses associated with *M. hapla* infestation could be as high as 70% (Widmer et al., 1999).

In addition to its broad distribution and host range, there are four major challenges why *M. hapla* continues to be a problem and managing it is difficult. The first challenge is that there are no commercially available resistant crops (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013), broad-spectrum nematicides like methyl bromide, dazomet, aldicarb, oxamyl and carbofuran are restricted because of human and environmental health reasons (Barry et al., 2012; Budnik et al., 2012; Desaeger et al., 2017; Oka, 2020; van der Putten et al., 2006; Xue et al., 2000), and its broad host range minimizes the benefits of crop rotation.

The second challenge is that *M. hapla* is one of the root-knot nematodes with PV where *M. hapla* populations have similar morphology and genetics (Liu and Williamson, 2006; Opperman et al., 2008), but reproduce at different rates and have different

pathogenicity on the same crop variety grown under standard growth conditions (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013). The two main indicators of PV are the nematode's reproductive potential and galling. Reproductive potential as an indicator of PV, refers to the total numbers of nematodes recovered after a predetermined period following inoculation. For example, PV has been demonstrated on *M. incognita* in cotton (Kirkpatrick and Sasser, 1983) and pepper (Bucki et al., 2017), and *M. paranaensis* in coffee (Santos et al., 2018). In Michigan and elsewhere, *M. hapla* PV has been demonstrated in many crops including celery, carrot, potato, and tomato (Liu and Williamson, 2006; Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013; Murata and Uesugi, 2021; Stephan and Trudgill, 1982). While we know about *M. hapla* PV on several crops, the contributory or related soil factors are poorly understood. Managing nematodes without broad-spectrum options is hard, however the presence of PV makes it more difficult.

The third challenge for successful management is the complexity and variation of the production landscape and the connections between *M. hapla* PV and soil groups. For example, major vegetable production in the lower peninsula of Michigan alone spans twenty-eight (28) counties (**Figure 1.1**). The soils in these regions range from mineralized sandy to clay texture, low (mineral) to high (muck) organic matter, and 5.5 to 7.0 pH (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan et al., 2010; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2012). Most of these vegetable production soils are under conventional tillage and receive agricultural inputs (chemical pesticides and fertilizers) multiple times per growing season to support large-scale monoculture (Castillo et al., 2017; Tsiafouli et al., 2015), and the presence of *M. hapla* PV in the western and southwestern vegetable production regions of Michigan is well documented (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2012). Furthermore, *M. hapla* populations from mineral soils showed more parasitism than the populations from muck soils (Melakeberhan et al., 2010; Norton, 1978), but the underlying mechanisms are unknown

(Melakeberhan et al., 2007). A considerable amount of studies on *M. hapla* biology (Vestergård, 2019) and its host suitability (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2012) so far suggest that the soils may have some influence on *M. hapla* PV.





(http://www.michiganvegetablecouncil.org/industry-facts--stats.html).

The fourth challenge is the knowledge gaps on the relationship between *M. hapla* PV and the soil biophysicochemical changes that production practices generate in the highly variable soil types. Studies previously conducted on tillage and its effect on nematodes

produced mixed results. Some research findings showed tillage to be of less importance on nematode population dynamics (Grabau and Chen, 2016; Hu et al., 2017; Schmidt et al., 2017; Shuang et al., 2016), while other research had contrasting findings on nematode population dynamics after tillage or no-tillage practices (Grabau and Chen, 2016). It is, however, worth noting that tillage affects soil organic matter content (Ito et al., 2015) and nutrient cycling and water retention capacity (Robertson et al., 2014; Swinton et al., 2007). Regardless of the soils present in agricultural fields, all these interventions ultimately alter the soil health conditions in the soils where *M. hapla* exists (Tahat et al., 2020; Workie, 2017). Soil health is defined as the capacity of a soil to function as a medium that sufficiently provides the needed ecosystem services (Bennett et al., 2010; Lal, 2016; Robertson et al., 2014) and has the biological, physical and chemical components that need to be kept in balance at all times (Lal, 2011). Unfortunately, there is no information on the relationship between soil health conditions and *M. hapla* occurrence, much less its PV. Thus, understanding the soil health conditions of the fields where M. hapla occurs is central to developing a fundamental knowledge towards determining the mechanisms of its PV and designing potential management strategies. In this regard, changes in beneficial nematodes population dynamics could be a good indicator of soil health conditions (Ferris et al., 2001).

Role of beneficial nematodes as bioindicators of soil health conditions.

Understanding PV in *M. hapla* populations could be best achieved by considering soil health conditions and the role of the soil food web (SFW). The SFW is central to regulating the processes that drive the belowground biophysicochemical changes that are critical to soil health (Doran and Zeiss, 2000; Sánchez-Moreno, 2018) and nematodes are major players in nutrient cycling (DuPont et al., 2009; Melakeberhan et al., 2021a; Yeates, 2003). In addition, nematodes are excellent bioindicators of soil ecosystem changes because they are ubiquitous

and have a wide range of resistance to disturbance (Bongers, 1990; Desgarennes et al., 2018; Ferris et al., 2001). In order to measure ecosystem changes, it is essential to summarize the complexity of the various taxa into an index or value (Yeates and Bongers, 1999). The key to creating these indices is the classification of nematodes into functional guilds. When nematodes are classified into colonizer-persister groups (c-p) based on their life history and reproductive potential, each nematode functional guild is assigned a cp score between 1 to 5.

Based on the classification of the c-p groups, the soil health condition is illustrated using the Ferris et al., (2001) soil food web (SFW) model (**Figure 1.2**). The SFW model uses the relationship between changes in nematode population dynamics in response to resource and reproductive potential (Enrichment Index, EI) and resistance to disturbance (Structure Index, SI). The relationship between EI (x-axis) and SI (y-axis) categorizes soil conditions in terms of nutrient cycling potential and agroecosystem suitability in four quadrants from best to worst case scenarios (**Figure 1.2**). These are: enriched and unstructured (Quadrant A, disturbed), enriched and structured (Quadrant B, best case scenario), resource limited and structured (Quadrant C), or resource-limited and minimal structure (Quadrant D, degraded, worst case). Quadrants B are bacterial feeding nematode dominated and Quadrant D is biologically depleted and nutritionally degraded.



Structure index (%)

Figure 1.2 | Simplified soil food web model using nematode bioindicators to estimate food and reproduction (Enrichment Index (EI), vertical-axis) and resistance to disturbance (Structure Index (SI), horizontal-axis). Soil health conditions from the best-(Quadrant B) to worst- (Quadrant D) case-scenarios for nutrient cycling and agroecosystem sustainability (Ferris et al., 2001). Quadrant A has high EI and low SI indices indicating an nitrogen (N)-enriched (boom and bust manner) soil with low C:N ratio and dominated by bacterial feeding nematodes with fast reproduction and resistance to disturbance. Quadrant B has high EI and SI indices showing an N-enriched (stable and steady) soil with low C:N ratio and dominated by slow reproducing and disturbance sensitive nematodes. Quadrant C has a low EI and high SI indices indicating a moderately available N, with moderate C:N ratio dominated mostly by slow reproducing and disturbance sensitive fungal-feeding nematodes. Quadrant D has low EI and SI showing an N-depleted soil which is dominated by fast reproducing disturbance tolerant fungal feeding nematodes.

Meloidogyne hapla biology and soil microbiome associations

Whether the soil health is balanced or out-of-balance, soils are a dynamic environment and it is reasonable to assume that *M. hapla* and other organisms that exist therein have to adapt to those conditions (McSorley, 2003; Melakeberhan et al., 2004). In this context, considering

the biology of *M. hapla* is instructive (**Figure 1.3**; (Weerasinghe et al., 2003). The life cycle of *M. hapla* starts with an egg laid within an egg-mass that may be fully or partially embedded in a plant host root. The first molt occurs in the egg and the 2nd stage juvenile hatches, migrates through the soil to infect roots with its stylet, establishes a feeding site, and becomes sedentary. The 3rd and 4th stage juveniles and adults are sedentary. As the 2nd stage juvenile migrates through the soil and probes roots with its stylet, it interacts with a myriad of microbes (Davies, 2005; Topalović et al., 2019). The associations range from fungal spores and an assortment of bacteria attaching to and parasitizing *M. hapla* cuticle (Elhady et al., 2017; Viaene and Abawi, 1998) to mortality by *Pasteuria* spp. (Davies and Williamson, 2006), and diminishing (Topalović et al., 2019) or enhancing *M. hapla*'s ability to infect hostplant (Topalović et al., 2022).



Figure 1.3 | An illustration of the life cycle of a root-knot nematode starting from the egg through the adult stage (Weerasinghe et al., 2003).

While there is little information on *M. hapla* PV and inhibitory, beneficial and/or mutual interactions with soil microbiome, it is worth looking at other organisms that have

stylets and with similar functions as that of *M. hapla*. For example, the Russian wheat aphid (RWA, Diuraphis noxia) uses a stylet to deliver salivary proteome, known as effectors, to suppress plant host defense responses (Miles, 1999; Mugford et al., 2016). Recent study by Luna et al., (2018) found that symbiotic bacteria (Acinetobacter spp., Erwinia spp., Arthrobacter spp., Pantoea spp., and Enterobacter spp.) isolated from the RWA enhanced virulence (wheat leaf chlorosis or necrosis) while the absence resulted in diminished virulence. In instances where only the bacteria were inoculated on the leaves, even at high doses, there were no leaf chlorosis or necrosis. Thus, showing the association with microbes enhanced virulence. On another hand, the entomopathogenic fungi like Beauveria bassiana, Verticillium lecanii, Conidiobolus obscurus, Pandora neoaphidis, P. radicans and Neozygites fresenii have been identified as lethal to the RWA (Feng et al., 1990; Ward et al., 2020). Whether or not *M. hapla* PV has or does not have any unidentified associations with soil microbiome that it may pick up during the migration through the soil to find the roots is yet to be determined. However, this will require a broad approach to quantifying biophysicochemical conditions in the soils where *M. hapla* exists. The biophysicochemocal conditions will be comprised of the microbial community, nematode trophic groups, sand, silt clay, pH, organic matter, nitrate and ammonium.

The project goal, objectives, and hypotheses

The broad occurrence of *M. hapla* in the Michigan vegetable production landscape and presence of more parasitism in populations isolated from mineral than from muck soils raises a question. i.e., Is this because *M. hapla* is adapted to broad soil conditions and/or are there specific conditions that favor or do not favor PV? This overarching question is best answered by understanding the soil conditions (**Figure 1.4**). Therefore, the goal of this project was to investigate the soil biophysicochemical conditions associated with *M. hapla* PV.



Figure 1.4 | A graphical abstract illustrating my project goal, the different soil conditions of sandy to muck soil, cropping systems, and the variable soil health conditions *M. hapla* PV exists, the sandy soil *M. hapla* populations with a higher parasitism than muck populations, research questions, observational and experimental objectives, and how their synthesis lays the basis for potential biophysicochemical associations with PV.

In order to address the goal, experimental and observational approaches were used to test four objectives (**Figure 1.4**). These were to establish *M. hapla*: 1) occurrence relative to soil type and health, 2) populations' PV, 3) association with soil microbiome, and 4) microbiome associated with populations' PV (**Figure 1.4**).

The first objective (Chapter 3) was to test the hypotheses that *M. hapla* populations in mineral and muck soils were a) present in degraded (Quadrant D, worst-case) soil health conditions, and b) associated with low trophic group abundance. The second objective (Chapter 4) was to test the hypothesis that PV in *M. hapla* populations is related to specific SFW conditions. If true, *M. hapla* populations from degraded and disturbed SFW conditions should exhibit distinct reproductive potential in both soil groups. The third objective (Chapter 5) was to test the hypotheses that a) the soil microbiome differed significantly between soil

groups and soil health conditions, b) the core-microbial members were present in the *M*. *hapla* infested and non-infested fields, and c) there were microbial indicators associated with *M. hapla* occurrence or SFW conditions. The fourth objective (Chapter 6) was to test the hypothesis that either presence and/or absence of specific bacterial composition and functional groups were associated with *M. hapla* PV. The synthesis objective (Chapter 7) would make connections across the four objectives in **Figure 1.4**, with the hope of identifying the basis of *M. hapla* PV and to design future management strategies in Michigan agriculture.

CHAPTER 2

GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study sites and sampling design

Michigan vegetables are produced in mineral and muck soils and *M. hapla* is present in the major vegetable production areas of the lower peninsula of Michigan (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013; Figure 2.1 A). Using the sampling design in Figure 2.1 B, and a soil sampling datasheet to gather field information (Appendix B), a total of 15 geo-referenced vegetable fields representing muck and mineral soil groups in the east, southwest and northwest regions were selected for sampling in June 2018 (Table 2.1). With the variable distribution of mineral and muck agricultural sites across the east, southwest and the northwest regions, the number of representative fields were not the same per region and soil group. Three each of muck and mineral soils were in the east, three mineral and one muck in the southwest, and two muck and three mineral soils in the northwest regions. The between field distances in the eastern region was 1 km for the two closest fields, a maximum of 25 km for the furthest and an average of 10 km for all fields. In the southwestern region, the distance between the two fields was 3 km, the furthest apart was 71 km and a 37 km average for all fields. The northwestern region's closest fields were 3 km apart (Fields 14 and 15), the furthest being 85 km apart and an average distance of 47 km between all fields. In addition, a natural vegetation adjacent to each field was marked as an indicator of changes in soil health conditions between agricultural (disturbed) and undisturbed soils. This is important in developing soil health adjustment strategies should there be any relationship between *M. hapla* presence or absence and soil health conditions.

Table 2.1 | Field GPS coordinates (latitude and longitude) of 15 agricultural fields sampled from Michigan by regions (east, southwest and northwest) and soil groups (mineral and muck).

Region	Soil group	Field	Latitude	Longitude
East	Mineral	1	43.068871°	-83.341871°
		2	43.092822°	-83.053522°
		3	43.071761°	-83.032147°
		4	43.065446°	-83.067139°
	Muck	5	43.050561°	-83.068175°
		6	43.094628°	-83.064396°
Southwest		7	42.664865°	-86.047077°
	Mineral	8	42.108973°	-86.368160°
		9	42.083001°	-86.367671°
	Muck	10	42.660808°	-85.996822°
Northwest		11	43.840772°	-86.348123°
	Mineral	12	43.826522°	-86.378970°
		13	43.764887°	-86.137222°
	M1-	14	43.351260°	-85.726828°
	MUCK	15	43.197608°	-85.782483°

Soil sampling and partitioning

In each of the selected vegetable fields and adjacent natural vegetation, five separate spots each with approximately 25 m² area were flagged for sampling. In all cases, one georeferenced flag was randomly marked about 30 cm from the crop row or the natural vegetation. Approximately 1 L of a composite of ten random cores of soil from around each flag was collected using a custom-made steel cone with a diameter of 2.5 cm and a depth of 15 cm (Melakeberhan et al., 2018). After thoroughly mixing each of the five composite cores for every field, ~100 cm³ of soil was used for total nematode community extraction to ascertain soil health conditions, 300 cm³ of soil was used to screen for *M. hapla* presence, 50 cm³ for chemical, 50 cm³ for organic matter, 200 cm³ for soil texture and 10 cm³ for microbiome analyses (**Figure 2.1 C**). Approximately 300 cm³ of the remaining soil of each sample per field was designated as voucher specimen (**Figure 2.1 C5**) and assigned unique field codes as shown in **Appendix C**. All samples were kept at 4 °C, but the microbiome soil samples were kept at -80 °C.



Figure 2.1 | Diagram of the three regions (east, southwestern and northwestern) in Michigan (A), the sampling design used (B), and how field soil was partitioned into five parts (C) to: determine soil health conditions (1), screen for *M. hapla* presence (2), perform microbiome analysis (3), conduct physicochemical analysis (4) and serve as soil voucher. In the sampling design, regions of the sampling sites had mineral and muck soils groups showing the numbers of sampled agricultural (disturbed) and natural vegetation (undisturbed) sites represented by square and triangle, respectively. A volume of 100 cm³ of soil was used ascertain soil health conditions, 300 cm³ of soil was used to screen for *M. hapla* presence, 300 cm³ of soil was used for physicochemical analysis (50 cm³ for chemical, 50 cm³ for organic matter, 200 cm3 for soil texture), 10 cm³ for microbiome analysis and 300 cm³ as voucher specimen. Voucher soils are accessible in the Agricultural Nematology Laboratory of the MSU Department of Horticulture and each field was assigned unique field codes as shown in Appendix C.

Nematode extraction, fixing and enumeration

As illustrated in **Figure 2.1 C2**, vermiform nematodes were extracted from a 100 cm³ volume of sub-sample of homogenized soil using a semi-automatic elutriator system as described in Avendaño et al., (2004) and Melakeberhan et al., (2018) and fixed in double TAF solution (14 ml 40% formalin: 4 ml tri- ethanolamine: 91 ml distilled water) (Hooper, 1986).

The total numbers of nematodes in each sub-sample were counted, and 100 individual nematodes were identified to genus level at 400× magnification using an inverted digital microscope (Accu-scope®) following identification keys of Bongers, (1994) and the University of Nebraska (Lincoln, NE, USA) nematode identification website (https://nematode.unl.edu/index.html). Nematodes were assigned to trophic groups of herbivore (HV), fungivore (FV), bacterivore (BV), omnivore (OV) and predator (PR) (Yeates et al., 1993; Okada and Kadota, 2003) and colonizer-persister groups (cp 1 resistant to disturbance and cp 5 sensitive to disturbance) (Bongers, 1990; Bongers et al., 1995). The total numbers of each genus in a sample were adjusted as described in Freckman and Ettema, (1993) and abundance of HV, BV, FV, OV and PR, all trophic groups (SUM), freeliving nematodes (SFL), SFL of cp 2-cp 5 (SFL25), and trophic groups of cp 2-cp 5 (S25) expressed on a per 100 cm³ basis.

Nematode community analysis for determining soil health conditions

The soil food web model utilizes nematode community dynamics in response to resource and reproductive potential and resistance to disturbance to establish soil health conditions. Weighted abundances of nematode guilds were processed to fit the enrichment and structure based on Ferris et al (2001) model as follows: structure ($s = \Sigma ks ns$), enrichment ($e = \Sigma ke ne$) and basal ($b = \Sigma kb nb$) conditions, with *k* representing specific weight of nematode guild and

n being the relative frequency of each functional guild for further calculations using formulae: structure index = 100(s/(s + b)) and enrichment index = 100(e/(e + b)). The soil health condition of each field was as either: disturbed (A), maturing (B), structured (C) or degraded (D).

Screening soils for Meloidogyne hapla presence

Screening for the presence of *M. hapla* was done using tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) 'Rutgers' (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; **Figure 2.1 C2**). Seedlings were mass-germinated in sterile soil in a glasshouse set at a diurnal cycle of $28 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C, 16 hr of light and $21 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C, 8 hr dark. Three 2-week-old seedlings were transplanted into a 300 cm³ of each of the 135 soil sample potted in white styrofoam containers and maintained for 60 days under the same glasshouse conditions as the seedling germination. Plants were watered to saturation as needed and fertilized twice weekly with Scotts' Professional 20-20-20 (N-P-K) commercial mix (Scotts-Sierra Horticultural Products) (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013). After 60 days, roots were washed free of soils and scored for presence or absence of *M. hapla* infection on a 0-5 modified index of Bridge and Page, (1980) where: 0 = no galls, 1 = few small galls, 3 = 50% of roots infested, main roots with galls, 4 = all main roots galled, few clean roots visible, and 5 = all roots severely galled, plant dying or dead. All samples were categorized as *M. hapla* positive and those without galling as negative. Sites with at least one of the five soil subsamples testing positive for *M. hapla* were categorized as infested/positive sites.

Culturing Meloidogyne hapla populations

Among the sites testing positive for *M. hapla* (9 of the 15 agricultural fields), cultures of each of the 9 *M. hapla* positive populations were established from a single egg mass (Melakeberhan et al., 2007). Briefly, an individual egg mass from each of the positive populations was randomly selected and carefully removed with a clean tweezer from roots of the original culture and placed on a pencil-size hole of a two-week-old tomato (*Solanum lycopersicon*) cv. 'Rutgers' seedling contained in 500 cm³ volume clay pots and allowed to multiply. Tomato seedlings were mass geminated and transplanted into steam-sterilized soil (a mix of topsoil, sphagnum peat, and sand supplied by Michigan State University Plant Science Greenhouses) two weeks after germination. Cultures were maintained in a greenhouse set to have a 28 ± 3 °C, 16-hour day, and 21 ± 3 °C, 8-hour dark diurnal cycle. The plants were watered daily as needed and fertilized twice every week with Scotts' Professional 20-20-20 (N-P-K) commercial mix. The 9 *M. hapla* cultures were allowed to build over several months in preparation for *M. hapla* egg extraction needed to characterize PV in Chapter 4.

Soil microbiome DNA extraction, library preparation, sequencing, and enumeration

As outlined in **Figure 2.2**, soil microbiome DNA was extracted from 2 g sub-sample of soil using the PowerSoil® DNA isolation kit (Qiagen, United States). All extractions included samples containing no sample (negative controls) and were stored at -80 °C (Longley et al., 2020).

Illumina MiSeq amplicon libraries targeting bacterial 16S rDNA with the primers 515F and 806R and fungal ITS rDNA with the primers ITS1f and ITS2 were constructed (White et al., 1990; Gardes and Bruns, 1993; Caporaso et al., 2011; Kozich et al., 2013). Libraries were prepared using Accuprime Pfx Super Mix. The polymerase chain reaction
(PCR cycles used for 16S and ITS are shown in **Appendix D** and in **Appendix E**, respectively. PCR products were normalized with the SequalPrep Normalization Plate Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States) and the final concentration of the library was determined using a SYBR green quantitative PCR (qPCR) assay with primers specific to the Illumina adapters (Kappa). Following normalization, samples were combined into one pool and concentrated with Amicon Ultra 0.5 mL 50K filters (EMD Millipore, Germany). Libraries were then cleaned with Agencourt AMPure XP magnetic beads to remove small fragments and primer dimers (Beckman Coulter, United States). Libraries were sequenced at the MSU Genomics Core with the Illumina MiSeq v2 500 cycles kit. Sequence data generated in this study have been deposited into the NCBI SRA archive under the following accession number: PRJNA833458.

Bioinformatic analyses of 16S and ITS sequences were both performed using Qiime 2 version 2019.1 (Bolyen et al., 2019). First, sequences were analyzed for initial quality using FastQC. Due to lower quality of the reverse reads, only forward reads were analyzed further for ITS sequence while both forward and reverse reads were used for 16S sequences. The "join-pairs" method of the q2-vsearch plug-in was used to join the 16S sequence pairs. Afterward, both 16S and ITS library statistics were analyzed for quality distributions using the q2-quality-filter plugin. Additionally, error modeling, de-replication and denoising of sequences were performed with the default values of the q2-deblur plugin. The primers were trimmed and the read lengths for 16S and ITS truncated to 220 and 200 nucleotides, respectively. The taxonomies of 16S and ITS representative sequences were assigned using Greengenes 13.9, and CONSTAX2 (Gdanetz et al., 2017; Liber et al., 2021) against the UNITE database version 04.02.2020 (Abarenkov et al., 2020), respectively. All the analyses performed are accessible on github (https://github.com/larteyis/Scientific-Papers-R-Code/tree/main/Lartey et al 2021 Field M.hapla Associated Microbiome).



Figure 2.2 | Diagram of major steps followed for DNA extraction (A), library preparation (B), sequencing (C) and bioinformatic analysis (D) as part of the field soil microbiome analysis. DNA extraction was performed using the using the PowerSoil® DNA isolation kit with 2 g soil to prepare sample for cell lysis, removal of inhibitors, binding of DNA, washing and elution steps. The library preparation stage mixed DNA, primers (16S to target bacteria and ITS to target fungi), nucleotides, taq polymerase and buffer in a PCR tube, and placed the mixture in a thermocycler. The thermocycler repeated denaturing, annealing and extension steps to target bacteria and fungi. Sequencing procedure was done using the 250bp chemistry in a Miseq to clone copies of the bacterial and fungal DNA. Bioinformatic analysis was performed using the Qiime2 pipeline and statistical analysis was done in R (Bolyen et al., 2019; R Core Team, 2020).

Nematode microbiome DNA extraction, library preparation, sequencing, and enumeration

As illustrated in **Figure 2.3**, both field and greenhouse populations were extracted from a sub-sample of 100 cm^3 of soil with a semi-automatic elutriator using the method described by Avendaño et al., (2004) and Melakeberhan et al., (2018). Briefly, a 1:1:3 ratio of soil,

dish soap (non-phosphate) and tap-water was run through a semi-automatic elutriator, passed through sieves (850 μ m, 250 μ m and 20 μ m, respectively), centrifuged (4000rpm in 456 sugar/L tap-water), carefully rinsed and collected in distilled water for storage (4 °C). For each of the field and greenhouse *M. hapla* populations, five second-stage juveniles were used. The *M. hapla* nematodes were picked with a clean needle (Genesse scientific, model 59-AWP-B) under a stereo microscope (Zeiss, model AX10) and dropped into a 30 μ l worm lysis mixture (950 μ l worm lysis solution (**Appendix F**) + 50 μ l Proteinase K). In the next step, which was repeated five times, the nematode in the worm lysis mixture was frozen at -80 °C for 10 minutes and thawed at 25 °C. This was followed with an incubation step at 60 °C for 60 min and 95 °C for 15 min in a thermocycler. The final product was stored at -80 °C.

Illumina MiSeq amplicon libraries were constructed with the 515F and 806R primers to target the V4 region of the 16S bacterial rDNA. Libraries were prepared following a three step PCR protocol (Benucci et al., 2018; Caporaso et al., 2011) shown in **Appendix E.** First, unmodified primers were first used to enrich the target taxa. In the next step, frame shift incorporating primers were used (Chen et al., 2018; Lundberg et al., 2013). Third, a 10nucleotide indexing set of barcodes and Illumina adapters were incorporated following the approaches used by Chen et al., (2018) and Lundberg et al., (2013). In order to minimize the amplification of mitochondria and chloroplast, PNA blocking clamps were used (Longley et al., 2020). The PCR products were run on a gel to confirm amplification. Following that, the concentrations of the PCR products were normalized (1-2 ng/µl) using the SequalPrep Normalization Plate Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, United States). After the normalization step, the normalized samples were pooled and concentrated using Amicon Ultra 0.5 mL 50K filters (EMD Millipore, Germany). The pooled libraries were cleaned with Agencourt AMPure XP magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter, United States) to remove primer dimers and small fragments. The cleaned libraries created were submitted to the Michigan State University Genomics Core to be sequenced with an Illumina Miseq V3 600 cycles kit. Sequenced samples were demultiplexed using the Sabre software (Joshi, 2011). These sequences are available in the Sequence Read Archive (SRA) of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), BioProject PRJNA854890.

The bioinformatic analyses of 16S sequences were performed in Qiime 2 version 2019.1 (Bolyen et al., 2019). First, sequences were analyzed for initial quality using FastQC. After the initial quality testing, only the forward reads were considered for further analysis. Afterward, the 16S library statistics were analyzed for quality distributions using the q2-quality-filter plugin. Using the default values of q2-deblur plugin, error modeling, de-replication and denoising were performed. Additionally, primers were trimmed off and the sequence length truncated to at 200 nucleotides. The representative 16S sequences were assigned taxonomy using the ACT (alignment, classification, tree service; https://www.arb-silva.de/aligner/) tool of SILVA online database (Pruesse et al., 2012). In addition to the default settings used, the "minimum identity with query sequence" and the "reject sequences below identity" options were set to be 0.6 and 50%, respectively. All classification of sequences were based on the SILVA (Quast et al., 2013) database. All the analyses performed are accessible on github (https://github.com/larteyis/PAPER-Bacterial-composition-diversity-and-functional-groups-associated-with-Meloidogyne-hapla-popul).



Figure 2.3 | Diagram of major steps followed for nematode isolation (A) and library preparation, sequencing and data analysis (B) procedures. Nematode isolation procedure involved 9 *M. hapla* populations sampled directly from infested field soil and the same populations from the field multiplied in the greenhouse over several generations. *Meloidogyne hapla* nematodes were extracted using a semi-automatic elutriator and identified using a microscope. For each population, 5 individual *M. hapla* nematodes were processed separately in a worm lysis buffer to extract DNA and a PCR library preparation was prepared to target bacteria 16S rDNA. The library was sequenced using a Miseq platform, demultiplexed, assigned taxonomy and bioinformatic analysis performed.

Analysis of soil physicochemical properties of field soils

All soil samples were taken to the Michigan State University Soil Testing Laboratory for analysis. A total of three samples were used for chemical analysis, whereas three samples were combined for soil texture or organic matter analysis. Before chemical analysis, the samples were forced air dried in an oven at 35 °C for 36hrs and was ground in a flail grinder. Subsequently, the ground sample was passed through a 2 mm mesh screen. The chemical analysis performed measured the available nitrate (NO₃⁻), ammonium (NH₄⁺) and pH (Huffman and Barbarick, 1981; Melakeberhan, 1999; Nelson, 1983). The percent organic matter (OM%) content of samples was determined using the loss-on-ignition method (Heiri et al., 2001). For soil texture, the percentages of sand, silt, and clay were estimated following the particle size analysis (Bouyoucos, 1951).

Soil biophysicochemical data analysis of *M. hapla* infested field soils

Two sets of analyses were performed. First, a principal component analysis (PCA) in PAST v4.0 software to assess the physicochemical relationships of the fields from which *M. hapla* populations came from (Hammer et al., 2001). The composite relationships were assessed for NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺, pH, OM%, percent sand, silt, and clay across soil groups (mineral and muck) and soil health conditions (degraded and disturbed). Prior to generating the PCA with variance-covariance matrix, the values of dependent variables were standardized using the formula $z = (x-\mu/\sigma)$, where z was the standardized value, x was the observed value, μ . Variation was explained by principal component (PC) 1 on the x-axis and PC2 on the y-axis. Afterwards, several linear regression analyses were performed to assess the relationship between physicochemical parameters (NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺, pH, OM%, percent of sand, silt and clay) and parasitic variability (total number of nematodes in roots) using packages ggpubr and ggplot2 (Wickham, 2016) packages in R-studio (R Core Team, 2020).

Second, three separate redundancy analysis (RDA) were performed to assess the relationships of *M. hapla* populations with a) all soil bio-physicochemical parameters (ie trophic abundance (herbivore (HV), bacterivore (BV), fungivore (FV), predator (PR) and omnivore (OV) nematodes, sum of all trophic groups (SUM), sum of free-living nematodes (SFL), sum of free-living nematodes from cp 2-cp 5 (SFL25) and sum of cp 2-cp 5 nematodes (S25)), structure index (SI) and enrichment index (EI), physicochemistry (NO_{3⁻}, NH4⁺, pH, OM, sand, silt and clay), bulk soil microbiome (bacterial and fungal genera abundance) and

isolated *M. hapla* field and greenhouse bacterial genera abundance, and parasitic variability (Gall, 2nd stage juvenile (J2), 3rd and 4th stage juveniles (J3/J4), adult, total, total (% infection)) at two inoculum levels (2000 and 4000 *M. hapla* eggs), b) bio-physicochemical parameters without EI, SI and nematode trophic group abundance and c) isolated field and greenhouse *M. hapla* microbial genera abundance, and parasitic variability. The decision to run an RDA over a CCA (canonical correspondence analysis) or PCA (principal component analysis) was determined by running a detrended correspondence analysis (DCA) to test assumptions that i) the eigen values were less than 50%, and ii) axis length was less than 3.5. The DCA was performed using the vegan package in R statistics (Dixon, 2003; R Core Team, 2020). Data of physicochemistry were transformed using logarithmic transformations, while all other variables were transformed using Hellinger, where needed. All relationships were plotted using the ggplot2 and ggrepel packages (Wickham, 2016).

CHAPTER 3

OCCURRENCE OF *MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA* RELATIVE TO NEMATODE ABUNDANCE AND SOIL FOOD WEB STRUCTURE IN SOIL GROUPS OF SELECTED MICHIGAN VEGETABLE PRODUCTION FIELD.

This chapter with the full reference below is re-used in this dissertation in accordance with the rights granted by the publisher (Brill) to the first author (https://brill.com/page/rightsfreeofcharge). Data was originally published using the Nematology journal style and has been reformatted for this chapter.

Lartey, I., Kravchenko, A., Marsh, T., and Melakeberhan, H. (2021). Occurrence of *Meloidogyne hapla* relative to nematode abundance and soil food web structure in soil groups of selected Michigan vegetable production fields. Nematology, 23(9), 1011-1022.

© Koninklijke Brill NV, Leiden, 2021

Abstract

Despite considerable knowledge of distribution, biology and parasitic variability (PV) of *Meloidogyne hapla* in cropping systems, how its PV relates to soil health conditions remains unknown. This study investigated the relationship between the presence or absence of *M. hapla* with soil food web and the abundance of nematode community in muck (high organic matter) and mineral soils of 15 agricultural fields and adjacent natural vegetation across three vegetable production regions of Michigan, USA. *Meloidogyne hapla* was present in all regions and all muck soils, but only in some mineral soils. It was present in soils with degraded and disturbed soil food web conditions, but there was no pattern with nematode trophic group abundance. However, principal component analysis showed distinct relationships among *M. hapla* presence or absence, soils, nematode abundance parameters in agricultural and natural vegetation. The study lays down a foundation for more targeted investigations to understand any links between the PV of *M. hapla* and its soil environment.

Introduction

In the absence of broad spectrum nematicides and commercially available resistant cultivars, *Meloidogyne hapla* Chitwood (1949) continues to be a problematic nematode in many cropping systems globally (Kimpinski and Sanderson, 2004; Vestergård, 2019). It is particularly serious in temperate vegetable production systems where crop rotation has little value in controlling *M. hapla* because many of the crops are hosts (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2012; Melakeberhan et al., 2012; Grabau et al., 2017), and intensive agricultural and land use practices have resulted in degradation of soil health (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Desaeger et al., 2017).

In addition to its broad distribution, *M. hapla* has parasitic variability (PV) where populations exhibit no detectable morphological or genetic differences (Liu and Williamson, 2006; Opperman et al., 2008) but infect and reproduce at different rates (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013). Extensive studies in the biology (Vestergård, 2019) and host suitability (Melakeberhan et al., 2012) suggest that soil conditions may be contributing to *M. hapla* PV (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013). For example, the incidence of parasitism was higher in mineral soils than in muck (high organic matter) soils (Melakeberhan et al., 2010). However, the exact mechanisms explaining these observations remain unknown.

Developing an integrated knowledge on how the environment where *M. hapla* thrives may influence its PV is critical to developing suitable management strategies; for example, soil types, production systems and practices, and soil health degradations, all of which, collectively, alter the biophysiochemical conditions in the soil (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Gomiero et al., 2011; Lal, 2011; Chaparro et al., 2012; Turmel et al., 2015). In order for *M. hapla* and any organism to survive in such dynamic biophysiochemical environment, they must be adapting successfully to the conditions. For example, as the *M. hapla* second-stage juvenile hatches from the egg and migrates through the soil in search of the root system, it is

logical to expect that the juveniles are exposed to a range of harmful, harmless, and niche competitor biological organisms (Sánchez-Moreno and Ferris, 2007; Topalović et al., 2019, 2020; Zhou et al., 2019). If and how changes in the soil conditions directly or indirectly influence *M. hapla*'s PV remain unknown.

The goal of this project is to understand the basis of *M. hapla* PV in Michigan vegetable production soils with special emphasis on exploring any links between its PV and the ecosystem changes in its soil environment. Understanding the relationship between *M. hapla* distribution and soil health conditions as described by the Ferris et al., (2001) soil food web model could be a road map for identifying and connecting many of the missing links. The model uses changes in nematode community structure (x-axis) and enrichment (y-axis) to describe soil conditions in four quadrants: disturbed (A), maturing (B), structured (C) or degraded (D). Quadrant B would represent a best-case scenario and Quadrant D the worst case for agroecosystem. What factor(s) directly or indirectly influence *M. hapla* PV is unknown. Characterizing *M. hapla* presence or absence relative to the four quadrants is the first step towards clearly understanding its PV.

The objectives of this study were to determine how the presence and/or absence of *M*. *hapla* in selected mineral and muck soils relates to: *i*) the soil food web conditions; and *ii*) the nematode trophic group abundance. The hypothesis in relation to the soil food web was that *M*. *hapla* is present in degraded (Quadrant D) conditions. This is consistent with the notion that plant-parasitic nematodes are more prevalent in degraded than in non-degraded soil conditions (Wang and McSorley, 2005; Neher, 2010). The hypothesis in relation to abundance. This is consistent with the notion of abundance was that *M*. *hapla* presence is associated with low trophic group abundance. This is consistent with the notion of niche competition (Khan and Kim, 2007; Sánchez-Moreno and Ferris, 2007). A combination of both objectives will lead to a framework for targeted investigations to understand the basis of *M*. *hapla* PV in vegetable production systems.

Materials and methods

A greenhouse screening was used to determine presence or absence of *M. hapla* and a procedure to extract total nematode community for enumeration was used to determine the soil health conditions based on Ferris et al., (2001) model (see details in Chapter 2 as illustrated in **Figure 2.1 C1-2**).

Statistical analyses

Where applicable, residual diagnosis was applied to assess the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of the soil food web indices (EI and SI) and the data of nematode abundance parameters (HV, BV, FV, OV, and PR, SUM, SFL, SFL25 and S25). When the assumptions were not met, log transformation was performed. In order to determine how EI and SI were affected by soil, region, the presence or absence of *M. hapla*, land use, and their interactions in agricultural and adjacent natural vegetation, we used linear mixed effect model in PROC GLIMMIX (SAS-Institute, 2018). The fields were regarded as a random effect and were nested in soil, M. hapla presence/absence and region. Based on containment degree of freedom approximation, the statistical inference of the mixed ANOVA modelling was estimated by Restricted Maximum Likelihood. Differences of least square means of EI and SI by soil, region, the presence or absence of *M. hapla* and their interactions in the agricultural fields and natural vegetation are presented (p < 0.05). In order to determine the soil food web conditions of individual agricultural fields and adjacent natural vegetation, we used PROC MIXED model where replicates (individual samples) were assigned as random effects and fields as fixed effects, and standard errors generated with Kenward-Roger method (SAS-Institute, 2018). Least squares means of EI and SI of the individual fields were plotted to describe the soil food conditions in four quadrants (Ferris et al., 2001).

Nematode abundance was analyzed in two ways. First, how abundance of HV, BV, FV, OV, and PR, SUM, SFL, SFL25 and S25 were separately affected by soil, region, the presence or absence of *M. hapla*, land use, and their interactions were statistically analyzed as described above. The results of back-transformed least square means of main, interacting and splicing effects were reported when they were found to be significantly different (*p*<0.05). Second, we used principal component analysis (PCA) to determine how abundance of HV, BV, FV, OV, and PR, SUM, SFL, SFL25 and S25 collectively change by soil, region, the presence or absence of *M. hapla*, and land use (R.Team, 2019). The first principal component (PC1) and PC2 were reported to explain the variation on the horizontal and vertical axis, respectively. In the PCA biplot, the relationship and location of nematode abundance (dependent) variables with regions and fields (independent) were shown by eigen value variation of each principal component. The PCA biplots were generated using the ggbiplot (Vu, 2011) and stats (R. Team, 2019) packages in RStudio. The eastern, northwestern and southwestern regions were represented by a square, a circle and a triangle, respectively.

Results

Screening for *M. hapla* presence

The glasshouse screening of the 15 fields showed that three mineral (Fields 2, 8 and 13) and six muck soil (Fields 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) in the agricultural fields were positive for *M*. *hapla* (**Table 3.1**). The *M. hapla* positive samples were in some mineral and all muck soils in the three regions. None of the adjacent natural vegetation sites tested positive for *M. hapla*. Host suitability at the time of sampling did not seem to be a major factor because soil samples from Fields 2, 4, 10, 14 and 15 (with suitable hosts) and Fields 5, 6, 8 and 13 (non-suitable hosts) tested positive for *M. hapla*. Fields 1 and 11 (with suitable hosts) and Fields

3, 7, 9 and 12 (non-suitable hosts) tested negative for *M. hapla* (**Table 3.1**). Voucher specimen of *M. hapla* from 9 fields prepared on slides are available in the Agricultural Nematology Laboratory of the Department of Horticulture (**Appendix G1**).

Table 3.1 | A regional (eastern, southwestern and northwestern of Michigan, USA), soil (mineral and muck) and soil type (loam, sandy loam, organic and loamy sand) categorization of the 15 agricultural fields sampled in June 2018 with their suitable host (SU: tomato, soybean, onion, vetch, carrot, parsnip and sugar beet) or unsuitable host (US: oats, corn, apple seedlings and wheat) crops and the presence or absence of *Meloidogyne hapla*.

Region	Soil	Soil type	Field	Crops	SU or US	Presence/ absence of <i>M. hapla</i>
		Loam	1	Tomato & pepper	SU	-
Eastern	Mineral	Loam	2	Soybean	SU	+
		Sandy Loam	3	Oats	US	-
		Organic	4 *	Onion	SU	+
	Muck	Organic	5 *	Corn	US	+
		Organic	6 *	Corn	US	+
		Loamy Sand	7	Corn	US	-
South-	Mineral	Loamy Sand	8	Apple seedlings	US	+
western		Loamy Sand	9	Wheat & vetch	SU & US	-
	Muck	Organic	10	Onion	SU	+
		Sandy Loam	11	Carrot	SU	-
	Mineral	Loamy sand 12		Corn	US	-
North-		Loamy sand	13	Wheat	US	+
western	Muck	Organic	14 **	Parsnip	SU	+
		Organic	15 **	Sugar beet	SU	+

*Fields 4, 5 and 6 shared a common natural site based on their proximity.

**A shared natural site by Fields 14 and 15 was based on their proximity.

None of the adjacent natural vegetation tested positive for *M. hapla*.

Relationship of *M. hapla* presence with soil food web structure

The soil food web conditions were described based on the intersection of the enrichment and structure trajectories (**Figure 3.1**). None of the agricultural fields or adjacent vegetation had conditions that would be described as structured (data points in Quadrant C). The soil food web conditions of two mineral soil agricultural fields (11 and 12) in northwest that were negative for *M. hapla* and a muck soil in the natural vegetation adjacent to Field 4 in the east were the only locations described as maturing (Quadrant B, **Figure 3.1**). The soil food web conditions in the rest of the agricultural fields, irrespective of presence or absence of *M. hapla*, and the adjacent natural vegetation sites were either disturbed (Quadrant A) or boarderline between disturbed and degraded (Quadrant D).

There was no difference in structure index between agricultural and adjacent natural vegetation in the 15 sites. However, enrichment indices in mineral Fields 7 and 8 in the southwest and muck Fields 14 and 15 in the northwest were significantly lower than their corresponding natural vegetation (**Figure 3.1**). The enrichment indices in mineral soil Fields 11 and 12 in the northwest were higher than the corresponding natural vegetation. The structure index of Field 2, mineral and *M. hapla* positive, was significantly lower than *M. hapla* positive (Fields 4 and 8) and *M. hapla* negative agricultural fields (1, 3, 11 and 12) in both soils and three regions (**Figure 3.1**).

The enrichment index was similar while the structure index varied significantly by soil and *M. hapla*, region and soil, and region and *M. hapla* interactions in agricultural fields (**Table 3.2 A**). The structure index in muck soil with *M. hapla* present was lower than mineral soil with *M. hapla* either present or absent. The mineral soil in the eastern region had the lowest structure index compared to the rest of mineral and muck soils in eastern southwestern and northwestern regions. *Meloidogyne hapla* presence in the eastern region was associated with lower structure index value compared to the other region by *M. hapla*

interactions. In the adjacent natural vegetation (**Table 3.2 B**), structure index was similar, while enrichment index varied by region by soil interactions. Mineral soil in the eastern region showed a significantly lower enrichment compared to the other regions by soil interactions.



Figure 3.1 | The soil food web conditions of the 15 agricultural (left column) and adjacent natural (right column) vegetation sites (FD) in mineral (Mi) and muck (Mu) soils (ST) in the eastern, southwestern and northwestern regions (RG). Note: Quadrants A, B, C and D are based on the Ferris et al. (2001) model. *Meloidogyne hapla* was not detected in the natural vegetation. Its presence (Mh+) or absence (Mh-) in the agricultural fields are noted. Enrichment (vertical) standard error bars with no or same lower-case letters between agricultural and natural vegetation are not statistically different at p<0.05. Structure (horizontal) standard error bars with no or same upper-case letters within agricultural fields are not statistically different at p<0.05.

Table 3.2 | Mean enrichment (EI) and structure (SI) indices by region (RG: eastern, southwestern and northwestern of Michigan, USA), soil (ST: mineral and muck), and presence or absence of *Meloidogyne hapla* (Mh) in agricultural fields (A) and RG and ST in adjacent natural vegetation site (B).

	Factors		A) Agricultural f	ïelds*
RG	ST	Mh	SI	EI
-	Min anal	Present	37 ab	28
-	Mineral	Absent	45 a	25
-		Present	25 b	32
	Muck	Absent	-	-
Fastarn	Mineral	-	23 b	25
Eastern	Muck	-	59 a	19
South	Mineral	-	39 ab	10
western	Muck	-	42 ab	33
North	Mineral	-	43 a	52
western	Muck	-	50 a	46
Fastarn	-	Present	20 b	40
Lastern	-	Absent	64 a	10
South	-	Present	42 a	30
western	-	Absent	38 ab	12
North	-	Present	34 ab	23
western	-	Absent	60 a	85

			**				
	Mineral	-	38	26 b			
Eastern	Muck	-	40	51 ab			
South	Mineral	-	43	68 a			
western	Muck	-	34	49 ab			

31

40

B) Adjacent natural vegetation *,

34 ab

61 ab

*Least square means followed by the same or no letters within a category of RG \times ST, RG \times Mh, and ST \times Mh and column not statistically different at p<0.05. RG \times ST \times Mh interaction was not significant.

** *M. hapla* not present.

Mineral

Muck

_

_

North

western

Relationship of *M. hapla* presence with nematode trophic group abundance

A total of 59 nematode genera, belonging to 17 herbivores, 18 bacterivores, 7 fungivores, 8 predators and 9 omnivores, were identified in the sampled fields (**Table 3.3**). *Paratylenchus* and *Meloidogyne* in herbivores, *Cephalobus* and *Rhabditis* in bacterivores, and *Aphelenchus* and *Filenchus* in fungivores were the genera most observed.

Predators were not detected in the agricultural fields, and abundance of herbivore, bacterivore, fungivore and omnivore trophic groups, sum of all trophic groups, sum of freeliving nematodes, sum of free-living nematodes from cp 2 to cp 5, and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 of all nematodes in the 15 agricultural fields and adjacent natural vegetation was low and highly variable (data not shown). Nematode abundance by region, soil group, presence and absence of *M. hapla*, and their interactions by landscape are shown in **Table 3.4**.

In the agricultural fields, abundance of bacterivores, sum of free-living nematodes from cp 2 to cp 5 and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 nematodes differed significantly (p<0.05) by region (**Table 3.4 A**). All abundance parameters, except for predators and omnivores, were significantly (p<0.05) higher in mineral than in muck soil in the eastern and southwestern regions, while the reverse was true in the northwestern region. The abundance of herbivores, sum of all trophic groups, sum of free-living nematodes, sum of free-living nematodes from cp 2 to cp 5, and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 of all nematodes was significantly (p<0.05) lower in the absence than in the presence of *M. hapla* in the eastern region, but the reverse was true in the northwestern region. There was no trend in southwestern region. Only the sum of free-living nematodes of cp 2 to cp 5, and the sum of cp 2 to cp 5 of all nematodes differed significantly (p<0.05) by region, soil and presence or absence of *M. hapla* (**Table 3.4 A**).

Because *M. hapla* was not present in the natural vegetation, abundance parameters were compared by soil and region (**Table 3.4 B**). The abundance of herbivores, bacterivores, fungivores, sum of all trophic groups, sum of free-living nematodes, and sum of cp 2 to cp 5

of all nematodes were significantly (p<0.05) higher in muck than in mineral soil. All abundance parameters differed significantly by soil group and region. In the eastern and northwestern regions, nematode abundance was significantly higher (p<0.05) in muck than in mineral soil. There was no clear trend in the southwestern region (**Table 3.4 B**).

The abundance of herbivores, omnivores and sum of all trophic groups were significantly (p<0.05) higher in the adjacent natural vegetation than in the agricultural fields. All but two nematode abundance parameters (herbivore and predator) differed significantly (p<0.05) by region and landscape. The abundance of herbivores, bacterivores, fungivores, of all trophic groups, sum of free-living nematodes, and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 of all nematodes were significantly different (p<0.05) by soil and landscape. Only omnivores, sum of free-living nematodes of cp 2 to cp 5, and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 of all nematodes were significantly (p<0.05) different by soil, region and landscape (**Table 3.4 C**).

PCA relationships among abundance of nematode trophic (herbivore, bacterivore, fungivore, omnivore trophic groups, sum of all nematodes and free-living) and cp groups (free-living cp 2 to 5, and cp 2 to 5 of all nematodes) in agricultural fields and adjacent natural vegetation, *M. hapla* presence or absence, soils and regions showed distinct patterns (**Figure 3.2 A-F**). The pattern in the *M. hapla* negative mineral soil fields was generally influenced by PC1, whereas the pattern in the adjacent natural vegetation was strongly towards PC2 (**Figure 3.2 A, B**). The pattern of correlation in the *M. hapla* positive mineral and muck soils was strongly towards PC2 (**Figure 3.2 A, B**). The pattern of correlation in the *M. hapla* positive mineral and muck soils was strongly influenced by PC1 (**Figure 3.2 D, F**).-

Table 3.3 | Genera of herbivore, bacterivore, fungivore, predator and omnivore nematodesand their colonizer-persister (cp) categories values observed in the soil samples from areas inMichigan, USA.

Herbivores*	cp	Bacterivores	cp	Fungivores	cp	Omnivores	cp
Malanahus	** 0	Dun on on a	1	Anhalanahaidag	2	Axonahiuma	
Matenchus	2	Dunonema	1	Aphelencholdes	2	Axonchiuma	4
Paraphelenchus	2	Diplogaster	I	Aphelenchus	2	Dorylaimus	4
Paratylenchus	2	Mesorhabditis	1	Aprutides	2	Ecumenicus	4
Rotylenchus	2	Pellioditis	1	Ditylenchus	2	Epidorylaimus	4
Scutylenchus	2	Pristionchus	1	Filenchus	2	Eudorylaimus	4
Criconema	3	Rhabditella	1	Nothotylenchus	2	Lamydorus	4
Helicotylenchus	3	Rhabditis	1	Paraphelenchus	2	Mesodorylaimus	4
Heterodera	3	Acrobeles	2			Microdorylaimus	4
Hirschmaniella	3	Acrobeloides	2	Predators		Prodorylaimus	4
Hoplolaimus	3	Anaplectus	2	Discolaimus	3		
Loofia	3	Cephalobus	2	Tripyla	3		
Meloidogyne	3	Cervidelus	2	Tripylina	3		
Pratylenchus	3	Chiloplacus	2	Ironus	4		
Tylenchorhynchus	3	Eucephalobus	2	Miconchus	4		
Trichodorus	4	Heterocephalobus	2	Mononchus	4		
Axonchium	5	Plectus	2	Mylonchus	4		
Dorylaimellus	5	Alaimus	4	Nygolaimus	5		
		Bathyodonthus	4				

*Trophic groups were classified according to Okada and Kadota (2003) and Yeates et al., (1993).

**cp categories were based on Bongers (1990) and Bongers et al., (1995).

A list of nematode voucher specimen prepared on slides and available in the Agricultural

Nematology Laboratory of the Department of Horticulture (Appendix G2).

Table 3.4 | Mean numbers of herbivore (HV), bacterivore (BV), fungivore (FV), predator (PR) and omnivore (OV) nematodes, sum of all trophic groups (SUM), sum of free-living nematodes (SFL), sum of free-living nematodes from cp 2 to cp 5 (SFL25), and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 nematodes (S25) per 100 cm³ soil by region (RG: east, SW-southwestern and NW-northwestern of Michigan, USA), soil (ST: mineral and muck), and *Meloidogyne hapla* (Mh: present and absent) in agricultural fields (A), RG and ST in adjacent natural vegetation site (B), RG, ST and land use (C)(LU: agricultural and natural vegetations).

	Facto	rs	A) Agricultural fields*										
RG	ST	Mh	HV	BV	FV	PR	OV	SUM	SFL	SFL25	S25		
East	-	-	4	10 ab	7	0	4	19	16	17 a	20 a		
SW	-	-	2	17 a	4	0	4	20	20	18 a	18 ab		
NW	-	-	2	6 b	5	0	2	12	11	11 b	12 b		
East	Mineral	-	9 a	9 ab	10a	0	10	20 ab	14 ab	16 ab	11 b		
East	Muck	-	0 b	7 ab	4 ab	0	1	10 b	14 ab	17 ab	22 a		
CIV	Mineral	-	4 ab	19 a	8 ab	0	4	24 a	23 a	21 a	10 b		
3 W	Muck	-	0 b	9 ab	0 b	0	2	11 ab	11 ab	10 b	17 ab		
NTX7	Mineral	-	1 ab	5 b	6 ab	0	4	11 b	10 b	10 b	24 a		
IN W	Muck	-	6 ab	10 ab	6 ab	0	1	17 ab	15 ab	13 ab	11 b		
East	-	Present	11a	14	9	0	5	28 a	21 a	18 a	26 a		
East	-	Absent	1 b	4	4	0	3	6 b	9 ab	15 ab	10 cd		
CW	-	Present	2 ab	14	3	0	4	17 ab	16 ab	15 ab	16 bc		
2 11	-	Absent	0 b	14	2	0	1	17 ab	16 ab	16 ab	16 bcd		
NIW	-	Present	1 b	4	8	0	6	10 b	9 b	9 b	9 d		
INW	-	Absent	5 ab	11	5	0	1	19 a	17 ab	15 ab	18 ab		
RG	x ST x M	h (P values)	0.08	0.118	0.391	0.860	0.245	0.062	0.109	0.049**	0.009**		

 Table 3.4 (cont'd)

				B) Adjacent natural vegetation*							
RG	ST	Mh	HV	BV	FV	PR	OV	SUM	SFL	SFL25	S25
-	Mineral	-	6 b	8 b	3 b	0	3	15 b	12 b	11	13 b
-	Muck	-	12 a	12 a	6 a	0	7	24 a	19 a	17	22 a
East	Mineral	-	7 b	7 c	2 b	0 b	3 b	13 c	10 d	10 c	12 c
East	Muck	-	13 a	12 ab	4 b	1a	5 b	24 b	18 b	15 b	22 b
CW	Mineral	-	6 b	9 bc	4 b	0 b	5 b	17 c	15 bc	15 b	18 b
2 W	Muck	-	8 ab	7 bc	2 b	0 b	1 b	13 c	9 d	7 c	10 c
NTXX7	Mineral	-	5 b	7 bc	3 b	0 b	2 b	14 c	11 cd	9 c	10 c
IN W	Muck	-	16 a	15 a	9 a	0 b	18 a	30 a	26 a	26 a	29 a
RG	ST	LU			C) <i>L</i>	Agricultu	ural and nat	tural vegeta	tion*		
-	-	Agricultural	2 b	10	5	0	3 b	16 b	15	14	16
-	-	Natural	9 a	9	4	0	5 a	18 a	14	13	16
I	RG x LU (P values)	0.7	0.001**	0.031**	0.549	< 0.001**	0.001*	< 0.001*	< 0.001*	< 0.001*
	ST x LU (.	P values)	0.001**	0.037**	< 0.001**	0.56	0.579	< 0.001**	0.003**	< 0.001**	< 0.001**
LU	x RG x S	T (P values)	0.714	0.387	0.596	0.376	< 0.001**	0.144	0.007**	<0.001**	0.006**

*Means followed by the same or no letters within a category of RG \times ST, RG \times Mh, and ST \times Mh and column not statistically different at p<0.05.

**RG × ST × Mh, RG × LU, ST × LU and LU × RG × ST interaction effects are significant.



Figure 3.2 | Principal component analysis of the relationships among herbivore (HV), bacterivore (BV), fungivore (FV), predator (PR) and omnivore (OV) nematodes, sum of all trophic groups (SUM), sum of free living nematodes (SFL), sum of free living nematodes from cp 2 to cp 5 (SFL25), and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 nematodes (S25) the 15 sampling sites (agricultural fields and corresponding natural vegetation), *M. hapla* (presence, Mh+ or absence, Mh-), soils (mineral and muck), and regions (eastern-square, southwestern-triangle, and northwestern-circle).

Discussion

There is little published information about the presence or absence of *M. hapla* and soil health conditions as defined by nematode community structure. By broadly describing the relationship between *M. hapla* presence or absence and soil health conditions across selected regions and soils, this study advances our understanding of *M. hapla* distribution in Michigan vegetable production fields. Host suitability at the time of sampling had no relationship with presence or absence of *M. hapla*. Presence of *M. hapla* in all three regions and all of the agricultural fields with muck soil, but only in 3 of the 9 fields with mineral soils, suggests that its distribution is broad and variable (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2012; Melakeberhan et al., 2013).

Our first hypothesis was that *M. hapla* is present in degraded (Quadrant D) soil health conditions seems to be partially supported in mineral soils, but is inconclusive in muck soils. Based on the relationship between the enrichment index and structure index trajectories, only two agricultural fields with mineral soil in the northwestern region had what is considered maturing (Quadrant B) or best conditions for nutrient cycling. The rest of the agricultural fields in both soils had either disturbed (Quadrant A) depleted and/or degraded (Quadrant D) soil health conditions, suggesting that the soils have less than ideal conditions for nutrient cycling and overall soil health. The presence of *M. hapla* in disturbed (Quadrant A) and/or depleted and degraded (Quadrant D) and its absence in maturing (Quadrant B) soil health conditions in mineral appear partially to support the hypothesis. However, the absence of muck soils with maturing (Quadrant B) soil health conditions and *M. hapla* presence in degraded (Quadrant D) conditions makes the hypothesis less conclusive for muck soil.

A comparison of soil health conditions between the natural vegetation and agricultural fields was designed to assess how far the latter has been degraded and what adjustments may be considered if clear trends developed between soil health and presence or absence of *M*.

hapla. In this case, the natural vegetation soils were as stressed as the agricultural fields, but the variability of nematode abundance across sites was less than that of the agricultural fields. This suggests that the natural vegetation may have had some disturbance in the past (Neher, 2010).

Among other things, changes in either enrichment index or structure index have been used to identify soil conditions in relation to the ecosystem function (Wang and McSorley, 2005). In this study, how enrichment index and structure index varied by region, soil and *M*. *hapla* interactions seem to indicate differences. Without considering presence or absence of *M. hapla*, differences in structure index were observed by soil and region interaction. When considering presence or absence of *M. hapla*, differences in structure index by soil and region were observed. These results suggest that structure index as an indicator of soil conditions is likely to be location specific.

Our second hypothesis was that the presence of *M. hapla* is associated with low trophic group abundance. The expected outcomes were that there would consistently be a significantly (p<0.05) low trophic group abundance associated with *M. hapla* presence than in soils without *M. hapla*. Based on the numerical relationships of abundance parameters, this hypothesis was rejected. Abundance of herbivores, bacterivores, fungivores, omnivores, and sum of all trophic groups, sum of free-living nematodes and of their cp 2 to cp 5, and sum of cp 2 to cp 5 of all nematodes trophic groups were low and highly variable across the 15 agricultural fields. When the abundance parameters were compared by combinations of region, soil and presence or absence of *M. hapla* in the agricultural fields, variable patterns emerged for herbivores, bacterivores, fungivores, sum of all trophic groups, sum of free-living from cp 2 to cp 5 and sum of cp 2 to 5 nematodes. As other authors have reported on other nematodes, variable abundance by trophic or across

trophic and cp groups is to be expected (Gavassoni et al., 2007; Donald et al., 2009; Cheng et al., 2018).

The Michigan vegetable production landscape where *M. hapla* exists has diverse soil conditions. A principal component analysis of the relationship among nematode abundance parameters, region, soil and presence or absence of *M. hapla* revealed distinct patterns explaining over 75% of the variations. The patterns of correlations in both muck and mineral soils where *M. hapla* was present were similar in the agricultural fields. While this suggests that similar changes may be taking place in both soils, what the exact changes are or how these patterns relate to *M. hapla* PV in each of the soils is yet to be determined. The opposite patterns of correlations between the adjacent natural vegetation and the *M. hapla* positive agricultural fields suggest differences between land use practices. The patterns of correlations in the *M. hapla* negative mineral soil had no clear trend and the adjacent natural vegetation soil had an opposite trend compared with those adjacent to *M. hapla* positive fields. Whether or not *M. hapla* absence in these fields is a matter of not being introduced, or detected, or the soil conditions influenced its presence remains to be determined.

Conclusions

In summary, this study advances our understanding of the broad distribution of *M. hapla* across Michigan vegetable growing regions. Its presence relative to abundance of nematode trophic groups does not seem to have a clear trend. The soil conditions associated with *M. hapla* presence in the sampled sites were mostly disturbed and/or degraded, partially supporting the working hypothesis for mineral soil, but not for muck soil. The distinct multifactor trophic group abundance patterns by soil, land use and/or *M. hapla* presence or absence lays down a foundation for more targeted investigations to understand any links between its PV and ecosystem to microbiome level changes in its soil environment.

CHAPTER 4

PARASITIC VARIABILITY OF *MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA* RELATIVE TO SOIL GROUPS AND SOIL HEALTH CONDITIONS

Abstract

While *Meloidogyne hapla* populations in the Michigan vegetable production landscape exist in degraded and disturbed soil health conditions of mineral and muck soils, the parasitic variability (PV) of these populations are not known. In this study, nine *M. hapla* populations from muck and mineral soils with degraded and disturbed SFW conditions from three regions were used to test the hypothesis that PV varies among the studied populations. In an experiment replicated three times, the populations were inoculated at 2000 and 4000 eggs/300 cm³ of soil. Two populations,13 and 8, from degraded mineral soils had significantly higher reproductive potential from the rest of the populations in both SFW conditions but the root galls were variable and inconsistent. The *M. hapla* populations' reproductive potential varied by the interactions of SFW condition, soil group and region, indicating that the conditions where PV exists are likely to be variable within or across soil groups.

Introduction

Parasitic variability (PV) of plant parasitic nematodes (PPN) is considered one of the main problems associated with pest management in agriculture. It involves the variability in nematode virulence and pathogenicity, where PPN look the same but act different. Depending on the nematode species, factors linked with PPN PV include genetic variation (Plowright et al., 2013) and virulence phenotype (Mitchum et al., 2007) resulting in quantitative and/or qualitative crop yield losses (Kirkpatrick and Sasser, 1983; Bucki et al., 2017; Chen, 2020). In the case of *Meloidogyne hapla*, populations show no detectable morphological or genetic differences (Liu and Williamson, 2006) but differ in inducing galling and reproductive potential (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013). Here, reproductive potential, an indicator of PV, refers to the total numbers of nematodes recovered after a predetermined period following inoculation on a susceptible host.

It has been established that the distribution of *M. hapla* spans multiple soil groups and landscapes receiving agricultural practices and inputs such fertilizers, insecticides, herbicides and nematicides multiple times per year (Melakeberhan et al., 2007) and that populations from mineral soils appear to have higher reproductive potential than those from muck soils (Melakeberhan et al., 2010). A combination of agricultural inputs and practices alter soil physicochemistry and may have direct and/or indirect effects on the resident organisms (Babin et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Wendeborn, 2020; Xia et al., 2019). How *M. hapla* populations' PV relate to the soil conditions from where they came remains unknown.

As part of understanding the mechanisms of *M. hapla* PV in vegetable production, Lartey et al., (2021) investigated the relationship between *M. hapla* and the soil food web (SFW, Ferris et al., 2001) as an indicator of soil health conditions in 6 muck soil and 9 mineral soil fields in 3 regions of the lower peninsula of Michigan. The SFW model uses the

relationship between the structure index (SI, x-axis) and enrichment index (EI, y-axis) to categorize the agroecosystem fitness and nutrient cycling potential of the soil conditions as disturbed (Quadrant A), maturing (Quadrant B, best case), matured (Quadrant C) and degraded (Quadrant D, worse case) (Chapter 1, Figure 1.2). While measuring changes in either EI or SI and agronomic parameters provides linear relationship (Melakeberhan et al., 2021b), the quadrants that the SFW model generates using the intersection of EI and SI makes it possible to describe the soil conditions where an organism exists. The study revealed three points: first, *M. hapla* was present in all regions and muck soils and 3 mineral soils, confirming earlier studies (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013). Second, principal component analysis of nematode community abundance in the M. hapla positive fields showed different patterns of correlations in muck and mineral soils. This suggested that the soil conditions that affect *M. hapla* (and other nematodes) are likely to have biological differences. Third, the SFW conditions of the fields where M. hapla was found were described as degraded (nutrient depleted and less structured) and disturbed (nutrient enriched and less structured). How the degraded and disturbed SFW conditions relate to *M. Hapla* populations' PV within or between soil groups is unknown.

The objective of the study reported was to determine if the *M. hapla* populations found in muck and mineral soils with disturbed and degraded SFW conditions of muck and mineral soils exhibit PV. The working hypothesis was that PV in *M. hapla* populations is related to specific SFW conditions. If true, *M. hapla* populations from degraded and disturbed SFW conditions should exhibit distinct reproductive potential in both soil groups. If the hypothesis is false, *M. hapla* populations from either degraded and/or disturbed SFW conditions should exhibit PV in one or none of the soil groups. This would mean that the conditions where PV exists are variable. The outcome of this research provides a foundation

for understanding the specific mechanisms of the interactions driving PV in *M. hapla* populations in Michigan vegetable production landscapes.

Materials and methods

Soils, SFW conditions and regions where *M. hapla* populations came from.

The *M. hapla* populations used in this study represent 9 of the 15 georeferenced fields and described in a previous study (Lartey et al., 2021). As used here the population numbers correspond to field numbers. Three of the populations (13, 8 and 2) were in mineral and six (4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) were in muck soil groups. Populations 13, 8, 5, 14 and 15 came from degraded and populations 2, 4, 6 and 10 came from disturbed SFW conditions (Ferris et al., 2001). Populations 13, 14 and 15 were from the northwestern, 8 and 10 from the southwestern, and 2, 4, 5 and 6 from the eastern vegetable production regions of the lower peninsula of Michigan.

Experimental design, set up and measurements

A greenhouse experiment was conducted to test similarities and/or differences of the 9 *M*. *hapla* populations' reproductive potential and inducing galls on Rutgers tomato under the same greenhouse set up as the cultures. Each *M. hapla* population was inoculated at 2000 (low) and 4000 (high) eggs in 300 cm³ of soil per pot. The inocula were designed to test if the level of inoculation makes a difference in expressing PV. Each inoculum treatment was replicated 6 times. Six water-treated plants served as controls (check). The experiment had a total of 114 experimental units (9 *M. hapla* populations x 2 inocula x 6 replicates + 1 control [6 replicates]). The experiment was repeated three times. Each experimental run was terminated at 30 days after inoculation, enough time to complete one generation (Inserra et

al., 1983; Melakeberhan et al., 2007). Experiments 1, 2 and 3 were conducted during November (2019), January (2020) and May (2020) months and accumulated 398, 412 and 667 degree-days (DD, base 10 °C), respectively.

Egg inocula were obtained from the individual *M. hapla* population root cultures (Chapter 2; Figure 4.1) using a modified protocol of Hussey and Boerma (1981). Briefly, roots were gently separated from the soil, gently washed under flowing tap water to prevent egg mass loss, cut into small pieces (~1 cm long), placed in 5% bleach solution, and shaken vigorously for 5 minutes in a flask. The eggs were sieved and cleaned as described in Hussey and Boerma (1981) and numbers estimated (Zuckerman, 1985). As part of accounting for any differences in nematode developmental stages in roots, stages of embryogenesis of each of the 9 M. hapla populations were determined by taking 1 ml aliquots and classifying the first eggs into undifferentiated (single-cell to 8-cell embryo) or differentiated (elongating to a 3fold embryo) as illustrated by Calderón-Urrea et al., (2016). Three 1 ml aliquots were taken for each *M. hapla* population in each experiment, and the average number of differentiated and undifferentiated eggs estimated using an inverted digital microscope at $400 \times$ magnification (Accu-scope[®]). The proportion of undifferentiated and differentiated egg inoculum was similar across experiments (P<0.05). However, the proportion of undifferentiated (67.4% -76.7%) were significantly more than the differentiated (26.4% -32.8%) stages.

At the end of each experiment, roots were gently separated from the soil and cleaned under running tap water, assessed for galling from 0 (no galling) to 5 (all roots severely galled, plant dying, or dead) using a modified Bridge and Page, (1980) scale. A 2 g subsample was stained and stored at 4 °C until nematodes were counted (Melakeberhan et al., 2004). Nematode developmental stages in roots were determined as second stage juvenile

(J2), third and fourth stage juvenile (J3/J4), and adults (Melakeberhan et al., 2004; Preston et al., 2003).



Figure 4.1 | Diagram outlining the procedures for *M. hapla* egg multiplication and isolation (A) and parasitic variability tests (B). The egg multiplication and isolation procedure had a single egg mass inoculated in soil with tomato seedlings and allowed to multiply for several months, roots were separated from soil, gently washed under running water, cut into ~1 cm pieces, washed in 5% bleach, shaken for 5 minutes and rinsed eggs in water. The parasitic variability test had an estimated number of eggs in tubes inoculated on 2-week-old tomato seedlings for a 30 day experiment.

Data analysis

Differences of nematode developmental stages (J2, J3/J4 and adult) and PV indicators (galling, total infection, and percent infection) of the 9 *M. hapla* populations (MH) within different inoculum (IN) levels (2000 and 4000 eggs) were analyzed using mixed model approach in PROC GLIMMIX (SAS-Institute, 2018). The statistical model consisted of fixed effects of MH and IN and the interaction between them, and random effects of experiment runs. If, after residual diagnostics, the assumptions of homogeneity of variances and normality of the residues were found to be violated, the log transformed (Log(x) +1) values of developmental stages and PV indicators were used. When either the MH by IN interaction

or simple effect (slicing) tests by MH and IN levels were found to be statistically significant, then multiple comparisons among the means of the nematode developmental stages and PV indicators for MH within each IN level was presented. A test of the high and low inoculum effect on each MH was conducted using t-tests (p<0.05).

To determine the effect of regions (RG), soil groups (SG), soil food web (SFW) conditions and IN on the *M. hapla* developmental stages and PV indicators, the statistical models were implemented in PROC GLIMMIX (SAS-Institute, 2018). Two separate three-way models were fitted. The first model included the main effects of SG, IN, and SFW and their interactions. Experiments were included in the model as a random effect. MH was also treated as a random effect nested within respective SFW and SG, thus it was used as an error term for testing the SFW and SG effects. The pots assigned to individual IN levels were also included in the model as random effects of SG, IN, and the effects of IN and its interactions with SFW and SG. The second model included the main effects of SG, IN, and RG and their interactions, with experiments, MH nested in SG and RG, and the pots nested within IN, MH, SG and RG as random effects. The latter two terms were used for testing the SG and RG effects, and IN and its interactions with SG and RG effects, respectively.

Results

Meloidogyne hapla developmental stages in roots

The numbers of *M. hapla* J2, J3/J4 and adult stages found in the roots differed significantly (p<0.05) by population and inoculum, and the J3/J4 and adult stages by the interaction of population and inoculum (**Table 4.1**). Across populations, fewer J2s than J3/J4 and adults per 2 g of root were recovered. The numbers of J2s ranged from 2.8 to 5.7 in the low inoculum compared with 11.7 to 16.8 in the high inoculum. In the low inoculum, the numbers of J3/J4 were between 17.9 to 124.5 and 30.2 to 255.3 and those of the adult stages were between 10.4 to 98.4 and 37.8 to 230.1 in the low and in the high inoculum, respectively. In the high inoculum, the J3/J4s were between 30.2 to 255.3 and the adult nematodes between 37.8 to 230.1 (**Table 4.1**). All nematode developmental stages were significantly (p<0.05) higher in the high than in the low inoculum.

Within inoculum and across populations, the number of J2s recovered in roots of Population 6, 8, 13 and 15 of the high inoculum were significantly higher than those of Populations 5 and 10; whereas only those of Population 2 were significantly higher than those of Population 14 in the low inoculum (**Table 4.1**). The number of J3/J4s and adults recovered in roots of Population 13 in both inocula were significantly more than those of Population 8 and both populations were significantly more than the rest of the populations (**Table 4.1**).

Table 4.1 | Mean number of second stage (J2), third and fourth stage (J3/J4) juveniles and adult nematode developmental stages recovered from the low (2000) and high (4000) egg inocula (IN) treatments across 9 *M. hapla* (MH) populations and the two-way interaction (p-values) of MH and IN.

	Nematode developmental stages/ 2g of roots***														
				J2			J3/J4					Adult			
_	MH	2000 40		400	0	200	2000		4000		2000				
	13	3.8	ab*	15.1	ab	125.0	a*	255.0	a	98.4	a*	230.0	a		
	8	4.8	ab*	15.3	ab	82.4	b*	187.0	b	71.1	b*	125.0	b		
	2	5.7	a*	14.3	abc	51.8	c*	83.8	c	40.0	c*	60.2	d		
	4	5.3	ab*	13.6	bc	39.4	cd	49.0	efg	33.6	cd*	65.5	cd		
	5	4.5	ab*	11.7	c	21.9	de	37.1	fg	36.7	c*	79.5	c		
	6	3.5	ab*	16.8	a	35.6	cde*	73.8	cd	44.0	c*	80.5	c		
	10	3.7	ab*	11.7	c	17.9	e	30.2	g	29.7	cd*	60.6	d		
	14	2.8	b*	12.9	bc	33.6	cde*	68.2	cde	18.4	de*	37.8	e		
_	15	4.1	ab*	14.6	ab	29.4	de*	53.0	def	10.4	e*	53.2	de		
les	S MH 0.0392**		<0.0001**				<0.0001**								
valı	IN		<0.	.0001**		<0.0001**				<0.0001**					
Ŀ_	MH*I	N	0	.0547			<0.0001** <0.0001**					0001**			

**M. hapla* population mean significantly (p<0.05) higher in the 4000 than the 2000 inocula for a developmental stage.

**P-value of two-way ANOVA is statistically different at p<0.05

*** The number of nematodes across populations in each inoculum group represented with different letters were significantly different (p<0.05)

The numbers of all developmental stages in roots within and/or between inocula varied by soil group and the region from where they came (**Table 4.2**). Similar numbers of J2s were recovered in both soil groups and three regions within an inoculum, but significantly differed between inocula (p<0.05). The number of J3/J4 and adult nematodes recovered in high inoculum from mineral soil was significantly higher than other soil and inoculum groups. The J3/J4 in the low inoculum from muck soil were lower than both inocula from mineral soil. Across regions, more J2s were recovered in the high than in the low inoculum. The numbers of J3/J4 and adults in the southwest and northwest were significantly more than in the high inoculum the east and low inoculum in all regions. The numbers of J3/J4 and adult stages were significantly affected by two- and three-way interactions (**Table 4.2**).
Table 4.2 | Mean number of second stage (J2), third and fourth stage (J3/J4) juveniles and adult nematode developmental stages of *M. hapla* populations recovered across regions (RG: East, Southwest-SW and Northwest-NW), soil groups (SG: Muck and Mineral), from inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of RG, SG and IN.

	Fa	actors***		Nematode developmental stages/ 2g of roots*							
	RG	SG	IN	J2		J3/J	4	Adu	Adult		
	-	Muck	2000	4.6 ł)	36.2	c	36.8	b		
	-	Mineral	2000	4.0 t)	58.4	bc	47.0	b		
	-	Muck	4000	14.1 a	ı	59.2	b	66.7	b		
	-	Mineral	4000	13.9 a	ı	120.2	a	105.1	a		
	Е	-		4.8 t)	37.2	d	38.6	d		
	SW	-	2000	4.3 t)	50.2	cd	50.4	cd		
	NW	-		3.6 t)	62.5	bc	42.4	cd		
	Е	-		14.1 a	ı	60.9	c	71.4	с		
	SW	-	4000	13.5 a	ı	108.9	b	92.3	b		
_	NW	-		14.2 a	ı	125.5	a	107.0	a		
		SG		0.225	5	0.001	**	0.001	**		
		IN		0.002**		0.002**		0.001**			
les		RG		0.756		0.015**		0.006**			
valı		SG*IN		0.673	3	0.006	**	0.019**			
P-1		SG*RG		0.746	5	0.016	**	0.001	**		
		RG*IN		0.694	Ļ	0.038	**	0.021	**		
		SG*RG*I	N	0.750		0.047	0.016**				

*Means followed by same letters across SG x IN or RG x IN are not statistically different at p<0.05.

**P-values of the three-way ANOVA are statistically different at p<0.05.

***Factors not considered for mean comparisons are replaced by a dash (-).

Across disturbed and degraded SFW conditions, more J2s were recovered in the high than in the low inoculum (**Table 4.3**). Significantly more J3/J4 and adult stages were recovered in the high inoculum from degraded soil conditions than from disturbed conditions and low inoculum from disturbed and degraded conditions (**Table 4.3**). Within each inoculum, the numbers of J3/J4 and adult stage nematodes in roots from degraded SFW conditions were more than in roots from the disturbed conditions (p<0.05). There were more

two- and three-ways interaction effects of soil group, soil food web and inocula on J3/J4 than adult stages (**Table 4.3**).

Table 4.3 | Mean number of second stage (J2), third and fourth stage (J3/J4) juveniles and adult nematode developmental stages of *M. hapla* populations recovered from soil health (SFW: disturbed and degraded) conditions and inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of soil group (SG), SFW and IN.

	Factor	s	Nematode developmental stages/ 2g of roots*						
	SFW	IN	J2	J 3/J4	Adult				
	Disturbed	2000	8.8 b	40.8 d	45.8 c				
	Degraded	2000	9.8 b	130.9 b	104.1 b				
	Disturbed	4000	13.5 a	51.9 c	62.8 b				
	Degraded	4000	14.9 a	175.5 a	138.4 a				
	SG		0.2036	0.0049**	0.0525				
	IN		<.0001**	0.0003**	0.0053**				
les	SFW		0.5600	0.0291**	0.1126				
valı	SG*IN		0.9110	0.0041**	0.2955				
P-1	SG*SFW		0.8168	0.0281**	0.0451**				
	SFW*I	Ν	0.6126	0.0079**	0.1107				
	SG*SFW*IN		0.3972	0.0119**	0.1253				

*Means followed by same letters across SFW x IN not statistically different at p<0.05. **P-values of the three-way ANOVA are statistically different at p<0.05.

Effect on galling, total and percent infection

The severity of galls, total number of nematodes recovered from roots and percent infection differed by population, inocula and/or the interactions of population and inocula (**Table 4.4**). The lowest (0.9) and highest (1.8) galling in the low inoculum and 1.4 and 3.1 in the high inoculum were observed in roots inoculated with Populations 5, 13, 14 and 13, respectively. Galling was significantly more severe in the high inoculum than in the low inoculum for all populations, but Population 10. Within the low inoculum, Populations 4 and 13 caused

significantly more galling than the rest of the populations. Within the high inoculum, Populations 2, 8 and 13 caused the most and Population 14 the least galling (**Table 4.4**).

Total infection was significantly higher in the high inoculum than in the low inoculum for all populations. The total number of nematodes observed were between 42.7 (lowest) and 226.0 (highest) in the low inoculum, and between 96.9 and 495.6 in the high inoculum, and were found in roots inoculated with Populations 15, 13, 10 and 13, respectively. In both inocula, total infection was the highest in Population 13 followed by Population 8 and both populations were significantly different from the rest of the populations. In the low inoculum, Population 2 had significantly higher total infection than Populations 5, 14 and 15. In the high inoculum, Population 2 and 6 had significantly higher total infection than Populations 10, 14 and 15, and Population 6 from Populations 4 and 5 (**Table 4.4**).

Percent infection was higher in high than in the low inoculum of Population 13, but similar between the inocula across the *M. hapla* populations (**Table 4.4**). In both inocula, the percent infection was the highest in Population 13 followed by population 8 and both significantly different from the rest of the populations. Within the low inoculum, Population 2 had higher percent infection than Populations 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15, and Populations 4 and 6 from Populations 10, 14 and 15. Within the high inoculum, percent infection of Populations 6 was higher than Populations 10, 14 and 15, Population 2 than Population 10 (**Table 4.4**).

Table 4.4 | Means of galls, total and total (% Infection) associated with the low (2000) and high (4000) egg inocula (IN) treatments across 9 *M. hapla* (MH) populations and the two-way interaction (p-values) of MH and IN.

	-	-	C	all*		Nema	Nematodes in 2g of roots***								
			Gall				Total				Total (% Infection)				
	MH	2000		2000 4000		200	2000		4000		2000		4000		
	13	1.8	a*	3.1	a	226.0	a*	495.6	a	11.3	a*	12.4	a		
	8	1.0	b*	2.9	a	157.0	b*	322.2	b	7.9	b	8.1	b		
	2	1.1	b*	2.9	а	96.0	c*	155.6	cd	4.8	c	3.9	cd		
	4	1.7	a*	2.3	b	76.7	cde*	123.6	de	3.9	cd	3.1	cde		
	5	0.9	b*	2.4	b	61.5	def*	123.5	de	3.1	de	3.1	cde		
	6	1.1	b*	2.3	b	82.2	cd*	166.1	c	4.2	cd	4.2	с		
	10	1.0	b*	2.4	b	50.2	ef*	96.9	e	2.6	e	2.5	e		
	14	1.1	b	1.4	c	53.9	def*	113.8	e	2.7	e	2.9	de		
	15	1.1	b*	2.3	b	42.7	f*	115.6	e	2.2	e	2.9	de		
les	MH	<0.0001**					<0.0001**			<0.0001**					
valı	IN		<0.0001**				<0.0001**			0.5912					
P-	MH*IN		< 0.0	001**	*		<0.0001**			0.2189					

* *M. hapla* population mean significantly (p<0.05) higher in the 4000 than the 2000 inocula for a developmental stage.

**P-values of two-way ANOVA is statistically different at p<0.05

*** The number of nematodes across populations in each inoculum group represented with different letters were significantly different (p<0.05)

Galling was significantly higher in high than in the low inoculum for both soil groups and all regions, and not affected by two- or three-way interactions of soil group, region and inocula (**Table 4.5**). Total number of nematodes recovered in the high inoculum from mineral soil was significantly more than the high inoculum and low inoculum in both soils. Total infection in the low inoculum from muck soil was lower than from the high in muck soil. Total infection of the high inoculum in northwest had the highest and the low inoculum from the east region the lowest total infection. The high inoculum from southwest had higher infection than the high inoculum from the east region and low inoculum from all three regions. Total infection was significantly affected by two- and three-way interactions soil group, region and inocula. Percent infection was higher in the high inoculum in mineral soil than in muck soil. The high inoculum in the northwest had the highest percent infection in mineral and the lowest in muck soil. The high inoculum in the northwest and southwest had higher percent infection than those from the east region and all regions at the low inoculum (**Table 4.5**). **Table 4.5** | Means of galls, total and total (% Infection) associated with *M. hapla* populations recovered across regions (RG: East, Southwest-SW and Northwest-NW), soil groups (SG: Muck and Mineral), from inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of RG, SG and IN.

	F	actors***	Ga	all*	Ner	Nematodes in 2g of roots*				
	RG	RG SG IN				Tot	al	Total (% Infection)		
	-	Muck	2000	1.2	b	77.6	с	3.9	ab	
	-	Mineral	2000	1.2	b	109.4	bc	5.5	ab	
	-	Muck	4000	2.5	а	140.0	b	3.5	b	
	-	Mineral	4000	2.4	а	239.2	a	6.0	а	
	Е	-		1.2	b	80.5	d	4.0	cd	
	SW	-	2000	1.0	b	104.8	cd	5.2	cd	
	NW	-		1.4	b	108.5	c	5.4	ab	
	Е	-		2.5	а	146.4	c	7.2	d	
	SW	-	4000	2.6	а	215.0	b	10.8	bc	
	NW	-		2.3	a	246.7	a	12.4	а	
		SG			0.080**		0.001**		1**	
		IN		0.00	0.005**		0.001**		72	
Jes		RG		0.8	0.812		0.006**		7**	
valı		SG*IN	0.1	0.183		**	0.883			
P-		SG*RG		0.3	15	0.003	**	0.00	3**	
		RG*IN		0.4	0.486		0.010**		29	
		SG*RG*IN	[0.9	0.970		0.010**		0.426	

*Means followed by same letters in RG x IN or SG x IN not statistically different at p<0.05. **P-values of the three-way ANOVA are statistically different at p<0.05.

***Factors not considered for mean comparisons are replaced by a dash (-).

Galling was significantly higher in the high than in the low inoculum in both SFW groups and not affected by two- or three-way interactions of soil group, soil food web and inocula (**Table 4.6**). Total infection significantly differed by soil conditions and inocula as well as the two- and three-way interaction of soil group, soil conditions, and inocula. The high inoculum from degraded soil had the highest and the low inoculum from disturbed the lowest infection. Percent infection was higher in the high inoculum than in the low inoculum

in degraded and disturbed soil conditions. The effect of soil groups, and the interactions of soil groups and soil conditions and inoculum on percent infection was significant (**Table 4.6**).

Table 4.6 | Means of gall, total and % Infection associated with *M. hapla* populations recovered from soil health (SFW: disturbed and degraded) conditions and inocula (IN: 2000 and 4000) and the three-way interaction (p-values) of soil group (SG), SFW and IN.

	Factor	Factors Call*		Nematodes	in 2g of roots*	
	SFW	IN	Gall*	Total	% Infection	
	Disturbed	2000	1.7 B	92.2 D	4.6 B	
	Degraded	2000	2.1 B	242 B	12.1 B	
	Disturbed	4000	2.2 A	128.3 C	6.4 A	
	Degraded	4000	3.0 A	328.7 A	16.4 A	
	SG		0.0635	0.0110**	0.0095**	
	IN		0.0007**	0.0006**	0.9260	
les	SFW		0.8528	0.0462**	0.0531	
valı	SG*IN		0.1090	0.0365**	0.6818	
P-1	SG*SFW		0.3057	0.0270**	0.0269**	
	SFW*IN		0.6564	0.0259**	0.0447**	
	SG*SFW	/*IN	0.8156	0.0331**	0.2488	

*Means followed by same letters across SFW x IN not statistically different at p<0.05.

**P-values of the three-way ANOVA are statistically different at p<0.05.

Discussion

The nine *M. hapla* populations from muck and mineral soils with degraded and disturbed SFW conditions from three regions of the lower peninsula of Michigan overall separated into highest (Population 13), medium (Population 8) and lowest (Populations 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) PV categories based on the reproductive potential. Populations 8 and 13 are from mineral soils and Populations 5, 14 and 15 are from muck soils with degraded SFW conditions. Population 2 from mineral soil and Populations 4, 6 and 10 from muck soils are from disturbed SFW conditions. Consequently, the hypothesis that PV in *M. hapla* populations was related to specific SFW conditions is not supported. The *M. hapla* populations' developmental stages recovered in roots, total, percent infection and galling varying by SFW condition, soil group and region where they came from alone and/or by their interactions support an alternative hypothesis that the conditions where PV exists are likely to be variable within or across soil groups.

The use of 2000 and 4000 eggs per 300 cm³ soil inoculum levels was designed to see if the same PV trends exist across inocula. As expected and observed in previous studies (Park *et al.*, 2005; Viaene & Abawi, 1996), galling, the relative proportion of nematode developmental stages in roots and total infection were higher when inoculated with 4000 eggs than with 2000 eggs. The similar trends in the PV indicators across the *M. hapla* populations within an inoculum level suggests that the same information may be deciphered from a single inoculum level (Mennan et al., 2006).

The higher proportion of undifferentiated than differentiated eggs of the inoculum cohort seems to be reflected in the proportion of J2s, J3/J4 and adults recovered in roots. More J3/J4s and adults than J2s were recovered across the *M. hapla* populations. Given the number of DD (between 398 and 667) accumulated during the studies, the J3/J4s and adults are likely to be from the inoculum cohort (group of nematodes the penetrated roots around the same time) and the J2s an initiation of a second generation (East et al., 2019; Inserra et al., 1983; Vrain et al., 1978). Thus, any differences in reproductive potential among the populations are likely to be independent of the inoculum cohort.

Differences in reproductive potential among *M. hapla* populations have been previously reported (Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013; Stephan and Trudgill, 1982). Regardless of the differences in galling and in the proportion of the nematode developmental stages recovered in the roots within or across the *M. hapla* populations in this study, the total and percent infection revealed that Populations 13 and 8 had the highest reproductive potential. Why Populations 13 and 8 differed in reproductive potential between each and from the rest of the populations remains to be determined.

The higher reproductive potential of nematode populations originating from mineral compared to muck soil in this study are consistent with earlier reports (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Norton, 1978). What is significant and new here is that the SFW conditions from where Populations 13 and 8 originated degraded (Ferris *et al.*, 2001). However, populations in muck soils with the same level of SFW degradation scale were among those with the lowest reproductive potential. If the degraded SFW condition is a contributing factor to differences in *M. hapla* populations' reproductive potential, this study suggests that the effect is not the same in mineral and muck soil groups. What factors in the degraded SFW conditions in mineral and muck soils are contributing to increase or decrease in *M. hapla* populations' reproductive potential is unknown.

The locations from where these *M hapla* populations came have highly variable crop production systems (Lartey et al., 2021), and are similar to studies that reported PV in other nematodes (Melakeberhan et al., 2010; Riggs and Schmitt, 1988; Stephan and Trudgill,

1982). It also is known that production systems alter the soil biophysicochemistry that may directly or indirectly influence nematodes (Babin et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Mateille et al., 2020; Melakeberhan et al., 2007). In Field 15 for instance, the use vydate as a plant parasitic nematode control (**Appendix B**) likely influenced characteristics of nematode populations sampled. The two- to four-way interaction effects of inoculum, soils group, SFW conditions, and region on PV indicators in this study suggest that the factors contributing to *M. hapla* populations' reproduction potential are likely to be many and without a clear trend in both soil groups.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study for the first-time establishes connections between *M. hapla* populations' reproductive potential and SFW conditions. This, in turn, lays down a foundation for exploring the contributing biophysicochemical factors to parasitic variability.

CHAPTER 5

CHARACTERIZING MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE NORTHERN ROOT-KNOT NEMATODE (*MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA*) OCCURRENCE AND SOIL HEALTH

Abstract

While PV of Meloidogyne hapla populations from Michigan vegetable production fields seem to have a relationship with the soil health conditions they exist in, it is not known how M. hapla occurrence relates to microbial communities. In order to improve understanding of soil biophysicochemical conditions of the environment where *M. hapla* populations exhibited PV, this study characterized the soil microbial community structure associated with M. hapla occurrence and soil health conditions in 15 Michigan mineral and muck vegetable production fields, and identified core microbiome and indicator species related to PV. Soils were collected, their nematode communities were characterized and assessed for PV, and high throughput sequencing of 16S and Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) rDNA was used to characterize bacterial and fungal communities in soil samples. Results showed that, M. haplainfested, as well as disturbed and degraded muck fields, had lower bacterial diversity (observed richness and Shannon) than corresponding mineral soil fields or non-infested mineral fields. Bacterial and fungal community abundance varied by soil group, soil health conditions and/or *M. hapla* occurrence. A core of 39 bacteria and 44 fungi OTUs occurred *M.* hapla infested and non-infested fields. An indicator of 25 bacteria OTUs were associated with *M. hapla* presence or absence. Collectively, the results provide a foundation for in-depth understanding of the environment where *M. hapla* exists and conditions associated with PV.

Introduction

The occurrence of *Meloidogyne hapla* populations with parasitic variability (PV) across Michigan vegetable production fields are associated with different soil health conditions (Lartey et al., 2021; Chapter 4). Moreover, these populations show no genetic or morphological variation (Liu and Williamson, 2006; Opperman et al., 2008), but differ in how they elicit a plant host reaction such as galling and reproductive potential (Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013; Chapter 4). The soils where *M. hapla* occurs range from sandy and low in organic matter to muck soils with high organic matter, and it has been established that populations from mineral soils have higher parasitism than those from muck soils (Melakeberhan et al., 2010). However, the mechanisms by which *M. hapla* PV relates to soil type remains unknown.

In order to understand how *M. hapla* PV relates to soil types in the landscapes, it is important to consider soil health and the soil environment in relation to the biology of *M. hapla*. Soil health, defined as a given soil's ability to function and deliver desired ecosystem services, has biological, physicochemical, nutritional, structural and hydrological integrity components (Lal, 2011). Intensive cultivations and agricultural inputs in the landscapes where *M. hapla* exists have resulted in the varying degrees of degradation of the soil health conditions (Lartey et al., 2021).

Soil is a dynamic environment and it is reasonable to assume that an organism that exists therein has to adapt to soil health conditions (McSorley, 2003; Melakeberhan et al., 2004). Within this context, it is worth considering the biology of *M. hapla*, which has an egg, 2nd, 3rd and 4th stage juveniles and adult stage (East et al., 2019). Eggs are laid in a gelatinous matrix completely inside a root or exposed to the soil. The 2nd stage juvenile, infective stage, hatches from the egg, migrates through the soil, pierces the root with its stylet, establishes a feeding site and draws nutrient from the host. The 3rd and 4th stages are completely inside the

root. The 2^{nd} stage juvenile has the most exposure to all of elements in the soil environment. Hence, quantifying soil health is necessary in order to determine if any relationship between *M. hapla* presence and/or PV and soil conditions exist.

Recently, Lartey et al. (2021) used the beneficial nematode community analysis-based Ferris et al. (2001) soil food web (SFW) model to map out M. hapla distribution in 15 mineral and muck fields in three vegetable production regions of Michigan. The SFW model uses the relationship between changes in nematode population dynamics in response to resource and reproductive potential (Enrichment Index, EI) and resistance to disturbance (Structure Index, SI). The relationship between EI (x-axis) and SI (y-axis) categorizes soil conditions in terms of nutrient cycling potential and agroecosystem suitability in four quadrants from best to worst case scenarios. These are: enriched and unstructured (Quadrant A, disturbed), enriched and structured (Quadrant B, best case scenario), resource limited and structured (Quadrant C), or resource-limited and minimal structure (Quadrant D, degraded, worst case). Quadrants B are bacterial feeding nematode dominated and Quadrant D is biologically depleted and nutritionally degraded. Meloidogyne hapla was found in soil conditions fitting the disturbed (Quadrant A) and degraded (Quadrant D) in both soil groups (Lartey et al. (2021). In a follow up study, two of the *M. hapla* populations (8 and 13) from mineral and degraded soils had significantly higher reproductive potential than the rest of the populations (Chapter 4). While confirming earlier reports that *M. hapla* populations from mineral soils have higher reproductive potential than populations from muck soils (Melakeberhan et al., 2010; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2012), this study for the first time established a soil health component to M. hapla PV.

The field observation and experimental studies raises the overarching question: Could there be general and/or specific connections between *M. hapla* PV and the soil health and biophysicochemical components therein? The role of soil microbiome in regulating nutrient

cycling and soil health (Chaparro et al., 2012; Pajares and Bohannan, 2016; Saleem et al., 2019; Sanjuan et al., 2020) and nematode-microbiome antagonistic (Chen and Dickson, 1998; Topalović et al., 2020) and mutual (Cao et al., 2015; Colagiero et al., 2020; Tian et al., 2015; Yergaliyev et al., 2021) interactions are well documented. At this stage, it is difficult to tell what direct and/or indirect relationship, if any, may exist between the presence or absence of *M hapla* with the soil microbiome and soil conditions. However, it is worth noting the occurrence of *M. hapla* in disturbed and resource-enriched (Quadrant A) and degraded and resource-depleted (Quadrant D) in mineral and muck soils, and that populations with the highest reproductive potential were from mineral soil with degraded soil health conditions (Chapter 4). If there is any attributable relationship between soil health conditions and *M. hapla* PV, microbial community composition and/or structure will be a likely indicator.

Our objectives in this study were three-fold. First, we aimed to characterize the soil microbiome structure and diversity in mineral and muck soil fields with varying soil health conditions and presence or absence of *M. hapla*. We hypothesize that soil microbiome would differ significantly between soil groups and soil health conditions. Our second aim was to determine the core-microbiome associated with *M. hapla* occurrence across fields using the abundance-occupancy distributions as suggested by Shade and Stopnisek, (2019). Here, we define the core-microbiome as the most abundant and prevalent taxa shared across most fields. We hypothesize that the core-microbial members were present in at least most of the *M. hapla* infested and non-infested fields. Our third aim was to identify indicator-microbes associated with *M. hapla* occurrence and soil food web (SFW) conditions. Based on *M. hapla* occurrence or SFW conditions, indicator-microbes are distinguishable across the different soil health conditions. We hypothesize that there are microbial indicators associated with *M. hapla* occurrence or SFW conditions. Collectively, the outcomes of this research will help to establish foundations towards understanding the mechanism of *M. hapla* PV.

Materials and methods

Sample Sites with Meloidogyne hapla Occurrence

Samples were collected from 6 muck and 9 mineral soils in the eastern, southwestern and northwestern vegetable production areas in the lower peninsula of Michigan, USA. The distribution of sampled fields in the three regions, and their soil health conditions as described by the SFW model, soil groups, and presence or absence of *M. hapla* are graphically depicted in **Figure 5.1** (Lartey et al., 2021). Three of the muck soil fields are located in the east, 1 in the southwest and 2 northwest, and the 9 mineral soil fields were equally distributed across the 3 regions. Three muck and 1 mineral soil fields were characterized as having disturbed (Quadrant A), 3 muck and 6 mineral fields as degraded (Quadrant D), and 2 mineral fields matured (Quadrant B) SFW conditions. *Meloidogyne hapla* was present in all muck and 3 mineral soils (**Figure 5.1**; Lartey et al., 2021).



Figure 5.1 | Description of the 15 agricultural fields showing *M. hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]), soil group (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]), soil food web conditions (SFW: D-Degraded [red], A-Disturbed [yellow], B-Maturing [green]), and regions (E-Eastern [grey], S-Southwestern [purple] and N-Northwestern [orange]).

Statistical Analyses

Data files containing OTU tables, taxonomy, mapping, and OTU sequences were loaded into the R (version 4.0.2) statistical environment (R Core Team, 2020) and used to create a phyloseq object for further analysis in the phyloseq package (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013). Sequences belonging to non-target organisms including Archaea, chloroplast and mitochondria were removed from 16S data prior to performing analysis (Zhang et al., 2019). OTUs determined to be contaminants in negative controls were removed with the decontam package (Davis et al., 2018). Alpha diversity (within sample diversity) was estimated for each sample following recommendations in McMurdie and Holmes, (2014). The alpha diversity was estimated using observed richness (Simpson, 1949) and Shannon diversity (Hill, 1973) within the BiodiversityR and vegan packages (Dixon, 2003; Kindt and Coe, 2005). OTU richness and Shannon diversity were visualized for each field with boxplots in ggplot2 (Wickham, 2016). Differences in alpha diversity means across fields were tested for statistical significance using Kruskal Wallis tests in the stats package (R Core Team, 2020). Afterward, a pairwise Wilcox test with an FDR (false discovery rate) p value correction was performed on fields according to M. hapla occurrence in soil groups and soil health conditions. Following alpha diversity analyses, OTUs with less than five reads in a single sample were placed to zero to account for tag switching and to account for PCR errors (Lindahl et al., 2013; Oliver et al., 2015). Stacked-barplots for bacterial communities were created in ggplot2 to show phyla and taxonomic classes with >2% relative abundance while classes with <2% abundance grouped as other (Wickham, 2016). Fungal stacked-barplots were created to show all phyla and families with >1.5% relative abundance while families with <1.5% abundance grouped as other. Next, data were normalized by cumulative sum scaling in the metagenomeseq package (Paulson et al., 2013). Following normalization, beta diversity was analyzed in the phyloseq and vegan packages by creating Principal Coordinate

Analysis (PCoA) plots with the "ordinate" and "plot_ordination" functions. Here, *M. hapla* occurrence relative to soil group and region community patterns were reported. An ellipse covering 70% of data points was drawn to show clusters of *M. hapla* occurrence in soil groups. Community patterns identified in PCoA plots were tested for statistical significance using PERMANOVA as implemented by the "adonis" function in vegan. Homogeneity of variance between modeled groups was analyzed with the "betadisper" function in vegan.

The most prevalent (core) microbes were identified following the "increase-method" described by Shade and Stopnisek (2019). Briefly, microbial OTUs were ranked by occupancy across fields, the proportion of total community explained by core subset taxa estimated using the Bray-Curtis method for beta-diversity, and core-taxa identified at 2% as the threshold for a marginal return in the explanatory value. The taxonomic genera of the identified core-taxa were assigned using NCBI nucleotide BLAST® (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PAGE_TYPE=BlastSearch) and then visualized using relative abundance stacked-plots.

Taxa closely associated with (a) *M. hapla* occurrence across the fields and (b) soil health conditions were determined with the indicspecies package (Cáceres and Legendre, 2009). Following identification of indicator OTUs, p-values were FDR adjusted, and only taxa with adjusted p<0.05 were considered to be indicators. The top 25 most abundant identified indicator taxa associated with *M. hapla* occurrence were used to create heatmaps displaying the relative abundance distributions across fields in the ComplexHeatmap package in R (Gu et al., 2016). The taxonomic genera of the top 25 indicators were assigned using NCBI nucleotide BLAST®

(<u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PAGE_TYPE=BlastSearch</u>). Indicators associated with soil health conditions were visualized with a Venn diagram. All R code and files for

producing figures and tables including metadata and OTU tables are available at: https://github.com/larteyis/Scientific-Papers-R-

Code/tree/main/Lartey_et_al_2021_Field_M.hapla_Associated_Microbiome.

Results

To study bacteria and fungi communities associated with the northern root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne hapla*), a total of 75 soil samples were collected for high-throughput amplicon sequencing. These included the 6 muck (4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) and 3 mineral soils (2, 8 and 13) from fields infested with *M. hapla*, and 6 non-infested mineral soil fields (1, 3, 7, 9, 11 and 12) with either degraded, disturbed or maturing soil health conditions in three regions. Each of these 75 samples were analyzed for 16S, as well as for ITS rDNA fungal diversity. The total raw sequence reads obtained for 16S and ITS libraries were 3,443,432 and 1,283,828, respectively. The quality filtering procedure obtained 12,906 OTUs for 16S and 2,067 OTUs for ITS.

Bacterial community composition

Only 10 phyla had greater than 2% relative abundance. Phyla with less than 2% are presented as other (**Figure 5.2 A**). The detected phyla were present at varying proportions and occurring in all fields or varying by presence or absence of *M. hapla*, soil health conditions and/or region. Acidobacteria (9.3% to 18.3%), Actinobacteria (8.7% to 19.8%), Bacterioidetes (3.4% to 15.8%), Chloroflexi (2.9% to 9.8%), Planctomycetes, (2.2% to 6.0%), Proteobacteria (32.3% to 52.3%), and other (2.9% to 5.5%) were present in soils from all fields. Verrucomicrobia and Gemmatimonadetes were absent in disturbed SFW and *M. hapla*-infested muck Field 4 (east region) and non-infested mineral Field 7 (southwest

region), respectively. Nitrospirae was present only in *M. hapla*-infested and disturbed Field 4 (east) and degraded Fields 14 and 15 (northwest) muck soils. Firmicutes were present in *M. hapla*-infested and disturbed SFW muck Field 10 (southwest) and degraded mineral Fields 8 (southwest) and 13 (northwest), as well as in non-infested mineral Fields 1 and 3 (east) and 7 (southwest) with degraded and 11 and 12 (northwest) with maturing SFW conditions (**Figure 5.2 A**).



Figure 5.2 | Stacked bar plots of 15 agricultural fields by *M. hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]), soil group (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: D-Degraded [red], A-Disturbed [yellow], B-Maturing [green]) of (A) bacteria phyla, and (B) fungi phyla. Colors of bacteria and fungi correspond with colors in the stacked bar plots and each bar represents a field. Other unassigned bacterial and fungal phyla were classified as other. Relative abundance of bacterial and fungal phyla variable across the 15 sampled fields.

Of the 27 classes of bacteria with more than 2% relative abundance,

Alphaproteobacteria (12.7% to 21.7%), Acidobacteria-6 (2.5% to 8.6%), Actinobacteria (6.2% to 9.8%), Betaproteobacteria (5.0% to 8.0%), Deltaproteobacteria (4.3% to 11.4%), Gammaproteobacteria (3.9% to 14.3%) and those with less than 2% relative abundance (15.4% to 24.7%) occurred in all fields (**Figure 5.3 A**). The less prevalent classes had variable absence or presence mostly relative to soil group and *M. hapla* occurrence. These included absence of Saprospirae and Spartobacteria in one or more of the muck fields with varying soil health conditions, Chloracidobacteria in disturbed Field 6 (muck) and in Field 2 (mineral), and Thermoleophilia in degraded Field 7 (mineral). Presence of Acidimicrobiia, Anaerolineae, DA052, Ellin6529, Gemm-1, and Nitrospira was limited to one or more of the muck fields while Ktedonobacteria and Phycisphaerae were limited to mineral soil Field 2. Acidobacteriia and Solibacteres were present one or more disturbed and/or degraded *M. hapla* infested muck and mineral soils. Cytophagia, Gemmatimonadetes and Pedosphaerae were present in infested and/or non-infested mineral and muck soils; whereas, Sphingobacteriia and Sva0725 were present in infested and/or non-infested mineral soils.

Fungal community composition

Only 5 fungal phyla had greater than 1% relative abundance. The phyla with less than 1% relative abundance were represented as other (**Figure 5.3 B**). Agaricomycetes (1.3% to 3.0%), Ascomycota (56.3% to 59.6%), Basidiomycota (26.8% to 29.4%), and Mortierellomycota (8.6% to 11.6%) and other phyla (1.2% to 3.0%) were present in all of the fields. Glomeromycota (1.1% to 1.2%) were present only in *M. hapla*-infested muck fields with degraded (Fields 5) and disturbed (Field 6) in the eastern and degraded mineral (Fields 13) in the northwest and non-infested (Field 1) in the eastern regions.

Twenty-nine families with at least 1.5% relative abundance were detected (Figure 5.3 B). Cantharellales_fam_incertae_sedis (1.5% to 2.8%), Herpotrichiellaceae (2.3% to 3.1%), Lasiosphaeriaceae (1.7% to 5.6%), Mortierellaceae (10.9% to 14.7%), Mrakiaceae (2.3% to 4.9%), Nectriaceae (15.0% to 20.3%), Pleosporaceae (1.6% to 2.9%) and Strophariaceae (2.5% to 4.4%) were found in all of the fields. The less prevalent families had variable with no particular trend to soil group and/or *M. hapla* occurrence. For example, Chaetosphaeriaceae was absent in a non-infested and mineral (Field 12) with maturing soil health conditions while Lectera and Russulaceae were absent in infested mineral and muck soils and/non-infested mineral soils with varying soil health conditions. Aspergillaceae, Clavulinaceae and Sebacina were present in one or more muck fields with degraded and/or disturbed soil health while Ceratobasidiaceae and Trimorphomycetaceae were present in degraded and *M. hapla* infested mineral soil (Field 8). Hypocreaceae and Plectospaerellaceae were present in degraded and M. hapla infested (Filed 8) and noninfested degraded (Field 7) and maturing (Field 11) mineral soils. Archaeorhizomycetaceae, Cladosporiaceae, Clavariaceae, Clavicipitaceae, Didymellaceae, Hydnodontaceae, Inocybaceae, Marasmiaceae, Sebacinaceae Tricholomataceae and Vibrisseaceae had broad distribution across fields and *M. hapla* infestations (Figure 5.3 B).



Figure 5.3 | Stacked bar plots of 15 agricultural fields showing the relative abundance by *M*. *hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]), soil group (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: D-Degraded [red], A-Disturbed [yellow], B-Maturing [green]) for (A) bacterial classes (>2%), and (B) fungal families (>1.5%). Colors of bacteria and fungi correspond with colors in the stacked bar plots and each bar represents a field. Other unassigned bacterial and fungal groups were classified as other. Relative abundance of bacterial (classes) and fungal (families) groups were variable across the 15 sampled fields.

Bacterial alpha diversity

Alpha diversity of each field was measured using the observed richness and Shannon diversity. Bacterial richness and diversity differed significantly (p<0.05) across all muck and mineral fields (**Figure 5.4 A, B**). Observed richness in muck fields (1 to 2,825 [average 1,193]) was generally lower than in mineral fields (1,187 to 3,403 [average 2,204]). Observed richness in *M. hapla*-infested and disturbed SFW muck Fields 4, 6 and 10, and degraded Fields 5, 14 and 15 was lower than in disturbed (Field 2) and degraded (Fields 8 and 13) mineral soil fields (**Figure 5.4 A**). Shannon diversity in muck (0.0 to 7.2 [average 5.7]) and mineral (6.1 to 7.5 [average 6.9]) fields as well as *M. hapla* infestation and SFW conditions was similar to the observed richness (**Figure 5.4 B**).

Fungal alpha diversity

The observed richness of mineral (1 to 758 [average 185]) and muck (1 to 485 [average 138]), and the Shannon fungal diversity of mineral (0.0 to 6.0 [average 4.3]) and muck (0.0 to 5.6 [average 4.2]) were similar across soil groups (**Figure 5.4 C, D**). In fields, the observed richness of fungi was similar regardless of soil groups, SFW conditions or *M*. *hapla* infestation (**Figure 5.4 C**). Similarly, the Shannon diversity of fungi was similar across the fields of different soil groups, SFW conditions or *M*. *hapla* infestation. (**Figure 5.4 C**).



Figure 5.4 | Alpha diversity boxplots of 15 agricultural fields by *M. hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]), soil group (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: D-Degraded [red], A-Disturbed [yellow], B-Maturing [green]) of (A) bacterial observed richness, (B) bacterial Shannon diversity, (C) fungal observed richness, and (D) fungal Shannon diversity. Outliers on boxplots are displayed as dots. Kruskal Wallis tests were performed to determine significant differences across fields and p-values shown. A pairwise Wilcox test with an FDR p-value correction compared alpha diversity by soil groups based on *M. hapla* occurrence (muck with *M. hapla* present, mineral with *M. hapla* present and mineral with *M. hapla* absent). Each boxplot represents a field. Lines show groups and the asterisk (*) symbol shows differences/similarities of groups. Different asterisks were used to note significant difference (p<0.05).

Beta diversity of bacterial communities

A principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of all field samples was used to show patterns in bacterial communities (**Figure 5.5 A**). Regions were represented by circle (east), triangle (northwest) and square (southwest), and *M. hapla* presence in muck (green) and in mineral (red), and absence (blue). Across soil groups, bacterial community patterns distinctly separated between muck and mineral soils samples along the x- (11.8%) and y-axes (9.3%). In mineral soil, *M. hapla*-infested samples shared bacterial communities with non-infested samples. The ellipse of *M. hapla* infested mineral soil samples slightly overlapped with that of infested muck soil samples. Bacterial communities showed little graphical separations by region.

Results of PERMANOVA showed that bacterial diversity was significantly (p<0.05; perm. = 9999) affected by soil groups (SG), regions (RG), SFW conditions, *M. hapla* (MH) occurrence and their interactions (**Table 5.1**). Between 38.0% and 6.9% variation (R^2) could be explained by all the variables. The test of homogeneity of variance showed a significant (p<0.05) within group dispersion of regions.

Beta diversity of fungal communities

The PCoA of fungal communities did not reveal any patterns based on *M. hapla* occurrence and soil groups (**Figure 5.5 B**). Approximately 30% (15.9% on the x-axis and 14.3% on the y-axis) of the total variation were accounted for. No observable separations along the x- and y-axes were noted in soil groups, regions by *M. hapla* occurrence.

The PERMANOVA showed that fungal diversity was significant (p<0.05; perm = 9999) by SG, RG*MH, and SG*RG*SFW*MH interactions, accounting for 2.4%, 10% and 15% of the variation (R^2), respectively (**Table 5.1**). The homogeneity of variance test did

not reveal any significantly different (p<0.05) within group sample dispersion of any variable.



Figure 5.5 | Principal coordinates analysis plots, based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, of (A) bacterial communities, and (B) fungal communities. Colors represent *Meloidogyne hapla* occurrence in soil groups (Mineral_Absent: red, Mineral_Present: blue, Muck_Present: green), while the shapes represent regions (east: circle, northwest: triangle, southwest: square) of the lower peninsula of Michigan. Categories were separated with a 70% ellipse.

Table 5.1 | Permutational multivariate analysis of variance *adonis* and multivariate homogeneity of groups dispersions analysis (betadisper) results for bacteria and fungi communities associated with *M. hapla* occurrence (MH), soil group (SG), region (RG), soil health (SFW) conditions, and interactions 15 agricultural fields.

	BACTERIA						FUNGI						
	PERMANOVA			DISPE	RSION	PER	MANO	DISPERSION					
Variable	F-value	R ²	P-value	F-value	P-value	F-value	R ²	P-value	F-value	P-value			
MH	5.353	0.069	0.0001	43.036	0.001	1.495	0.020	0.0966	0.702	0.427			
SG	8.368	0.104	0.0001	12.644	0.001	1.788	0.024	0.0383	1.045	0.349			
RG	3.685	0.093	0.0001	0.764	0.467	1.141	0.031	0.2544	0.478	0.608			
SFW	3.867	0.098	0.0001	14.110	0.001	1.198	0.032	0.1985	0.417	0.676			
SG:MH	5.928	0.142	0.0001	12.258	0.001	1.241	0.033	0.1623	0.631	0.551			
RG:MH	3.647	0.173	0.0001	17.803	0.001	1.524	0.100	0.0065	0.303	0.918			
SFW:MH	3.881	0.142	0.0001	14.547	0.002	1.172	0.047	0.1991	0.333	0.797			
SG:SFW:MH	4.608	0.252	0.0001	8.154	0.001	1.241	0.083	0.0884	0.560	0.749			
SG:RG:SFW:MH	3.914	0.380	0.0001	2.591	0.015	1.269	0.150	0.0330	0.215	0.989			

Significant P-values are indicated in bold

Core bacterial communities

Across all of the muck and mineral fields, 39 core bacterial OTUs were detected. These were classified into 11 genera, and unassigned core OTUs labeled as unclassified (Figure **5.6** A). Arthrobacter (17.8% to 67.8%), Devosia (1.1% to 10.0%), Kaistobacter (0.9% to 53.3%) and the unclassified taxa were the most common genera across fields regardless of soil groups, SFW conditions and *M. hapla* occurrence. Other less prevalent core genera were present in both soil groups with either disturbed (Fields 2, 4, 6 and 10), degraded (Fields 1, 3, 7, 8, 9 and 13) or maturing (Fields 11 and 12) and M. hapla-infested muck (Fields 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) and mineral (Fields 2, 8 and 13) or non-infested (Fields 1, 3, 7, 9, 11 and 12) fields. Adhaeribacter, Balneimonas, Dactylosporangium, Paenibacillus, Revranella, Rhodoplanes, Sphingobium and Turicibacter were variable across fields. The core bacteria were made up of the suppressive soil (Arthrobacter and Dactylosporangium), nematicidal (Devosia), enhanced nematode parasitism (Kaistobacter), plant growth promoter (Paenibacillus), soybean cyst associated (Reyranella), root knot nematode associated (Rhodoplanes), polysaccharide_degrader (Sphingobium) functional groups. On the other hand, little information on Adhaeribacter, Balneimonas, and Turicibacter interaction with nematode exist in literature.

Core fungal communities

Forty-four OTUs were detected as the core fungal communities across muck and mineral fields and classified into 6 genera and the unassigned OTUs grouped as unclassified (**Figure 5.6 B**). *Fusarium* (20.0% to 33.4%) was common in all fields regardless of soil groups, SFW conditions and *M. hapla* presence. As part of the core bacteria, *Alternaria*, *Bahusutrabeeja*, *Lectera* and *Saitozyma* varied in soil groups, SFW conditions and *M. hapla* infestation. The core fungi were plant pathogenic (*Fusarium*, *Alternaria* and *Lectera*)

and polysaccharide degrader (*Saitozyma*) functional groups. However, little is known about the function of *Bahusutrabeeja*.



Figure 5.6 | Stacked bar plots of 15 agricultural fields by *M. hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]), soil group (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: D-Degraded [red], A-Disturbed [yellow], B-Maturing [green] for core (A) bacterial, and (B) fungal communities. Colors of bacteria and fungi correspond with colors in the stacked bar plots and each bar represents a field. Other unassigned bacterial and fungal genera assigned as unclassified. Relative abundance of bacterial and fungal genera was variable across the 15 sampled fields.

Indicators of *M. hapla* occurrence and soil health conditions

A heatmap of the top 25 most relatively abundant indicator bacterial OTUs associated with the occurrence of *M. hapla* in all muck and mineral fields are shown in **Figure 5.7**. The indicator OTUs associated with *M. hapla* occurrence were clustered by hierarchical clustering on the y-axis, whereas fields were clustered by Bray Curtis dissimilarity on the x-axis. All mineral soil Fields (8 and 13 and 1, 3, 7, 9, 11 and 12), but Field 2, clustered separately from all the of the muck soil fields. Accordingly, the relatively abundant OTUs in mineral fields were OTU1 to OTU16. The relatively abundant OTUs in the muck Fields 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15 and mineral Field 2, accordingly, were OTU17 to OTU25. On the y-axis, the relatively more abundant OTUs associated with *M. hapla* presence formed a separate cluster from the OTUs associated with *M. hapla* absence.

The indicator bacteria with their functional groups were : *Kaistobacter* (enhanced nematode parasitism), *Chloracidobacteria* (nematicidal), *Rhizobium* (nitrogen fixer), *Brevundimonas* and *Solibacterales* (plant growth promoter), *Flavitalia populi* (plant pathogenic), *Sorangium* (polysaccharide degrader), *Sphingobacteriales* (root knot nematode associated), *Balneimonas* and *Gemmatinomonas* (suppressive soil), *Oxalicibacterium*, *Skermanella, Thauera, Actinobacteria, Syntrophobacteraceae* and *Pedosphaerales* (other). The relatively abundant OTUs in the muck Fields 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15 and mineral Field 2 were: *Actinobacteria, Chloroflexi* (OTU17 and 24), and *Solirubrobacterales* (nematicidal), *Afifella* (root knot nematode associated), *Actinoplanes* (suppressive soil), *Phycicoccus, Pirellulaceae* and *Gaiellaceae* (other).



Figure 5.7 | Bacterial indicator heatmap of the top 25 most abundant of OTUs associated with *M. hapla* occurrence (*Mh*: Present [black] and Absent [blue]) across soil groups (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]). Deeper red color corresponds with a higher bacteria abundance. On the y-axis (hierarchical clustering) is the lower cluster showing indicators associated with *M. hapla* presence (OTU17 to OTU25) and the upper cluster (bray Curtis dissimilarity) showing indicators of *M. hapla* absence (OTU1 to OTU16). The lower cluster with taxa like *Chloroflexi* and *Actinobacteria* was a strong indicator of *M. hapla* presence in muck soils and the mineral Field 2. The top cluster with taxa like *Sorangium* and *Chloracidobacteria* was a strong indicator of mineral fields with and without *M. hapla*. Fields 13 and 8 which were associated with the high and medium PV in Chapter 4 were separated from other low PV populations.

The SFW conditions were disturbed (Fields 2, 4, 6 and 10), degraded or worst case (Fields 1, 3, 7, 8, 9 and 13) and maturing or best case (Fields 11 and 12). A total of 1065 indicator OTUs were associated with the disturbed, degraded and maturing categories of soil health conditions (**Figure 5.8**). Of these, five OTUs were specific to degraded, 89 OTUs to

disturbed, and 787 OTUs to maturing soil health conditions. Soils with degraded SFW conditions had 135 OTUs and those with disturbed conditions shared 49 OTUs with soils that had the maturing conditions. There were no OTUs shared between disturbed, degraded and maturing soil health conditions.



Figure 5.8 | Venn diagram showing the distribution of 1065 bacterial indicators associated with disturbed (A-yellow), degraded (D-red) and maturing (B-green) soil health conditions. The degraded had 5 unique indicators, the disturbed with 89 and the maturing conditions with 787 indicators. The maturing conditions shared 135 indicators with degraded and 49 indicators with the disturbed conditions. No indicators were shared by degraded and disturbed conditions or by all three soil health conditions. A complete list of soil health condition indicators is available using this link (https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1FaYYF25SXTXSKVtTWaJg-TtPEzcwvVme/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=101736667728877041455&rtpof=true&sd=true).

Discussion

A growing body of research indicates that *M. hapla* populations from different soil conditions exhibit parasitic variability (PV, Chapter 4; Melakeberhan et al., 2007; Melakeberhan and Wang, 2013), but little is known about the biophysicochemical basis or mechanisms leading to PV in general and any role of soil microbiome in particular. This study was designed to develop a baseline information towards understanding associations among soil microbiome, soil health and *M. hapla* occurrence.

Microbial diversity and community composition

The first aim was to characterize the soil microbiome structure and diversity in mineral and muck fields that varied in soil health conditions and *M. hapla* occurrence. Our hypothesis that soil microbiome would differ significantly between soil groups (SG) and soil health conditions (SFW) was partially supported by bacterial community composition varying by SG, region (RG), SFW and *M. hapla* occurrence (MH) and that of fungi by SG*RG*SFW*MH. The lower bacterial diversity (observed richness and Shannon) in muck fields with disturbed and degraded soil health conditions than in *M. hapla* infested or non-infested mineral soil with similar degradations also support our hypothesis. In contrast, the lack of difference in diversity and richness of fungi by RG, SFW or MH, but SG does not support the hypothesis. This suggests that, while bacterial composition had several drivers influencing the community structure in the soil only a limited set of factors influence fungal communities. Perhaps, this explains the differences observed in bacterial diversity and lack of difference in fungal diversity.

The variable effects of soil type and/or region on bacterial and fungal community composition and/or diversity are consistent with established facts (Fierer and Jackson, 2006; Zhou and Fong, 2021; Lupatini et al., 2012). These results combined with soil health

conditions and the presence or absence of *M. hapla* reveal the relative abundance of the bacterial and fungal communities commonly occurring in all fields and those varying by SG, RG, SFW and/or MH. The commonly occurring bacterial and fungal phyla like Proteobacteria and Ascomycota, respectively, were the most abundant (Figure 5.2). Similarly, bacterial classes like Alphaproteobacteria, and fungal families like Basidiomycota were present in high proportions and in all fields (Figure 5.3). On the other hand, other bacterial and fungal taxa had low relative abundance as well as absence or presence that varied by SG, RG, SFW and/or *M. hapla* occurrence. The bacterial phylum like Verrucomicrobia and 19 out of the 27 classes, and the fungal phylum like Glomeromycota and 22 of the 29 families had low relative abundance as well as absence or presence that varied by SG, RG, SFW and/or *M. hapla* occurrence (Figure 5.2; Figure 5.3). As shown in Chapter 3, M. hapla was present in 9 out of the 15 fields in the three regions and soil groups with varying soil health conditions. Population 13 had the highest, Population 8 medium, and the rest of the populations (2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) low parasitism, and Populations 5, 8, and 13 came from degraded and Populations 2, 4, 6 and 10 from disturbed soil health conditions (Chapter 4). In this regard, it is more informative to look at the absence or presence of the bacterial and fungal communities relative to the PV of the M. hapla populations and the soil health conditions. For example, the bacterial phyla Verrucomicrobia and Gemmatimonadetes and classes Saprospirae, Spartobacteria and Chloracidobacteria were absent in one or more of the low PV category populations with either disturbed and/or degraded soil health conditions (Figure 5.2; Figure 5.3). Nonetheless, different taxa had different roles in the soil. Verrucomicrobia in the *Xiphinema* spp nematode is associated with pathogenesis (Lazarova et al., 2016; Vandekerckhove et al., 2000). Gemmatimonadetes are known to be abundant in root knot nematode suppressive soils, but Saprospirae and Chloracidobacteria are present in root knot nematode infested and non-infested soils (Zhou

et al., 2019). In tomato, Spartobacteria is known to be associated with the corcky-root disease complex (Lamelas et al., 2020).

The presence of the bacterial phyla Nitrospirae and classes like Acidimicrobiia, limited to one or more of the muck fields, and Ktedonobacteria and Phycisphaerae to mineral soil Field 2 is an example of the association of these communities with the soil where the low PV category populations came from (Figure 3 A). While present in *M. hapla*infested soils, the fungi families Ceratobasidiaceae and Trimorphomycetaceae were limited to mineral soils and Aspergillaceae, Clavulinaceae and Sebacina the bacterial classes Acidobacteriia and Solibacteres were present in both soil groups (Figure 3 A). The presence of Hypocreaceae and Plectospaerellaceae in M. hapla-infested (Field 8) and non-infested degraded (Field 7) and maturing (Field 11) mineral soils, while the bacterial phylum Firmicutes were present in disturbed muck (Field 10) and degraded (Fields 8 and 13) and non-infested mineral (Fields 1, 3, 7, 11 and 12) soil shows their broad distribution across soil degradations with varying soil health degradations (northwest) and maturing SFW conditions. Solibacteres has a negative abundance relationship with *Meloidogyne* spp (Castillo et al., 2017), Nitrospirae suppresses root knot nematode infection, Acidimicrobiia are in root knot nematode infested and non-infested rhizosphere, Phycisphaerae is associated with the root knot nematode infection, and Anaerolineae is enriched in root knot nematode non-infested plants (Zhou et al., 2019). Ktedonobacteria, Nitrospira and Trimorphomycetaceae have nematicidal properties against the root knot nematode affecting soybeans (Toju and Tanaka, 2019). Ceratobasidiaceae, Hypocreaceae and Aspergillaceae are involved in the pine wilt disease vectored by Bursaphelenchus xilophilus (Vicente et al., 2021) and Sebacina is an indicator of the absence of the pine wilt disease (Liu et al., 2021). However not much is known about DA052, Ellin6529, Gemm-1, Clavulinaceae and Acidobacteriia. Finally, the bacterial classes like Cytophagia and Sphingobacteriia (Figure 3
A) and fungal families like Sebacinaceae and Tricholomataceae (**Figure 3 B**) had broad but variable presence across SG, RG, SFW and MH, suggesting that these groups were widely distributed regardless of soil conditions, *M. hapla* occurrence or geography. Cytophagia is known to occur in both infested and non-infested root-knot nematode soils (Zhou et al., 2019) and Sphingobacteriia negatively impacts *Caenorhabditis elegans* population numbers (Dirksen et al., 2016). Sebacinaceae , however, antagonizes cyst nematode infection and development in *Arabidopsis* roots (Daneshkhah et al., 2013), and Tricholomataceae negatively affects the activity of the pinewood nematode (*Bursaphelenchus xilophilus*) (Ishizaki et al., 2015).

Core microbial communities

Our second aim was to identify core soil microbiome associated with the occurrence of *M. hapla* across fields using the abundance-occupancy distributions as suggested by Shade and Stopnisek, (2019). We identified 39 bacterial and 44 fungal as core-microbes present in at least most of the *M. hapla* infested and non-infested fields, supporting our hypothesis. *Fusarium*, a ubiquitous and diverse fungal genus, and the bacterial genera *Arthrobacter*, *Devosia*, *Kaistobacter* (as well as unclassified taxa) were present in all of the fields. *Arthrobacter* includes decomposers (Cacciari and Lippi, 2009), *Kaistobacter* appears to suppress bacterial wilt (Liu et al., 2016), and *Devosia* has a soil toxin degrading (Talwar et al., 2020), as well as antagonistic traits against the plant-parasitic nematodes *Pratylenchus neglectus*, *M. chitwoodi* and *Globodera pallida* (Castillo et al., 2017; Eberlein et al., 2016). If the core microbiome is related to PV, it is reasonable to assume that the variable groups may be involved.

The presence of the rest of the 39 bacteria and 44 fungi core OTUs in the fields across the three regions varied by soil group and *M. hapla* occurrence. The *M. hapla*

Populations 2, 8 and 13 were from mineral soil and Populations 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15 were from muck soil. Population 13 had significantly higher reproductive potential from Population 8, and both from the rest of the populations (Chapter 4). Whether or not the core microbial populations contribute to *M. hapla* PV is yet to be determined, but their presence or absence is worth noting. The higher reproductive potential of Population 13 lacked the fungus *Alternaria* and the bacteria *Reyranella* and *Rhodoplanes*. On the other hand, Population 8 with a medium PV lacked bacteria *Paenibacillus* and *Reyranella* and the fungus *Lectera*. *Paenibacillus* is a beneficial bacteria that enhances plant growth through nitrogen fixation, phosphate and potassium solubilization (Patowary and Deka, 2020). *Reyranella* is found to be associated with *Heterodera glycines* (Hu et al., 2017) and *Rhodoplanes* has a positive relationship with *M. incognita* (Castillo et al., 2017). *Alternaria* is a pathogen of the citrus black rot disease (Umer et al., 2021) and *Lectera* is a legume pathogen (Cannon et al., 2012). Otherwise, the detection of the other core bacteria and fungi in mineral and muck soils infected with one or more of the respective populations suggests that the *M. hapla* populations were exposed to common microbiome.

With regards to soil health conditions, *Balneimonas, Dactylosporangium, Rhodoplanes* and *Sphigobium* and the fungi *Bahusutrabeeja, Lectera* and *Saitozyma* were common to the disturbed and degraded muck and mineral soils. The bacteria *Paenibacillus* was detected in disturbed and degraded mineral and disturbed muck and the fungus *Cladosporium* in disturbed mineral and disturbed and degraded muck soil. Although there is not much information about *Bahusutrabeeja* and *Balneimonas* in the literature, other core microbes associated with soil health condition had different roles. *Dactylosporangium* was found in *Heterodera glycines* suppressive soils (Topalović et al., 2020). *Saitozyma* is a yeast (Li et al., 2020) and *Sphingobium* produces enzymes which allow sugars to be degraded (Balows et al., 1992; Wu et al., 2017). *Cladosporium* is involved in the increase of systemic

defense in pine to reduce the incidence of *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* infectivity (Chu et al., 2019). While the role of the core microbes reported herein relative to *M. hapla* PV is unknown, documenting their presence or absence is helpful towards understanding the SFW conditions in which *M. hapla* exists.

Indicator bacterial communities relative to M. hapla occurrence

The third aim of this study was to identify indicator-microbes associated with M. hapla occurrence and soil food web (SFW) conditions. Twenty-five bacterial OTUs were indicators for *M. hapla* presence or absence, and none of the 1065 soil health indicator OTUs were common to the three categories - disturbed, degraded and matured. The clustering of the bacterial communities by *M. hapla* and soil health conditions partially support the hypothesis that there are indicator-microbes associated with *M. hapla* occurrence or SFW conditions (Figure 5.7). While the bacterial indicator species enrichment in the fields was variable, all of the mineral soil fields, but Field 2, clustered separately from the muck fields, all of which are *M. hapla* infested. This suggests that there may be soil-specific factors driving the indicator species. The infested muck soils regardless of SFW conditions were clustered and shared Chloroflexi sp. (OTU17), Actinobacteria sp., Phycicoccus sp., Solirubrobacterales sp., and Pirellulaceae sp. Chloroflexi and Solirubrobacterales are part of a consortia of anti-nematode bacteria in the rhizosphere of soybean plants attacked by root-knot nematodes (Toju and Tanaka, 2019) and Actinobacteria introduced to strawberry root by Pratylenchus penetrans cause a decline in strawberry yield. However, little is known about the role of *Phycicoccus* and *Pirellulaceae*.

Although *M. hapla* populations in Field 2 had similar PV category as those from muck soil (Chapter 4), why it separated with the muck soils is unknown. The fields where *M. hapla* populations 13 and 8, with highest PV, and Population 2 came from had

Sorangium sp., Chloracidobacteria sp., Balneimonas sp., Gemmatinomonas sp., Flavitalia populi, Rhizobium sp., Oxalicibacterium sp., Solibacterales sp., Sphingobacteriales sp., Chloroflexi sp. (OTU17), and Solirubrobacterales sp. in common. Yet, Populations 8 and 13 were separate from Population 2 and all of the populations from muck soil. It is unknown if the enrichment of Actinoplanes sp, and Actinobacteria sp. (OTU18) in Field 2, none in Field 8, and that of Actinobacteria sp. (OTU14) and Pedosphaerales sp. in Field 13, and that, the latter two fields were degraded and the former field disturbed soil health conditions contributed the similarity and differences in clustering of the these populations. Sorangium has enzymes which breaks down plant cell walls (Li et al., 2013) and Chloracidobacteria is part of the microbiome in the rhizosphere known to suppress root knot nematode infection (Zhou et al., 2019). Balneimonas is associated with amendment treated soils that suppresses verticillium wilt (Inderbitzin et al., 2018), Gemmatinomonas and Actinoplanes are present in plant parasitic nematode suppressive soils (Topalović et al., 2020) and Flavitalia is associated with apple replant disease (Kanfra et al., 2022). Rhizobium fixes nitrogen in plant to enhance growth (Maróti and Kondorosi, 2014), Solibacterales enhances plant growth by mobilizing phosphorus in the soil (Bergkemper et al., 2016) and Sphingobacteriales is associated with *M. incognita* infection in tomato roots (Tian et al., 2015). The function of Oxalicibacterium and Pedosphaerales were not known. Whether or not the shared indicators have a relationship with PV, is not fully understood.

Meloidogyne hapla was isolated in mineral and muck soils with disturbed, degraded and maturing soil health conditions (Lartey et al., 2021), and Populations 13 and 8 from degraded mineral soil had significantly higher reproductive potential than the rest of the populations in both soil health categories (Chapter 4). Out of the 1,065 indicator bacterial species that were found across the soil health categories, 73.9% in the maturing, 8.4% in the disturbed, 0.4% in the degraded, supporting generally known facts about soil degradation

relative to microbial communities (Chapter 3). The soils with maturing shared 8.4% with disturbed and 12.7% with the degraded soil health conditions, suggesting that some commonality between the overlapping soil health conditions. The lack of common indicator OTUs between disturbed and degraded soil health suggests that the conditions in these soil health groups select for different microbes. Whether or not these differences contribute to differences in *M. hapla* populations PV has yet to be determined.

Characterizing the microbial communities in soils where *M. ha*pla occurs relative to PV is an important first step of knowing the soil environments populations survive and interact with. However, whether all or some of the soil microbes are directly, indirectly or of no consequence relative to PV demands further investigation. By isolating *M. hapla* nematodes and characterizing the associated microbes just like the Russian wheat aphid (Luna et al., 2018) this will answer question: What microbial composition and functional groups could be associated with *M. hapla* PV?

Conclusions

This study provides insights into the microbial community structure, the core- and indicatormicrobiome associated with *M. hapla* occurrence in mineral and muck soil groups across disturbed and degraded soil food web conditions. We established that *M. hapla*-infested and disturbed and degraded muck fields had lower bacterial diversity (observed richness and Shannon) than corresponding mineral soil fields or non-infested mineral fields. Bacterial and fungal abundance varied by soil group, soil health conditions and/or *M. hapla* occurrence. A core of 39 bacteria and 44 fungi OTUs occurred either across all fields or varying by soil group, soil health conditions and/or *M. hapla* occurrence. We found 25 indicator bacteria OTUs associated with *M. hapla* presence or absence. Taken together, these findings reveal the microbial communities which exist with *M. hapla* populations in different soil groups and

soil health conditions and how it may be related to PV.

CHAPTER 6

COMPOSITION AND FUNCTION OF BACTERIAL COMMUNITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE NORTHERN ROOT-KNOT NEMATODE (*MELOIDOGYNE HAPLA*) POPULATIONS SHOWING PARASITIC VARIABILITY

Abstract

A diverse soil microbial community structure is known to co-exist with Meloidogyne hapla occurrence across different soil health conditions in mineral and muck Michigan vegetable production fields. However, it is not known what microbial relationships or the lack of, are associated with M. hapla populations' PV. Using M. hapla populations isolated from mineral and muck soil fields with disturbed and degraded soil health conditions, and their greenhouse cultures showing PV, the populations were studied for the presence and/or absence of specific bacterial composition and functional groups. The 16S DNA of field and greenhouse isolated *M. hapla* populations were sequenced to characterize bacteria. The results showed 65 genera in the field and 61 genera in the greenhouse had a variable composition with 14 known functional groups (in brackets) and unknown or other groups. Population 13 with the highest PV was associated with the unique absence of *Mesorhizobium* (nitrogen fixer) and Ohtaekwangia (suppressive soils) in the field and Devosia (nematicidal), Kibdelosporangium (anti bacteria), Mycobacterium (animal pathogenic) and Steroidobacter (suppressive soil) in the greenhouse. On the other hand, the medium PV of Population 8 was uniquely associated with the presence of Brevundimonas (plant growth promoter), Candidatus Udaeobacter (antibiotic resistant), Hyphomicrobium (other), Mucilaginibacter (plant growth promoter), Nocardioides (nematicidal), Roseiarcus (other) and Solirubrobacter (nematicidal) in the field and Hyphomicrobium (other) in the greenhouse. The low reproductive potential was found to be associated with several bacteria. The findings of this study lay the foundation in establishing potential cause-and-effect relationships associated with M. hapla PV.

Introduction

Meloidogyne hapla occurrence across mineral and muck fields with different soil health conditions have been found to co-exist with a diversity of soil microbial communities (Chapter 5). However, information on *M. hapla* distribution and PV relative to soil biophysicochemical and soil health conditions is limited. Recent studies designed to understand the soil environment in which *M. hapla* exists in the lower peninsula of Michigan (USA) revealed three points. First, M. hapla distribution in mineral and muck soils was related to soil food web (SFW) conditions described in the Ferris et al., (2001) model as disturbed (enriched and unstructured), degraded (resource-limited and minimal structure) or maturing (enriched and structured) (Lartey et al., 2021). Degraded SFW conditions have been correlated with poor soil health conditions (Melakeberhan et al., 2021a). Second, M. hapla populations isolated from mineral soils with degraded soil health conditions had higher PV (based on the reproductive potential) than populations from mineral and muck soils with similar conditions (Chapter 4). Third, analysis of the soil microbiome in the soils where M. hapla was isolated from identified 39 bacterial and 44 fungal core-microbiome, and 1065 indicator bacteria were associated with soil health conditions and/or M. hapla occurrence (Chapter 5). Core-microbiome are defined as the most abundant and prevalent taxa across fields (Shade and Stopnisek, 2019). Indicator species on the other hand are the microbes with an increased occurrence or abundance associated with a group of sites of a similar characteristic(s) (Cáceres and Legendre, 2009).

In general, a myriad of soil microbes have varying association with *M. hapla* (Davies and Williamson, 2006; Topalović et al., 2019). The associations range from fungal spores and an assortment of bacteria attaching to and parasitizing *M. hapla* cuticle (Elhady et al., 2017; Viaene and Abawi, 1998) to lethal-parasitism of *Pasteuria* spp. (Davies and Williamson,

2006), and diminishing (Topalović et al., 2019) or enhancing *M. hapla*'s ability to infect hostplant (Topalović et al., 2022). However, if and how the core bacteria and fungi and/or the indicator bacteria identified in the soils where *M. hapla* occurred may or may not relate to *M. hapla* PV and/or the populations isolated from the fields is unknown.

From the *M. hapla* biology point of view, the 3rd, 4th and adult stages inside the root system and eggs are laid in gelatinous matrix inside the root or protruding out of the root (Desaeger, 2019). The second-stage juvenile, the infective stage, hatches from the egg and migrates through the soil to find the host roots and is most likely to have exposure to soil microbes and the environment therein. What, if any, associations between *M. hapla* and soil microbes that relate to PV may or may not exist is unknown. In this context, we define association as any microbes detected with DNA extract of an *M. hapla* population.

This study is part of a project whose goal is to identify the mechanisms of *M. hapla* PV through understanding the soil environment in which *M. hapla* exists. The study presented herein expands the base line biophysicochemical information of the soil environment in which *M. hapla* PV exists (Lartey et al., 2021) by focusing on associations, or the lack of, between *M. hapla* and bacteria. The objective was to characterize composition and function of bacterial communities associated with *M. hapla* populations isolated from mineral and muck soil fields with disturbed and degraded SFW conditions and their greenhouse cultures showing PV (Lartey et al., 2021). Other studies have shown associations of bacteria (for example *Paraburkolderia, Lectera* and *Penicillium*) with cuticles of *M. hapla*, *M. incognita* and *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Elhady et al., 2017; Topalović et al., 2019). We know that these *M. hapla* populations have PV (Chapter 4) and that there are core bacterial-and fungal-microbiome as well as indicator bacteria associated with soil health conditions and/or *M. hapla* occurrence (Chapter 5). Our hypothesis is that either presence and/or

absence of specific bacterial composition and functional groups are associated with *M. hapla* PV. Knowing whether or not there is an association between specific bacteria and *M. hapla* populations will advance of our understanding of the environment in which *M. hapla* exists and potentially lead towards identifying cause-and-effect relationships of its PV.

Materials and methods

Meloidogyne hapla Populations

Three *M. hapla* populations (2, 8 and 13) from mineral soil and six (4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) from muck soil were collected from vegetable production fields in the eastern, southwestern and northwestern regions in the lower peninsula of Michigan, USA (Lartey et al., 2021). Populations 13, 14 and 15 were from the northwest, Populations 8 and 10 from the southwest, and Populations 2, 4, 5 and 6 were from the eastern regions. Populations 5, 8, 13, 14 and 15 came from degraded and Populations 2, 3, 6 and 10 from disturbed soil health conditions (**Figure 6.1**; Chapter 4). Population 13 had the highest reproductive potential than all of the populations, and Population 8 from Populations 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15 (Chapter 4). In this study, field and greenhouse populations were used. The field populations were isolated from the original soil samples. The greenhouse populations were isolated from greenhouse cultures maintained in a steam-sterilized (100 °C for 8 hrs) mix of top soil, sphagnum peat and sand (supplied by Michigan State University Plant Science Greenhouses [MSUPSG]) on tomato (*Solanum lycopersicon*) cv. 'Rutgers' a standard for testing PV at the MSUPSG over three years (Chapter 4).

	Fie	ld &	Green	hous	se M. I	hapla	Populations		
	13	8	2	4	5	6	10	14	15
SG	Mineral			Muck					
SFW	De	eg	Di	ist	Deg	D	ist	D	eg
RG	NW	SW	East				SW	N	W

Figure 6.1 | Description of the 9 *M. hapla* populations isolated from field and greenhouse populations of different soil groups (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]), soil food web conditions (SFW: Deg-Degraded [red], Dist-Disturbed [yellow]) and regions (RG: East [grey], SW-Southwest [purple] and NW-Northwest [orange]). Sequence of *M. hapla* populations from mineral soils arranged from high to low parasitic variability (PV) but muck populations with low PV (reproductive potential) are arranged numerically.

Statistical and Data Analyses

Data files containing OTU tables, taxonomy, mapping, and OTU sequences were loaded into the R (version 4.0.2) statistical environment (R Core Team, 2020) and used to create a phyloseq object for further analysis, using the phyloseq package (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013). OTU contaminants were removed with a negative control using the decontam package (Davis et al., 2018). Afterwards, three sets of analyses were performed.

First, bacterial phyla and genera composition, and relative abundance were visualized using stacked bar plots for field and greenhouse populations. Afterward, the alpha diversity was estimated for observed richness (Simpson, 1949) and Shannon diversity (Hill, 1973) using the microbiome and vegan packages (Dixon, 2003), and boxplots of the alpha diversity data created with the ggplot2 package (Wickham, 2016). In order to determine statistical differences, Kruskal Wallis test in the stats package was conducted across populations (R Core Team, 2020). Second, in order to visualize and compare microbial communities patterns by soil group and SFW conditions; first, OTUs of less than 5 reads in a sample were filtered out to account for PCR errors (Oliver et al., 2015). Next, the metagenomeseq package (Paulson et al., 2013) was used to normalize the data by cumulative sum scaling. The soil group and SFW microbial community patterns associated with *M. hapla* populations were investigated by creating principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) plots with the ordinate and plot_ordination functions. The statistical significance of microbial community patterns was tested with PERMANOVA as implemented by the adonis function of the vegan package. Afterwards, the within sample variance (homogeneity of variance) were statistically tested with the "betadisper" function found in vegan.

Third, the bacterial composition and relative abundance of assigned functional groups was created. The bacterial genera from the first set of analyses were assigned functional groups based on literature. Across field and greenhouse *M. hapla* populations the functional groups were visualized using stacked bar plots. All the analyses performed are accessible on github (https://github.com/larteyis/PAPER-Bacterial-composition-diversity-and-functional-groups-associated-with-Meloidogyne-hapla-popul).

Results

Community composition

Nine bacterial phyla with 65 genera in the field and 61 genera in the greenhouse *M. hapla* populations were detected at varying proportions (**Figure 6.2**; **Figure 6.3**). The absence or presence and relative abundance of the bacterial communities associated with the populations from mineral (Populations 2, 8 and 13) or muck (Populations 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and

15) soils with either disturbed (Populations 2, 4, 6 and 10) or degraded (Populations 8, 13, 14 and 15) SFW conditions, or high (Population 13), medium (Population 8) or low (Populations 2, 4, 5, 6,10, 14 15) PV category was highly variable (**Figure 6.3**). Thus, the phyla and genera are described as common to all *M. hapla* populations, variable among, specific to or lacking in certain populations from the field and greenhouse.

The phyla Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Myxococcota and Proteobacteria were present in all of the field and greenhouse populations; whereas, the presence of Acidobacteria Chloroflexi, Planctomycetes and Verrucomicrobia had a low and variable relative abundance in both sets of populations (**Figure 6.2 A, B**). At the genera level, *Acidibacter, Actinophytocola, Amycolatopsis, Bradyrhizobium, Candidatus Phytoplasma, Cellvibrio, Chitinophaga, Clostridium sensu stricto, Duganella, Flavobacterium, Frankia, Lechevalieria, Massilia, Paenibacillus, Pseudomonas, Pseudonocardia, Rheinheimera, Rhizobacter* and the unclassified genera were common to all field and greenhouse populations (**Figure 6.3 A, B**). *Haliangium, Kibdelosporangium, Mycobacterium, Novosphingobium, Rhizobium, Rhodoplanes, Sphingomonas* and *Streptomyces* were common to all field populations but variable among the greenhouse populations. Presence or absence of the rest of the genera varied in both the field and greenhouse populations.

Population 13 had *Inquilinus* in common with Populations 5 and 8 and *Caulobacter* with Populations 5 and 15 in the field, and *Halomonas* with Populations 8 and 10 and *Limnohabitans* with Populations 2, 4, 5 and 15 in the greenhouse. *Mesorhizobium* and *Ohtaekwangia* in the field and *Devosia, Kibdelosporangium, Mycobacterium* and *Steroidobacter* in the greenhouse were absent in Population 13. *Streptomyces* in the greenhouse and *Acidothermus, Devosia, Limnohabitans* and *Mycoplasma* in the field were

absent in Population 13 and one or more of the low PV category populations (**Figure 6.3 A**, **B**).

Presence of *Brevundimonas*, *Candidatus Udaeobacter*, *Hyphomicrobium*, *Mucilaginibacter*, *Nocardioides*, *Roseiarcus* and *Solirubrobacter* in the field and *Hyphomicrobium* in the greenhouse was limited to Population 8. Population 8 had the presence of *Catenulispora*, *Gemmata*, *Pedomicrobium*, *Rhodomicrobium*, *Sphingobium*, *Phenylobacterium*, *Variovorax* and *Xanthomonas* in the field, *Brevundimonas*, *Chryseolinea*, *Kribbella*, *Mucilaginibacter*, *Mycoplasma*, *Niastella*, *Novosphingobium*, *Ohtaekwangia*, *Paraburkholderia*, *Rhodoplanes* in the greenhouse, and *Dokdonella*, *Labrys*, *Nocardia* and *Polaromonas* in both field and greenhouse populations in common with one or more of the low PV category populations (**Figure 6.3 A, B**).

The low PV category populations had some unique presence and absence as well. Presence of *Chryseolinea* and *Fluviicola* in the field, *Holdemanella*, *Nocardioides*, *Pedomicrobium*, *Sphingobium*, *Solirubrobacter*, *SM1A02* and *Xanthomonas* in the greenhouse, *Bryobacter* in both field and greenhouse populations were limited to Populations 2. Similarly, and *Holdemanella* and *SM1A02* in the field and *Roseiarcus* in the greenhouse were specific to Population 15 and 6, respectively. *Actinospica* in Populations 2, 4 and 14, and *Kribbella* in Populations 5 and 15 were absent in the field (**Figure 6.3 A**).



Figure 6.2 | Stacked bar plots showing the relative abundance of bacteria genera associated with field (A) and greenhouse (B) *M. hapla* populations originating from different soil groups (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: Deg-Degraded [red], Dist-Disturbed [yellow]). Colors of bacterial phyla correspond with colors in the stacked bar plots and each bar represents a population in either field or greenhouse. Relative abundance of phyla was variable across the field and greenhouse populations. Sequences were assigned to taxonomic groups using the ACT (alignment, classification, tree service; https://www.arb-silva.de/aligner/) tool of SILVA online database.



Figure 6.3 | Stacked bar plots showing the relative abundance of bacterial genera associated with (A) field and (B) greenhouse *M. hapla* populations originating from different soil groups (SG: muck [brown] and mineral [white]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: Deg: Degraded [red] and Dist: Disturbed [yellow]). Sixty genera were detected in both field and greenhouse populations, five (*Norcardia, Rhodomicrobium, Gemmata, Fluviicola and Vibrio*) in only field populations, and one (*Steroidobacter*) in only greenhouse populations. Other OTUs which were not assigned genera were labelled as unclassified. Colors of bacteria and fungi correspond with colors in the stacked bar plots and each bar represents a field. Relative abundance of bacterial genera was variable across the field and the greenhouse populations. Sequences were assigned to taxonomic groups using the ACT (alignment, classification, tree service; https://www.arb-silva.de/aligner/) tool of SILVA online database. Each numbered vertical bar of the plot represents an *M. hapla* population in the field or the greenhouse.

Functional groups

Sixty-five of the bacterial genera detected in the field and greenhouse *M. hapla* populations belonged to 14 functional bacterial groups (**Figure 6.4**; **Table 6.1**). The functional groups and the numbers of genera (in brackets) were: animal-pathogenic (2), anti_bacteria (3), anti-fungi (4), antibiotic-resistant (1), enhanced-nematode-parasitism (1), iron reducing (1), nematicidal (12), nitrogen_fixer (5), others (12), plant_growth_promoter (8), plant_pathogenic (5), polysaccharide-degrader (1), root_knot_nematode_associated (2), soybean-cyst-associated (1) and suppressive_soil bacteria (8) (**Table 6.1**). Another 12 identified genera (*Bryobacter, Catenulispora, Dokdonella, Fluviicola, Holdemanella, Hyphomicrobium, Inquilinus, Labrys, Limnohabitans, Pseudonocardia, Roseiarcus* and *SM1A02*) with little known functions were classified as other. The numbers of bacterial functional groups and genera had varying relative abundance with no clear trends between the field and greenhouse *M. hapla* populations (**Figure 6.4**; **Table 6.1**). The functional groups and genera are described as common to both sets of populations, varying, or specific presence or absence in certain field and greenhouse populations.

Functional groups	Phyla	Genera		
	Actinobacteria	Mycobacterium		
Animal_pathogenic	Bacteroidetes	Flavobacterium		
	Actinobacteria	Kibdelosporangium		
Anti_bacteria	Actinobacteria	Lechevalieria		
	Proteobacteria	Rheinheimera		
	Actinobacteria	Acidothermus		
Andi Ganai	Proteobacteria	Paraburkholderia		
Anti_fungi Bacteroidetes Proteobacteria		Chryseolinea		
	Proteobacteria	Haliangium		
Antibiotic_resistant	Verrucomicrobia	Candidatus Udaeobacter		
Enhance_nematode_parasitism	Proteobacteria	Novosphingobium		
Iron_reducing	Proteobacteria	Acidibacter		
	Proteobacteria	Cellvibrio		
	Bacteroidetes	Chitinophaga		
	Proteobacteria	Devosia		
	Proteobacteria	Duganella		
	Planctomycetes	*Gemmata		
Namaticidal	Actinobacteria	Nocardioides		
Nematicidai	Proteobacteria	Pedomicrobium		
	Proteobacteria	Phenylobacterium		
	Actinobacteria	Solirubrobacter		
	Actinobacteria	Streptomyces		
	Proteobacteria	*Vibrio		
	Proteobacteria	Xanthomonas		
	Proteobacteria	Rhizobium		
	Proteobacteria	Bradyrhizobium		
Nitrogen_fixer	Actinobacteria	Frankia		
	Proteobacteria	Mesorhizobium		
	Proteobacteria	*Rhodomicrobium		

Table 6.1 | Functional groups microbial genera found in field and greenhouse *M. hapla* populations.

*Microbial genera in field but not in greenhouse populations.

**Microbial genera in greenhouse but not in field populations.

All untagged genera were found in both field and greenhouse populations.

Table 6.1 (cont'd)

Functional groups	Phyla	Genera		
	Acidobacteria	Bryobacter		
	Actinobacteria	Catenulispora		
	Proteobacteria	Dokdonella		
	Bacteroidetes	*Fluviicola		
	Firmicutes	Holdemanella		
0.1	Proteobacteria	Hyphomicrobium		
Other	Proteobacteria	Inquilinus		
	Proteobacteria	Labrys		
	Proteobacteria	Limnohabitans		
	Actinobacteria	Pseudonocardia		
	Proteobacteria	Roseiarcus		
	Planctomycetes	SM1A02		
	Actinobacteria	Amycolatopsis		
	Proteobacteria	Brevundimonas		
	Proteobacteria	Caulobacter		
	Proteobacteria	Halomonas		
Plant_growtn_promoter	Bacteroidetes	Mucilaginibacter		
	Actinobacteria	*Nocardia		
	Firmicutes	Paenibacillus		
	Proteobacteria	Sphingomonas		
	Firmicutes	Candidatus Phytoplasma		
	Firmicutes	Clostridium sensu stricto 1		
Plant_Pathogenic	Proteobacteria	Dyella		
	Firmicutes	Mycoplasma		
	Proteobacteria	Rhizobacter		
Polysaccharide_degrader	Proteobacteria	Sphingobium		
Poot knot nematode associated	Proteobacteria	Pseudomonas		
	Proteobacteria	Rhodoplanes		
Soybean_cyst_associated	Proteobacteria	Polaromonas		
	Actinobacteria	Actinophytocola		
	Actinobacteria	Actinospica		
	Actinobacteria	Kribbella		
Suppressive soils	Proteobacteria	Massilia		
Suppressive_sons	Bacteroidetes	Niastella		
	Bacteroidetes	Ohtaekwangia		
	Proteobacteria	**Steroidobacter		
	Proteobacteria	Variovorax		

Animal_pathogenic (*Flavobacterium*)), anti-bacteria (*Lechevalieria* and *Rheinheimera*), nematicidal (*Cellvibrio, Chitinophaga* and *Duganella*), iron_reducing (*Acidibacter*), nitrogen-fixer (*Bradyrhizobium* and *Frankia*), other (*Pseudonocardia*), plantgrowth-promoter (*Amycolatopsis* and *Paenibacillus*), plant-pathogenic (*Candidatus Phytoplasma, Clostridium sensu stricto 1* and *Rhizobacter*), root-knot nematode associated (*Pseudomonas*) and suppressive soil (*Actinophytocola* and *Massilia*) functional groups were present in the field and greenhouse populations (**Figure 6.4 A, B**). Animal-pathogenic (*Mycobacterium*), anti bacteria (*Kibdelosporangium*), anti_fungi (*Acidothermus, Chryseolinea, Haliangium* and *Paraburkholderia*) and enhanced_nematode_parasitism (*Novosphingobium*), nematicidal (*Streptomyces*), nitrogen_fixer (*Rhizobium*), plant_growth_promoter (*Sphingomonas*), and root_knot_nematode_associated (*Rhodoplanes*) were present in all fields but variablly in the greenhouse populations. Presence or absence of the antibiotic-resistant (*Candidatus Udaeobacter*), polysaccharidedegrader (*Sphingobium*) and the rest of the genera in the other 12 functional groups varied in both the field and greenhouse populations (**Figure 6.4 A, B**).

Population 13 had in common the presence of *Inquilinus* (other) in Populations 5 and 8 and plant_growth_promoters *Caulobacter* with Populations 5 and 15 in the field, and *Halomonas* with Populations 8 and 10 and *Limnohabitans* (other) with Populations 2, 4, 5 and 15 in the greenhouse. Population 13 had the absence of *Acidothermus* (anti-fungi), and *Mycoplasma* (plant_pathogenic) in the field and *Streptomyces* (nematicidal) in the greenhouse and *Devosia* (nematicidal) in the field and greenhouse in common with one or more of low PV category populations. The absence of *Mesorhizobium* (nitrogen_fixer) and *Ohtaekwangia* (suppressive soil bacteria) in the field, and *Devosia* (nematicidal) *Kibdelosporangium* (anti bacteria), *Mycobacterium* (animal pathogenic) and *Steroidobacter* (suppressive_soil bacteria) in the greenhouse was limited only to Population 13 (**Figure 6.4**

A, B).Presence of *Candidatus Udaeobacter* (antibiotic-resistant) and *Brevundimonas* and *Mucilaginibacter* (plant growth promoters), *Roseiarcus* (other), and *Nocardioides* and *Solirubrobacter* (nematicidal) in the field and *Hyphomycrobium* (other) in both field and greenhouse was limited to Population 8. Population 8 had plant growth promoters *Brevundimonas* and *Mucilaginibacter Niastella, Ohtaekwangia* and *Kribbella* (suppressive_soil bacteria), *Paraburkholderia* (anti fungi), *Mycoplasma* (plant pathogenic), *Chryseolinea* (anti-fungi), *Novosphingobium* (enhanced-nematode-parasitism), and *Rhodoplanes* (root_knot_nematode_associated) in the greenhouse, and , *Catenulispora* (other), *Gemmata, Pedomicrobium, Phenylobacterium, Xanthomonas* (nematicidal), *Rhodomicrobium* (nitrogen_fixer), *Sphingobium* (polysaccharide-degrader) and *Variovorax* (suppressive_soil bacteria) in the field, and *Dokdonella* and *Labrys* (others), *Nocardia* (plant_growth_promoters), *Polaromonas* (soybean-cyst-associated) in the greenhouse and field in common with one or more of the low PV category *M. hapla* populations (Figure 6.4 A, B).

Presence of *Chryseolinea* (anti-fungi) and *Fluviicola* (others) in the field, *Holdemanella* and *SM1A02* (others), *Nocardioides*, *Pedomicrobium*, *Solirubrobacter* and *Xanthomonas* (nematicidal), and *Sphingobium* (polysaccharide-degrader) in the greenhouse, *Bryobacter* (others) in both field and greenhouse populations were limited to Populations 2. Similarly, *Holdemanella* and *SM1A02* (others) in the field and *Roseiarcus* (other) in the greenhouse were specific to Population 15 and 6, respectively. Suppressive soil bacteria *Actinospica* in Populations 2, 4 and 14, and *Kribbella* in Populations 5 and 15 were absent in the field (**Figure 6.4 A, B**).



Figure 6.4 | Stacked bar plots showing the relative abundance of bacterial functional groups associated with field (A) and greenhouse (B) *M. hapla* populations originating from different soil groups (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: Deg-Degraded [red], Dist-Disturbed [yellow]). Greenhouse samples were isolated from tomato roots growing in a sterilized soil media for multiple generations. A list of bacterial genera assigned to each of the 15 functional groups are presented in Table 6.1. All genera which did not have a known function were grouped as "Other". Each numbered vertical bar of the plot represents an *M. hapla* population in the field or the greenhouse.

Alpha diversity

Alpha diversity was measured using the observed richness and Shannon diversity of bacterial communities associated with the field and greenhouse *M. hapla* populations (**Figure 6.5**). The observed richness and Shannon diversity were similar across the field populations (**Figure 6.5 A**). Neither soil group nor SFW conditions associated with the populations significantly influenced the richness and Shannon diversity. Similarly, the greenhouse populations had similar observed richness and Shannon diversity regardless of soil groups or SFW conditions previously associated with populations (**Figure 6.5 B**).



Figure 6.5 | Alpha diversity boxplots showing the bacterial (A) field observed richness, (B) field Shannon diversity, (C) greenhouse observed diversity, and (D) greenhouse Shannon diversity of *M. hapla* populations originating from different soil groups (SG: Mineral [white] and Muck [brown]) and soil food web conditions (SFW: Deg-Degraded [red], Dist-Disturbed [yellow]). Outliers on boxplots are displayed as dots. Kruskal Wallis tests were performed to determine significant differences across fields and p-values shown. Each numbered box plot represents an *M. hapla* population in the field or the greenhouse.

Beta diversity

The principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of bacterial communities associated with either field or greenhouse *M. hapla* populations did not reveal any distinct patterns relative to soil groups and SFW conditions from where the soil samples were collected (**Figure 6.6 A, B**). Similarly, neither soil groups, SFW conditions or their interactions had a significantly different PERMANOVA (P>0.05; perm. = 9999) and homogeneity of variance results were not significantly different (**Table 6.2**). However, a total of 45.4% variance (axis1: 25.2%, and axis2: 20.2%) and 42.7% variance (axis1: 22.7%, and axis2: 20.0%) could be explained by the graphs of field and greenhouse microbial communities, respectively (**Figure 6.6 A**, **B**).



Figure 6.6 | Principal coordinates analysis plots, based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, of bacterial communities associated with, field (A) and greenhouse (B) *M. hapla* populations originating from different soil groups (muck - triangle and mineral - circle) and soil food web conditions (Degraded and Disturbed). Soil food web categories were separated with a 70% ellipse.

Table 6.2 | Permutational multivariate analysis of variance and multivariate homogeneity of groups dispersions analysis results microbial communities associated with field and greenhouse *M. hapla* based on soil group (SG), region (RG), soil health (SFW) conditions, and interactions.

	Field M. hapla					Greenhouse M. hapla				
	PERMANOVA			DISPERSION		PERMANOVA			DISPERSION	
Variable	F-value	R^2	P-value	F-value	P-value	F-value	R^2	P-value	F-value	P-value
SG	1.101	0.025	0.347	2.23	0.627	0.472	0.011	0.879	0.008	0.922
RG	1.134	0.052	0.319	0.52	0.577	0.759	0.036	0.722	1.211	0.288
SFW	0.224	0.005	0.993	0.073	0.796	0.262	0.006	0.988	1.628	0.206
SG:SFW	0.775	0.054	0.755	0.095	0.963	0.662	0.046	0.885	0.727	0.529
SG:RG	0.859	0.099	0.697	0.221	0.942	0.517	0.062	0.994	0.497	0.78
SFW:RG	0.807	0.075	0.765	0.118	0.975	0.523	0.05	0.989	0.584	0.679
SG:RG:SFW	0.788	0.111	0.837	0.222	0.967	0.499	0.073	0.999	0.568	0.743

Significant P-values are indicated in bold

Discussion

This study aims to enhance our understanding of the relationships, or the lack, between M. hapla populations' PV and the biophysicochemical conditions of the belowground environment where the nematode thrives. If there is going to be any relationship between M. hapla PV and soil physicochemical conditions, it is likely to be from presence of conditions that directly or indirectly either enhance, hinder or their absence favors PV. From the PV standpoint, the *M. hapla* populations in this study fall into: a) stand alone or the highest, Population 13, b) medium, Population 8, and c) those with least reproductive potential, Populations 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15 (Chapter 4). Populations 2, 8 and 13 are from mineral soil and the rest are from muck soil. After establishing bacterial and fungal coremicrobiomes and bacterial OTUs associated with either soil health conditions and/or M. hapla occurrence in the field (Chapter 5), we examined the composition and function of bacteria associated with field and greenhouse M. hapla populations. The results improve our understanding of the soil conditions in which M. hapla PV exists by describing the presence or absence of bacterial communities and functional groups common to both the field and the greenhouse populations, specific to either set of population, or variations within either population relative to the high, medium and low levels of reproductive potential.

Community diversity and composition

As indicated in the richness- and Shannon-based analyses, the bacterial communities showed no difference in their diversity in either the field or greenhouse, suggesting that the number of different species and the structure of bacteria were similar (Elhady et al., 2017). Similarly, the PCoA showed no pattern by population or soil group or conditions between the two sets of populations, suggesting that the bacterial diversity is independent of all soil group and SFW conditions (Schuelke et al., 2018). Although the diversity of the bacterial communities was

similar, the abundance and composition of the 65 genera in the field and 61 genera in the greenhouse populations belonging to nine phyla varied between and within the two sets of populations and more so at the genera than at the phyla levels.

The bacterial phyla and genera had varying proportions with no clear trend between the field and greenhouse populations. The phyla Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Myxococcota and Proteobacteria and the genera Acidibacter, Actinophytocola, Amycolatopsis, Bradyrhizobium, Candidatus Phytoplasma, Cellvibrio, Chitinophaga, Clostridium sensu stricto, Duganella, Flavobacterium, Frankia, Lechevalieria, Massilia, Paenibacillus, Pseudomonas, Pseudonocardia, Rheinheimera, Rhizobacter and the unclassified genera were common to all field and greenhouse M. hapla populations and at high proportions. Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria and Chloroflexi are known to be associated with *M. hapla* suppression (Topalović et al., 2022) and Verrucomicrobium synthesizing amino acids in the nematode Xiphenema americanum as a nutritional mutualist (Brown et al., 2015). Little is known about the role of Myxococcota and Planctomycetes relative to nematodes. While there is little published association of these phyla and/or genera and their varying proportions on *M. hapla* PV, it can be assumed that these bacterial communities may have the same effect on both sets of the populations (Topalović et al., 2019). On the other hand, the presence of the phyla Acidobacteria, Chloroflexi, Planctomycetes and Verrucomicrobia and the genera Haliangium, Kibdelosporangium, Mycobacterium, Novosphingobium, Rhizobium, Rhodoplanes, Sphingomonas and Streptomyces in all of the field, but variably in the greenhouse populations shows differences between the two sets of *M. hapla* populations. Whether or not the variable presence of these bacterial communities may be related to the observed PV differences among the populations (Chapter 4), remains to be determined.

However, presence or absence of the variable bacterial communities between the two sets of *M. hapla* populations appear to differ among the high (Population 13), medium (Population 8) and low PV category (Populations 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) populations. For example, Population 13 only had the presence of *Inquilinus* in the field and *Halomonas* in the greenhouse in common with Population 8 and/or Populations 5 and 10, and *Caulobacter* and *Limnohabitans* in the greenhouse with two or more of the low PV category populations. Population 8, on the other hand, had *Catenulispora, Gemmata,Pedomicrobium, Rhodomicrobium, Sphingobium, Phenylobacterium, Variovorax* and *Xanthomonas* in the field, *Brevundimonas, Chryseolinea, Kribbella, Mucilaginibacter, Mycoplasma, Niastella, Novosphingobium, Ohtaekwangia, Paraburkholderia, Rhodoplanes* in the greenhouse, and *Dokdonella, Labrys, Nocardia* and *Polaromonas* in both field and greenhouse populations in common with one or more of the low PV category populations. This shows the medium and low PV category *M. hapla* populations have bacterial composition associated with them in common than with Population 13.

Population 13 did not have bacteria uniquely present with it, but Populations 8 and several of the low PV category populations did. These included the presence of *Brevundimonas, Candidatus Udaeobacter, Hyphomicrobium, Mucilaginibacter, Nocardioides, Roseiarcus* and *Solirubrobacter* in the field and *Hyphomicrobium* in the greenhouse was limited to Population 8, and *Chryseolinea* and *Fluviicola* in the field, *Holdemanella, Nocardioides, Pedomicrobium, Sphingobium, Solirubrobacter, SM1A02* and *Xanthomonas* in the greenhouse, *Bryobacter* to Population 2. While absence of *Streptomyces* in the greenhouse and *Acidothermus, Devosia, Limnohabitans* and *Mycoplasma* in the field were common to Population 13 and on or more of the low PV category populations, the absence of *Mesorhizobium* and *Ohtaekwangia* in the field and *Devosia, Kibdelosporangium, Mycobacterium* and *Steroidobacter* in the greenhouse were unique to Population 13. Whether or not the absence of these genera in Population 13 have anything to do with its PV is yet to be determined. To better understand the associations of bacterial communities with *M. hapla* populations, however, it is worth considering the functions of all of the bacterial communities associated with all of the *M. hapla* populations.

Functional groups and their habitats.

Sixty-five of identified bacterial genera in the nine phyla represented 14 known functional groups and 12 genera were of unknown (other) functions. The 18 genera commonly associated with all of the field and greenhouse *M. hapla* populations belonged to nine known and one unknown functional groups. These were animal_pathogenic (Flavobacterium), antibacteria (Lechevalieria and Rheinheimera), nematicidal (Cellvibrio, Chitinophaga and Duganella), iron_reducing (Acidibacter), nitrogen-fixer (Bradyrhizobium and Frankia), other (Pseudonocardia), plant-growth-promoter (Amycolatopsis and Paenibacillus), plantpathogenic (Candidatus Phytoplasma, Clostridium sensu stricto 1 and Rhizobacter), rootknot nematode associated (Pseudomonas) and suppressive soil (Actinophytocola and Massilia) functional groups. Flavobacterium is a pathogen of the oriental beetle (Blitopertha orientalis), Lechevalieria produces rebeccamycin antibiotic and Rheinheimera toxins that kill Euplotes aediculatus (Schmidt et al., 2012; Chiellini et al., 2019). Cellvibrio, Chitinophaga, Duganella, Pseudomonas, Actinophytocola and Massilia are part of a bacterial consortium that negatively impact root-knot and cyst nematodes (Khan et al., 2016; Topalović et al., 2020; Toju and Tanaka, 2019). Candidatus Phytoplasma causes stunting and witches broom in several vegetable crops (Kumari et al., 2019), Clostridium sensu stricto 1 causes soft rot disease of sweet potato (da Silva et al., 2019), and Rhizobacter gall disease of carrot (Goto and Kuwata, 1988). Amycolatopsis enhances plant growth by inhibiting charcoal rot disease caused by Macrophomina phaseolina (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2019) and Paenibacillus tomato

growth and root-mass production infested with *M. incognita* (Khan et al., 2008). *Acidibacter* is a mesophile that reduces iron (Falagán and Johnson, 2014) and *Bradyrhizobium* and *Frankia* are involved in plant root nodulation and nitrogen fixation (Elhady et al., 2020; Ghodhbane-Gtari et al., 2019). However, little is known about the role of *Pseudonocardia* in soil.

The genera that were common to the field populations, but variable in the greenhouse populations belonged to animal-pathogenic (Mycobacterium), anti bacteria (Kibdelosporangium), anti fungi (Acidothermus, Chryseolinea, Haliangium and Paraburkholderia), enhanced_nematode_parasitism (Novosphingobium), nematicidal (Streptomyces), nitrogen_fixer (Rhizobium), plant_growth_promoter (Sphingomonas), and root_knot_nematode_associated (Rhodoplanes) functional groups. Given the diversity of bacteria, variations within functional groups are to be expected (Tang et al., 2021). Mycobacterium causes tuberculosis in cattle and Kibdelosporangium produces antibiotic substances like cycloviracins, aricidins and kibdelins (Grappel et al., 1985; Hlokwe et al., 2017; Shearer et al., 1986; Tomita et al., 1993). Acidothermus suppresses the activity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, Chryseolinea suppresses Fusarium wilt of banana, Haliangium produces bioactive products against fungi and Paraburkholderia suppresses the root rot fungal pathogen Cylindrocarpon destructans (Colegate and Molyneux, 2007; Farh et al., 2015; Svenningsen et al., 2018). Novosphingobium synthesizes vitamin B12 which enhances Pristionchus pacificus parasitism against Caenorhabditis elegans (Akduman et al., 2020) and Streptomyces with biofumigation is lethal to M. incognita (Jin et al., 2019). Rhizobium fixes nitrogen in legumes for plant growth, Sphingomonas increases lateral roots and root hairs of Arabidopsis thaliana (Costa et al., 2021; Y. Luo et al., 2019) and Rhodoplanes was associated with Meloigogyne spp. (Engelbrecht et al., 2021). However, it is unknown if the variable presence of these genera in the greenhouse *M. hapla* populations is because of the

difference between the field and greenhouse soils or other undescribed biological associations or the lack of (Forero et al., 2019).

Out of the three levels of PV, the medium (Population 8) and low (Populations 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15) PV category populations had far more bacterial genera in common than the high PV category populations. For example, Population 8 alone had *Candidatus Udaeobacter* (antibiotic-resistant), *Nocardioides* and *Solirubrobacter* (nematicidal), *Brevundimonas* and *Mucilaginibacter* (plant growth promoters), and *Roseiarcus* and *Hyphomycrobium* (other functions). Moreover, the diversity of bacteria that Population 8 shared with the low PV category populations is particularly worth noting. These included *Chryseolinea* and *Paraburkholderia* (anti fungi), *Rhodoplanes*

(root_knot_nematode_associated), *Novosphingobium* (enhanced-nematode-parasitism), *Kribbella* and *Variovorax* (suppressive_soil bacteria), *Polaromonas* (soybean-cystassociated), *Brevundimonas* and *Mucilaginibacter Niastella, Nocardia* and *Ohtaekwangia* (plant_growth_promoters), *Gemmata, Pedomicrobium, Phenylobacterium, Xanthomonas* and, *Rhodomicrobium* (nitrogen_fixers), *Sphingobium* (polysaccharide-degrader) and *Catenulispora, Dokdonella* and *Labrys* (other). *Candidatus Udaeobacter* thrives in environments concentrated with antibiotics (Willms et al., 2020). *Nocardioides* has a negative relationship with *M. hapla* and *P. neglectus* numbers, and *Solirubrobacter* together with *Gemmata, Pedomicrobium, Phenylobacterium* and *Xanthomonas* have a negative impact on *Meloidogyne* spp (Sikder et al., 2021; Toju and Tanaka, 2019). *Brevundimonas* increases nitrogen intake to enhance potato growth, *Mucilaginibacter* promotes plant growth by enhancing rhizobacteria, *Rhodomicrobium* synthesizes enzymes that enable nitrogen fixation in plants, and *Nocardia* produces auxins that induce nodule-like structures to enhance the growth of *Casuarina glauca* (Fan et al., 2020; Ghodhbane-Gtari et al., 2019; Madigan et al., 1984; Naqqash et al., 2020). *Kribbella, Niastella, Ohtaekwangia* and *Variovorax* cooperatively suppress the plant parasitic nematode *Heterodera glycines* (Topalović et al., 2020) and *Polaromonas* was detected in *Heterodera glycines* cyst (Nour et al., 2003). *Sphingobium* produces enzymes which allows sugars to be degraded (Balows et al., 1992; Wu et al., 2017). Given the amount of information available on the functional roles of different bacteria, not much was known about *Roseiarcus, Hyphomycrobium, Catenulispora, Dokdonella* and *Labrys*. While how the presence of these genera may or may not be related to the populations with medium and low PV categories is yet to be determined, these data provide basis for more targeted analyses of associations, or the lack of, among bacteria and *M. hapla* populations.

On the other hand, what Population 13 had in common with Population 8 and/or one or more of the low PV category populations were the presence of *Caulobacter* (plant_growth_promoter) and Halomonas, Inquilinus and Limnohabitans (other or unknown functions) and the absence of Acidothermus (anti-fungi), Mycoplasma (plant_pathogenic), and Devosia and Streptomyces (nematicidal) in the populations from the field and/or greenhouse. Without excluding how the presence or absence of these small number of bacterial genera may or may not interact with other factors to influence PV, we can assume that their effect on the high, medium, and low PV category populations could be similar. What separates Population 13 from the medium and low PV category populations is the unique absence of Mesorhizobium (nitrogen_fixer) and Ohtaekwangia (suppressive soil bacteria) in the field, and Kibdelosporangium (anti bacteria), Steroidobacter (suppressive_soil bacteria), *Devosia* (nematicidal) and *Mycobacterium* (animal pathogenic) in the greenhouse. Caulobacter increases root, leaf number and leaf size in Arabidopsis thaliana (D. Luo et al., 2019) mand Mycoplasma is a pathogen of plants like corn and citrus (Garnier et al., 2001). Steroidobacter in Heterodera glycines suppressive soils thrives in conditions with a relatively neutral pH and *Devosia* in *M. hapla* suppressive soils is

associated with fewer galls, egg masses, eggs, and a reduced rate of fecundity (eggs per egg mass) (Adam et al., 2014; Fahrbach et al., 2008; Topalović et al., 2020). *Mesorhizobium* is commonly associated with nodulation of legumes (Redding et al., 2018) and *Ohtaekwangia* is broadly adapted to aerobic, acidic and alkaline conditions (Yoon et al., 2011).

Connections with core and indicator groups

Analyses of microbiome in soils collected from the fields where the *M. hapla* populations were isolated from identified 39 core bacteria OTUs, defined as the most abundant and prevalent taxa across fields (Shade and Stopnisek, 2019), and 25 indicator OTUs, characterized by an increased occurrence or abundance associated with a group of sites of similar conditions (Cáceres and Legendre, 2009), associated with soil health conditions and/or *M. hapla* occurrence (Chapter 5).

Across all the field and greenhouse populations, one of the 11 core bacteria genera and none of the of 25 indicator bacterial genera were present in *M. hapla* populations. The complete absence of core bacteria *Kaistobacter* (enhanced nematode parasitism), *Reyranella* (soybean cyst associated), *Arthrobacter* and *Dactylosporangium* (suppressive soil), *Adhaeribacter, Turicibacter* and *Balneimonas* (other), and a similar absence of the indicator bacteria *Actinobacteria, Chloroflexi, Chloracidobacteria* and *Solirubrobacterales* (nematicidal), *Solibacterales* (plant growth promoter), *Balneimonas, Gemmatimonas* and *Actinoplanes* (suppressive soils), *Flavitalea populi* (plant pathogenic), *Afifella* and *Sphingobacteriales* (root knot nematode associated), *Sorangium* (polysaccharide degrader), and *Oxalicibacterium, Skermanella, Thauera, Syntrophobacteraceae, Gaiellaceae, Phycicoccus, Pirellulaceae* and *Pedosphaerales* (other) were noted. However, only the core bacteria *Paenibacillus* (plant growth promoter) was present in all the field and greenhouse populations (**Table 6.3; Table 6.4**). The core bacteria *Rhodoplanes* (root knot nematode associated) and the indicator bacteria *Rhizobium* (nitrogen fixer) were common in all the field populations but variable in the greenhouse populations (**Table 6.3; Table 6.4**).

Population 13 with high PV had the unique absence of *Devosia* (nematicidal) core bacteria in the greenhouse, while no other core or indicator bacteria in the field and/or greenhouse were detected to be present or absent only in Population 13 (**Table 6.3; Table 6.4**).

Population 8 with medium PV had a limited presence of *Brevundimonas* (plant growth promoter) indicator bacteria in the field but other core or indicator bacteria in the field and/or greenhouse were not present or absent in only Population 8 (**Table 6.3; Table 6.4**).

Low PV category populations had *Sphingobium* (polysaccharide degrader) core bacteria present in the greenhouse in only Population 8, while the combination of one or more low PV category populations with Population 8 had *Sphingobium* core bacteria in the field and *Brevundimonas* (plant growth promoter) indicator bacteria in the greenhouse being present. Regardless of the presence or absence of the core or indicator bacteria, a variety of interactions between microbes initially detected in the soils and the *M. hapla* populations (**Table 6.3; Table 6.4**).

Table 6.3 | Taxonomy (Phylum, Class, Order, Family and Genera) and function of 25 bacterial indicators found in locations with *M. hapla*

 presence or absence.

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genera	Functional group	
Agidobastaria	Acidobacteria	Acidobacteriales	Acidobacteriaceae	Chloracidobacteria sp. (OTU2)	Nematicidal	
Actuobacterra	Solibacteres	Solibacterales		Solibacterales sp. (OTU10)	Plant growth promoter	
				Actinobacteria sp. (OTU14)	Nematicidal	
				Actinobacteria sp. (OTU18)	Nematicidal	
Actinohactoria	Actinobacteria Micrococcales		Intrasporangiaceae	Phycicoccus sp. (OTU19)	Other	
Actiliobacteria	Actinobacteria	Micromonosporales	Micromonosporaceae	Actinoplanes sp. (OTU20)	Suppressive soils	
	Thermoleophilia	Solirubrobacterales		Solirubrobacterales sp. (OTU21)	Nematicidal	
	Thermoleophilia	Gaiellales	Gaiellaceae	Gaiellaceae sp. (OTU23)	Other	
Bacteroidetes	Chitinophagia	Chitinophagales	Chitinophagaceae	Flavitalea populi (OTU5)	Plant pathogenic	
	Sphingobacteriia Sphingobacteriales			Sphingobacteriales sp. (OTU12)	Root knot nematode associated	
Chloroflavi				Chloroflexi sp. (OTU17)	Nematicidal	
CIIIOIOIIEXI				Chloroflexi sp. (OTU24)	Nematicidal	
Gemmatimonadetes	Gemmatimonadetes	Gemmatimonales	Gemmatimonaceae	Gemmatimonas sp. (OTU4)	Suppressive soils	
Planctomycetes	Planctomycetia	Pirellulales	Pirellulaceae	Pirellulaceae sp. (OTU22)	Other	

Table 6.3 (cont'd)

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genera	Functional group	
	Deltaproteobacteria	Myxococcales	Sorangium	Sorangium sp. (OTU1)	Polysaccharide degrader	
	Alphaproteobacteria	Hyphomicrobiales	Methylobacteriaceae	Balneimonas sp. (OTU3)	Suppressive soils	
	Alphaproteobacteria	Hyphomicrobiales	Rhizobiaceae ¹ Rhizobium sp. (OTU6)		Nitrogen fixer	
	Alphaproteobacteria	Sphingomonadales	Sphingomonadaceae	Kaistobacter sp. (OTU7)	Enhanced nematode parasitism	
Proteobacteria	Betaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	Oxalobacteraceae	Oxalicibacterium sp. (OTU8)	Other	
	Alphaproteobacteria	Caulobacterales	Caulobacteraceae	² Brevundimonas sp. (OTU9)	Plant_growth_promoter	
	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhodospirillales	Azospirillaceae	Skermanella sp. (OTU11)	Other	
	Betaproteobacteria	Rhodocyclales	Zoogloeaceae	Thauera sp. (OTU13)	Other	
	Deltaproteobacteria	Syntrophobacterales	Syntrophobacteraceae	Syntrophobacteraceae sp. (OTU15)	Other	
	Alphaproteobacteria	Hyphomicrobiales	Afifellaceae	Afifella sp. (OTU25)	Root knot nematode associated	
Verrucomicrobiota	Verrucomicrobiae	Pedosphaerales		Pedosphaerales sp. (OTU16)	Other	

 $^{1}\overline{M. hapla}$ microbe from all field Populations, and all but greenhouse Population 14.

 ^{2}M . *hapla* microbe from field Populations 8, and greenhouse Population 8 and 2.

List of indicators adopted from a previous study by Chapter 5.
Table 6.4 | Taxonomy (Phylum, Class, Order, Family and Genera) and function of 11 core-bacteria found in locations with *M. hapla* presence or absence.

Phyla	Class	Order	Family	Genera	Functional group
Actinchectorie	Actinobacteria	Micrococcales	Micrococcaceae	Arthrobacter	Nematicidal
Actinobacteria	Actinobacteria	Micromonosporales	Micromonosporaceae	Dactylosporangium	Nematicidal
Bacteroidetes	Cytophagia	Cytophagales	Hymenobacteraceae	Adhaeribacter	Other
F ' ' /	Bacilli	Paenibacillales	Paenibacillaceae	¹ Paenibacillus	Plant_growth_promoter
Fifficules	Erysipelotrichia	Erysipelotrichales	Turicibacteraceae	Turicibacter	Other
	Alphaproteobacteria	Hyphomicrobiales	Methylobacteriaceae	Balneimonas	Other
	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhizobiales	Devosiaceae	² Devosia	Nematicidal
Drotochastaria	Alphaproteobacteria	Sphingomonadales	Sphingomonadaceae	Kaistobacter	Enhanced nematode parasitism
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhodospirillales	Reyranellaceae	Reyranella	Soybean cyst associated
	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhizobiales	Xanthobacteraceae	³ Rhodoplanes	Root_knot_nematode_associated
	Alphaproteobacteria	Sphingomonadales	Sphingomonadaceae	⁴ Sphingobium	Polysaccharide-degrader
1					

¹ *M. hapla* microbe in all field and greenhouse Populations

 2 *M. hapla* microbe in field Populations 10 and 13, and all greenhouse Populations except in 13

³ *M. hapla* microbe in all field Populations, and greenhouse Populations 2, 5, 10, 4 and 8

⁴ *M. hapla* microbe in field Population 2

List of indicators adopted from a previous study by Chapter 5.

Conclusions

By determining the relationships, or the lack, between *M. hapla* populations' PV and associated bacteria this study established that the bacterial richness and Shannon diversity did not significantly differ across field and greenhouse isolated *M. hapla* populations. However, the variable bacteria genera composition and functional groups showed presence or absence relationships with *M. hapla* PV. Particularly, the highest PV of Population 13, the medium PV of Population 8 and the low PV of other populations did not all have the same bacteria composition and functional groups. These patterns seem to suggest that there may be differences in bacteria composition and could have a relationship with *M. hapla* PV. Therefore, this study lays the foundation in establishing potential cause-and-effect relationship of *M. hapla* PV.

CHAPTER 7

GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Background

While it has been known that *M. hapla* is broadly distributed in Michigan vegetable production landscape and that populations from mineral soils had higher parasitic variability (PV) than those from muck soil (Melakeberhan et al., 2010), how all of these relate to the biophysiochemical conditions across time and space is unknown. These knowledge gaps made it difficult to know where to start to unravel the mechanisms of *M. hapla* PV. In order to address the goal of my dissertation, of understanding the biophysicochemical conditions of the soils where *M. hapla* PV exists, I laid out a research plan that was broad enough to account for the missing links and the complexities of the soils and soil conditions, and narrow enough to identify links that will lead to identifying potential routes towards understanding the mechanisms of *M. hapla* PV in Michigan agriculture (Figure 7.1). The emphasis on biophysicochemical conditions is based on the biology of *M. hapla*, which includes migration through the soil, and its eggs and infective second-stage juveniles coming in contact with all of the diversity and abundance of the soil macro- and micro-biome and the environment that they co-exist with. In addition, an understanding of M. hapla PV based on measuring the changes in biophysicochemical conditions will be a good platform to integrate the potential role of soil health. The totality of my observational and experimental research results have yielded two roadmaps answering the overarching question: Is M. hapla's PV and broad distribution a function of adaptation and/or the association with, or the lack of, specific biophysicochemical factors? One roadmap will lead towards understanding potential role of biophysicochemical conditions on *M. hapla* PV and the other leads to developing soil healthbased M. hapla management.



The roadmap towards understanding the biophysicochemical basis of *M. hapla* PV.

Figure 7.1 | A graphical abstract illustrating my project goal (grey box), the different soil conditions of sandy to muck soil, cropping systems, and the variable soil health conditions *M*. *hapla* PV exists, the sandy soil *M*. *hapla* populations with a higher parasitism than muck populations, research questions, and strategy (blue boxes and arrows), observational and experimental objectives (red boxes), key findings (yellow boxes), and conclusions (orange boxes) and how the findings (green box and arrows) collectively lead to understanding the potential biophysicochemical basis of PV and designing soil health management strategies.

The roadmap towards understanding the role of biophysicochemical conditions in *M*. *hapla* has four branches that converge into a complex web (**Figure 7.1**). The first two branches are the relationship between *M. hapla* distribution and PV of the populations collected from the mineral and muck soil fields. Describing that *M. hapla* populations from a number of mineral soil fields had highest PV (Chapter 3; Chapter 4) would be a confirmation of what has been well documented (Melakeberhan et al., 2010; Norton, 1978). However, describing the same PV information within the context of *M. hapla* occurrence in soils with disturbed and/or degraded soil health conditions (Chapter 3; Chapter 4) for the first time

opens a window into the environment where *M. hapla* exists. When soil health is out of balance, there are many cascading changes in the soil's biophysicochemical processes whose effect on the macro- and micro-biome (Díaz-Vallejo et al., 2021; Lammel et al., 2018; Pertile et al., 2021) and on nematodes in general is less understood, much less on *M. hapla* PV. At the very least, my research findings suggest that soil health may be a factor on *M. hapla* PV and distribution.

The third branch is identifying an association of core-bacteria and -fungi and indicator bacteria with *M. hapla* distribution and/or PV and soil health. While what these associations mean or how they individually and/or collectively may or may not relate to the mechanisms of *M. hapla* PV is yet to be determined, the data provide a starting point for developing a focused research in the future. For example, work by Topalović et al., (2022) suggest that the collective microbiome present in soil could be conducive or have a suppressive relationship on root-knot nematodes. In addition, studies by Adam et al., (2014) and Watson et al., (2020) have suggested a negative relationship between a plant parasitic nematodes ability to parasitize plants and the soil microbiome. In all these studies by other authors, the exact underlying mechanisms were not fully understood.

The fourth branch is how the *M. hapla* populations PV relate to bacteria isolated from the nematodes. As shown in Chapter 4, the *M. hapla* populations fall into three PV categories: high (Population 13), medium (Population 8) and low (Populations 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14 and 15). The medium and low PV category populations shared many bacteria in common while Population 13 specifically lacked *Mesorhizobium* and *Ohtaekwangia* in the field and *Devosia, Kibdelosporangium, Mycobacterium* and *Steroidobacter* in the greenhouse (Chapter 7). The fact that Populations 8 and 13 came from degraded mineral soil conditions seems to suggest a direct or indirect relationship of soil health condition on PV. Bringing together the

three branches will provide further insights as part of the roadmap towards understanding the biophysicochemical basis of *M. hapla* PV.

The four branches converge into a complex web that describes the alignment of the soil groups, soil health and biophysicochemical conditions and *M. hapla* PV reveal towards understanding potential mechanisms of the interactions. There are several layers to the alignment of the different factors.

First, a principal component analysis of physicochemical (sand, silt clay, pH, %OM, NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺) properties and soil health (degraded and disturbed) conditions of the *M. hapla* populations in three mineral and six muck soil fields revealed an important point. i.e. The two soil groups clustered separately with the low PV category populations being aligned with silt, clay, pH, %OM, NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ in muck soils with disturbed and degraded soil health conditions; whereas, the high (Population 13) and medium (Population 8) PV groups favoring two of the three mineral soils, sand and degraded soil health conditions (**Figure 7.2**). Soil physical and chemical properties can either have a direct or indirect effect on nematodes (Melakeberhan, 1999; Melakeberhan et al., 2004; Norton, 1978). For example, *M. hapla* is known to be more virulent in sandy soils than in soils with high organic matter such as muck soils (Norton, 1978). Furthermore, soils with high nitrogen are associated with a lower reproductive potential of *M. hapla* (Melakeberhan et al., 2007).



Figure 7.2 | Physicochemical relationships showing the analysis of the principal components of chemical (organic matter [OM], NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and pH) and physical (sand, silt and clay) properties of soil groups (mineral and muck) and soil health conditions (degraded and disturbed) in 9 agricultural fields with populations of *M. hapla*.

The second layer is the alignment of the biophysicochemical (microbial community, sand, silt clay, pH, %OM, NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺) and soil health (degraded and disturbed) conditions and the PV parameters (J2, J3.J4, adult, total, percent infectivity, galling) and inocula (2000 and 4000) of the *M. hapla* populations within a soil group (**Figure 7.3**). Because the soils had clustered separately, it is important to know how the different factors align relative to the high (Population 13), medium (Population 8) and/or low (Populations 2, 4, 5,6, 10, 14 and 15) PV category populations. In the muck soil where all of the populations had low PV, Population 4 was aligned with *Mycoplana, Pseudomonas* and silt, Populations 6 and 14 with *Saitozyma, Candidatus Koribacter, Bacteroides* and %OM, Population 10 with sand, *Kaistobacter, Geobacter* and *Alicyclobacillus*, and Populations 15 and 5 with *Bacillus*,

Nitrospirae, Afifella and clay (**Figure 7.3**). The biophysicochemical alignments of muck soil populations and their low PV seem to suggests they were all affected in a similar way.

In the mineral soil, each population was aligned with different biophysicochemical parameters (**Figure 7.3**). Population 13 was aligned with *Fusarium, Mortierella, Phythium, Phormidium* and *Arthrobacter*, Population 8 with *Rheinhimera* and Population 2 with silt, *Dactylosporangium, Flavobacterium and Candidatus Koribacter*. The distinct biophysicochemical alignments seem to suggest that the differences in PV were related to different soil parameters. On the other hand, Population 13 and 8 with the high and medium PV, respectively, had alignments with only microbes while the low PV of Population 2 had alignments with both microbes and physicochemical (i.e. silt) condition. This suggests that the silt content seem to favor the microbes closely aligned with Population 2.

Between the mineral and the muck *M. hapla* populations, silt as an individual parameter seem to be associated with low PV between Population 2 from mineral soil and Population 4 from muck. In both scenarios, silt seem to have a negative relationship with PV (**Figure 7.3**).



Figure 7.3 | Redundancy analysis ordinations showing 9 *M. hapla* populations [(A) mineral = 13, 8, 2, and (B) muck 4, 5, 6, 10, 14, 15)] relative to physicochemical parameters (blue arrow: NH_4^+ , NH_3^- , pH, soil organic matter - som, sand, silt, and clay) and the abundance (red arrow) of the bacterial phyla of isolated field *M. hapla* nematodes and *M. hapla* parasitic variability parameters of *M. hapla* (J2, J3.J4, adult, total, percent infectivity, galling). The ending of each bacterial and fungal label for bulk soil (_BS), isolated field *M. hapla* (_FMH), and isolated greenhouse *M. hapla* (_GMH) is used to identify the source of the microbe.

The third layer is the alignment of the microbial community isolated from individual field and greenhouse cultures, soil health (degraded and disturbed) conditions and the PV parameters (J2, J3.J4, adult, total, percent infectivity, galling) and inocula (2000 and 4000) within a soil group (**Figure 7.4**). In the muck soil, Population 15 was aligned with J2 and total nematodes, Population 10 and 5 with *Acidothermus, Actinophytocola, Acidibacter, Actinospica,* adult, total infection, gall and J2 nematodes, Populations 4 and 6 with adult, total nematodes and total infection and *Bradyrhizobium*, and Populations 6 and 14 with J3/J4 nematodes and gall (**Figure 7.4**). This suggests that whether both microbes and PV parameters or only PV parameters were aligned with muck soil populations the PV was low.

In the mineral soil, the three populations were clustered apart from each other (**Figure 7.4**). Population 2 was associated with total, J3.J4, total infection and gall, Population 13 with adult nematodes, and Population 8 with total infection, total, J3.J4 nematodes and *Acidibacter. Acidibacter* is a mesophile that reduces iron (Falagán and Johnson, 2014) was common to all fields and greenhouse isolated *M. hapla* populations (Chapter 7), however, it's association with Population 8 in **Figure 7.4** seem to suggest it was less important to Population 13 and 2. The difference in abundance seems to be somehow related with the medium PV of Population 2. Additionally, the mineral population separation by between degraded and disturbed conditions along the RDA 1 axis suggests there could be some relationship between the PV outcomes of the high PV populations (13 and 8) and the low PV Population 2.

The patterns of microbial and PV alignments between the mineral and the muck soil *M. hapla* populations seem to be distinct(**Figure 7.4**). Across the muck and mineral soil, Not all the muck and mineral *M. hapla* populations had both PV parameter and microbial alignments. For example, mineral Population 8 was aligned with total infection, total, J3.J4 nematodes and *Acidibacter* but muck Populations 6 and 14 with J3/J4 nematodes and gall (**Figure 7.4**). This seem to suggest that different PV parameters relating to *M. hapla* populations were not affected equally by microbes and likely associated with PV differences.



Figure 7.4 | Redundancy analysis ordinations showing 9 *M. hapla* populations [(A) mineral = 13, 8, 2, and (B) muck 4, 5, 6, 10, 14, 15)] relative to physicochemical parameters (blue arrow: NH4, NH3, pH, Organic matter - SOM, Sand, Silt and clay) and the abundance (red arrow) of bacterial and fungal genera from bulk soil, bacterial genera of isolated field and greenhouse *M. hapla* nematodes, and parasitic variability parameters (J2, J3/J4, Adult, Total, Percent infectivity, Galling) at two levels of inoculum levels (2000 and 4000). The ending of each bacterial and fungal label for bulk soil (_BS), isolated field *M. hapla* (_FMH), and isolated greenhouse *M. hapla* (_GMH) is used to identify the source of the microbe.

The fourth layer is an alignment of all of the biophysicochemical (microbial community, nematode trophic groups, sand, silt clay, pH, %OM, NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺) and soil health (degraded and disturbed) conditions and the PV parameters (J2, J3.J4, adult, total, percent infectivity, galling) and inocula (2000 and 4000) of the *M. hapla* populations across the muck and mineral soil groups included in the previous three layers (**Figure 7.5**). The muck soil populations were clustered separately from the mineral populations, suggesting that both soil groups were biophysicochemically different. Within the muck soil, Populations 6, 10 and 14 clustered with NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻, OM, *Bacteroides, Pseudomonas, Rheinheim*era and *Myrmecodia.* and Populations 4, 5 and 15 with silt, *Mycoplana, Afifella, Pedomicrobium* and *BD2.13*,

suggesting that these factors maybe directly or indirectly contributing to the low PV in muck soil.

A higher soil nitrogen, was previously found to be associated with a lower reproductive potential in *M. ha*pla (Melakeberhan et al., 2007) just like a high soil OM content is associated with low PV (Melakeberhan et al., 2010). *Bacteroides* was associated with *Heterodera glycines cyst* whereas, *Afifella and Pseudomonas* were root-knot nematode associated (Khan et al., 2016; Topalović et al., 2020). *Rheinheim*era had anti-bacterial properties and *Pedomicrobium* has nematicidal effect on nematodes (Chiellini et al., 2019; Toju and Tanaka, 2019). However, little is known about *Myrmecodia, Mycoplana* and *BD2.13*.

Within the mineral soil populations of *M. hapla*, Populations 2 and 13 aligned with pH, clay and *Bacillus* and Population 8 with sand, *Kaistobacter, Burkholderia, Dactylosporangium* and *Actinoallomurus*. Although Populations 2 (disturbed) and 13 (degraded) degraded soils have similar alignment with biophysicochemical conditions, they have extreme difference in PV. How these similarities and differences of alignments may affect PV remains unknown.

When microbes and physicochemical parameters are considered individually, *Bacillus, Burkholderia, Dactylosporangium* and *Actinoallomurus* are known to have antagonistic effect on PPNs (Farh et al., 2015; Ghahremani et al., 2020; Takeuchi et al., 1988; Topalović et al., 2020) while *Kaistobacter* enhance parasitism of PPN (Castillo et al., 2017). Acidic soil pH is known to negatively impact nematode population dynamics (Melakeberhan et al., 2004). Similarly, the fine soil texture of clay and silt with smaller air pores are less conducive environments for nematodes (Melakeberhan et al., 2010; Norton, 1978).



Figure 7.5 | RDA ordinations showing 9 *M. hapla* populations (mineral = 13, 8, 2, and muck 4, 5, 6, 10, 14, 15) relative to physicochemical parameters (blue arrow: NH_4^+ , NO_3^- , pH, Organic matter - OM, Sand, Silt and Clay) and the abundance (red arrow) of bacterial and fungal genera from bulk soil, bacterial genera of isolated field and greenhouse *M. hapla* nematodes, trophic groups of the nematode community (Herbivore - HV, Bacterivore - BV, Fungivore - FV, Omnivore - OV, Predator – PR, Sum of all trophic groups - SUM, Free-living – SFL, Free-living from cp2 to cp5 – SFL25, sum of cp2 to cp5 – S25), parasitic variability parameters (J2, J3.J4, Adult, Total, Percent infectivity, Galling) at two inoculum levels (2000 and 4000 and enrichment (EI) and structural (SI) indices. The ending of each bacterial and fungal label for bulk soil (_BS), isolated field *M. hapla* (_FMH), and isolated greenhouse *M. hapla* (_GMH) is used to identify the source of the microbe.

From the three layers and the four branches that converge into a complex web, soil groups seem to be a major distinguishing factor in the broad perspective (**Figure 7.5**). However, when specific soil factors within each soil group are considered, it becomes evident that there are specific soil biophysicochemical factors which are aligned with the three levels of PV. Also, when the focus begins to shift from broad (**Figure 7.5**) to narrow (**Figure 7.3**; **Figure 7.4**) soil biophysicochemical relationships, the role of soil health in distinguishing high, medium, and low PV becomes apparent in the mineral soil. On the other hand, the lack of soil health related separation in **Figure 7.5** seems to suggest that considering nematode trophic group abundance as a biophysicochemical factor could complicate PV relationships. Thus, formulating future follow-up studies to determine the relationship between PV and the soil environment may not require trophic group abundance as a soil factor of interest.

The roadmap towards designing soil health-based *M. hapla* management.

Knowing the environment where an organism exists is an important element in designing conditions that favor or do not favor the organism's success in that environment. The second roadmap relates to potential role of soil health conditions in *M. hapla* distribution and/or its PV and what the data suggest in terms of the management strategies. As discussed in Chapter 1, soil health has physical, biological and chemical components. With regards to the chemical component, an investigation of the relationship between soil nitrogen (NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺) relative to soil groups revealed more nitrogen in the infested muck than in the mineral soils (**Table 7.1**). The *M. hapla* infested muck soils had an average NO₃⁻ content of between 57 to 356 mg/L, and NH₄⁺ from 5 to 11 mg/L, while infested mineral soils had NO₃⁻ content between 9 and 40 mg/L, and NH₄⁺ between 3 and 5 mg/L. These differences seem to be related to the high organic matter content of muck soils and the capacity to retain more soil nutrients than the mineral soils (Murphy, 2015).

A further look at the relationship between the soil nitrogen content and the assigned soil health condition of *M. hapla* infested mineral soils showed inconsistent trends (**Table 7.1**). In the degraded mineral soils, Population 13 had NO₃⁻ of 9 mg/L and NH₄⁺ of 3 mg/L, and Population 8 with 40 mg/L and 5 mg/L, respectively. On the other hand, the disturbed condition of Population 2 had an NO₃⁻ content of 19 mg/L and an NH₄⁺ of 4 mg/L. The low nitrogen content associated Population 13 was consistent with the nitrogen-depleted status of degraded soil conditions. Although more nitrogen is expected in the disturbed conditions of Population 2, there was more soil nitrogen-enriched soil status expected of disturbed conditions versus the nitrogen depleted condition of degraded soils. While the NO₃⁻ and the NH₄⁺ soil content were inconsistent for Population 8 and 2, other unaccounted factors may explain this trend. Both NO₃⁻ and the NH₄⁺ only accounted for the inorganic nitrogen.

Meloidogyne hapla infested muck soils with degraded conditions had an average NO_3^- content of 71 mg/L to 192 mg/L and the NH_4^+ of 5 mg/L to 9 mg/L, whereas the disturbed conditions were associated with 57 mg/L to 356 mg/L and 7 mg/L to 11 mg/L, respectively. Overall, the low nitrogen-enrichment in degraded soils is consistent with the soil nutrient availability description of Ferris et al., (2001).

Table 7.1 | Means and standard deviation (\pm) concentration of nitrate (NO₃⁻) and ammonium (NH₄⁺) present in *Meloidogyne hapla* infested fields across regions (east, southwest and northwest), soils groups (mineral and muck) and soil foodweb conditions (SFW: degraded and disturbed).

Pogion	Soil	SFW	Field	NO ₃ -	$\mathbf{NH_{4}^{+}}$
Kegioli	group	51 **	I iciu	(mg/L)	(mg/L)
	Mineral		2	19 ± 6	4 ± 1
Fast		Disturbed	4	289 ± 38	8 ± 2
Last	Muck	Degraded	5	192 ± 23	8 ± 1
		Disturbed	6	356 ± 16	11 ± 1
Southwest		Degraded	8	40 ± 0	5 ± 0
Southwest		Disturbed	10	57 ± 11	7 ± 1
	Mineral		13	9 ± 2	3 ± 0
Northwest	Muelt	Degraded	14	156 ± 34	9 ± 1
	WIUCK		15	71 ± 6	5 ± 1

Based on the PV characteristics of the 9 *M. hapla* populations mentioned in Chapter 4 and the soil health conditions they existed in allows creation of a framework for developing a management strategy. Since the *M. hapla* populations could be grouped into high (Population 13), medium (Population 8) and low (Populations 2, 4, 5, 6, 10, 14, 15) PV categories, the management strategy would encompass using the soil health conditions and biophysicochemical relationships identified to manage *M. hapla* PV in Michigan agriculture.

Manipulating the soil biology to reduce PV is one approach that can be used to manage *M. hapla* nematodes. As mentioned in Chapter 4, both the high PV of Population 13 and the medium PV of Population 8 were associated with degraded soils, while the low PV of Population 2 was related to disturbed conditions. This seems to suggest that the disturbed mineral soil condition was a less conducive environment. Contrary to what was observed for the mineral populations, no such relationship existed for *M. hapla* populations from muck soil. Muck populations from degraded conditions had a similar PV as those from disturbed conditions. This suggests that the management of *M. hapla* PV should be the tailored for each soil group.

As soil health becomes out of balance, it becomes difficult to generate vital ecosystem services like *M. hapla* suppression. While several studies attest to the role of soil micro- (eg. bacteria) and macro-biome (eg. nematodes) in root-knot nematode suppression (Pyrowolakis et al., 2002; Sánchez-Moreno and Ferris, 2007; Topalović et al., 2020), similar conditions may be required to manage *M. hapla* PV. For example, a balanced soil health condition (Quadrant B) has an adequate representation of predators which can feed on other nematodes like *M. hapla* to control their numbers (Sánchez-Moreno and Ferris, 2007). Moreso, the presence of beneficial microbes like *Pasteuria penetrans* in the soil can control *M. hapla* numbers (Davies and Williamson, 2006). Similarly, in Chapter 7, I identified several microbes associated with nematode suppression like *Actinophytocola, Actinospica, Kribbella, Massilia, Niastella* and *Ohtaekwangia*. Since these were associated with isolated *M. hapla* populations, the management strategy would focus on creating conducive conditions for these potentially beneficial microbes. Some strategies reported to encourage the growth of beneficial microbes include introducing microbes as inoculants (Elnahal et al., 2022), and encouraging mixed cropping instead of monoculture (Eisenhauer et al., 2013, 2012).

In addition to managing soil health conditions in soils infested with *M. hapla*, it is equally important to consider what crops are chosen as part of a crop rotation. Overall, the biophysicochemical changes in this study could be the basis for formulating soil health-based management of *M. hapla* in the regions where it exists. However, one has to be mindful that biophysicochemical changes observed here in are heavily influenced by dicot and monocotyledon crops (Chapter 3) as well as their use and sequence in cropping systems. With dicotyledons being excellent host crops for *M. hapla* than monocotyledons (Widmer et al., 1999), the vegetable production industry of Michigan in particular where dicotyledonous

141

crops dominate is continually threatened. Thus, it makes sense that the right choice of crops in *M. hapla* infested fields could positively contribute to the management effort.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this project's aim was to know if M. hapla's PV and broad distribution was a function of broad adaptation and/or the association with, or the lack of, specific biophysicochemical factors. Based on the synthesis of the soil health conditions M. hapla populations existed and the biophysicochemical relationships connected with PV, several points were deduced from the two roadmaps. The first roadmap found a) the broad distribution of *M. hapla* PV in disturbed and degraded conditions of mineral and muck soils being aligned with several distinct biophysicochemical factors, b) that different biophysicochemical alignments were related to high, medium and low M. hapla reproductive potential in the mineral soil, but different alignments in the muck soil were related to low reproductive potential, and c) the soil groups and soil health conditions populations existed had a relationship with *M. hapla* PV. The second roadmap showed d) the combination of soil group and the soil health conditions could form the basis of any M. hapla PV management strategy, e) that although the same soil health conditions were associated with M. hapla populations between the muck and mineral soil groups the management outcomes were different. Thus, this project established the basis for an integrated soil group and soil health strategy needed to design management strategies that may address *M. hapla* PV.

APPENDICES

MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY

DETERMINED NOT "HUMAN SUBJECTS"

November 30, 2018

- Haddish Melakeberhan To:
- Re: MSU Study ID: STUDY00001796 Principal Investigator: Haddish Melakeberhan Determination Date: 11/30/2018

Title: Understanding Northern Root-Knot Nematode (Meloidogyne hapla) Parasitic Variability through the Multidisciplinary Approaches of Soil Biome and Environment.

The activity described in this submission was determined not to involve "human subjects" as defined by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) regulations for the protection of human research subjects.

Definition of Human Subject

For DHHS, "human subject" means "a living individual about whom an investigator (whether professional or student) conducting research obtains: (1) Data through intervention or interaction with the individual, or (2) Identifiable private information." [45 CFR 46.102(f)].



This project will collect soil samples and environmental data in order to study the plant parasitic nematode Meloidogyne hapla parasitic variabilty. This activity is not about living individuals and no research data will be collected through any interactions or interventions with human subjects

Hence, the activity does not involve human subjects.

Human Research Protection Program

4000 Collins Road Suite 136 Lansing, MI 48910

517-355-2180 Fax: 517-432-4503

Therefore, the federal regulations for the protection of human subjects would not apply to this activity and Michigan State University (MSU) Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval is not needed to proceed. However, please note that while MSU IRB approval is not required, other federal, state, or local regulations or requirements or ethical or professional standards may still be applicable based on the activity.

Modifications: If any of the activities described in this submission change, please contact the IRB office as the activity may involve human subject research and require IRB approval. For example, this determination is not applicable to activities that may be regulated by U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA), such as those involving drugs, medical devices, human food additives, color additives, electronic products, or any other test articles regulated by the FDA.

Modifications to Funding: Changes in funding may alter this determination. For example, MSU IRB review and approval is required if MSU receives an award through a grant, contract, or cooperative agreement directly from a federal agency,

MSILIS on affirmative-action rtunity er

Office of Regulatory Affairs

Email: irb@msu.edu www.hrpp.msu.edu

even where all non-exempt research involving human subjects are carried out by employees or agents of another institution.

For More Information: See HRPP Manual Section 4-3, Determination of Human Subject Research (available at <u>hrpp.msu.edu</u>).

Contact Information: If we can be of further assistance or if you have questions, please contact us at 517-355-2180 or via email at <u>IRB@msu.edu</u>. Please visit <u>hrpp.msu.edu</u> to access the HRPP Manual, templates, etc.

2

APPENDIX B | Soil sampling data sheet/questionnaire responses for 15 agricultural fields

Table B1 | General field data of the 15 agricultural fields collected from regions (east, southwestern and northwestern) and soil groups (mineral and muck) of Michigan showing the latitude, longitude, crop-rotation status, nutrient source, tillage, soil conditions and comments.

							Crop F	Rotation		
Region	Soil group	Field	Latitude	Longitude	Yes/ No	Cereal	Legume	Cover Crops	Vegetables	Nutrient Source
		1	43.068871°	-83.341871°	Yes	Barley	NA	NA	Several*	NA
	Mineral	2	43.092822°	-83.053522°	Yes	NA	Soybean	NA	NA	Inorganic
East		3	43.071761°	-83.032147°	Yes	Oats	NA	NA	NA	Inorganic
East		4	43.065446°	-83.067139°	Yes	NA	NA	NA	Onion	NA
	Muck	5	43.050561°	-83.068175°	Yes	Corn	NA	NA	NA	NA
		6	43.094628°	-83.064396°	Yes	Corn	NA	NA	NA	NA
		7	42.664865°	-86.047077°	Yes	Corn	NA	NA	NA	NA
Conthrugat	Mineral	8	42.108973°	-86.368160°	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Southwest		9	42.083001°	-86.367671°	Yes	Wheat	NA	Hairy vetch	NA	NA
	Muck	10	42.660808°	-85.996822°	Yes	Barley	NA	Sorghum	Several**	Inorganic
		11	43.840772°	-86.348123°	Yes	NA	NA	NA	Carrot	Inorganic
	Mineral	12	43.826522°	-86.378970°	Yes	Corn	NA	NA	NA	Organic
Northwest		13	43.764887°	-86.137222°	Yes	Wheat	NA	NA	NA	Inorganic
	Mual	14	43.351260°	-85.726828°	Yes	NA	NA	NA	Several***	Inorganic
	Muck	15	43.197608°	-85.782483°	Yes	NA	Soybean	NA	Several****	Inorganic

Table B1 (cont'd)

			Tillag	ge		
Region	Soil group	Field	^a Conventional/ ^b Conservation	Frequency in a year	Soil condition	Comments
	-	1	Conventional	1	Dry	Plastic mulch, drip irrigation & 45 to 50 years landuse
	Mineral	2	Conventional	NA	Dry	
Fact		3	Conventional	NA	Dry	Oats mixed with weeds
East		4	Conventional	NA	Dry	Soil surface dry but wet underneath
	Muck	5	Conventional	NA	Moist	
		6	Conventional	NA	Moist	
		7	Conventional	NA	Dry	
Southwast	Mineral	8	Conventional	NA	Dry	Field converted to an orchard
Southwest		9	Conventional	NA	Dry	
	Muck	10	Conventional	NA	Dry	NPK 5-12-42, fungicide & herbicide applied
		11	Conventional	NA	Dry	Field has corn plowed into soil
	Mineral	12	Conventional	1	Moist	Green manure applied
Northwest		13	Conventional	NA	Dry	
	Muck	14	Conventional	NA	Dry	
	WIUCK	15	Conventional	1 or 2	Dry	Lorax, vydate, potash and urea applied to field

* Onion, parsnips, turnip, tomato, pepper, sugar beet, ** Celery, onion, radish, *** Parsnip, sugar beet, **** Carrot, parsnip, sugar beet,

^aConventional tillage has 100% disturbance, ^bConservation tillage is either strip till, ridge till or mulch till

NA (Not available)

Questionnaire with responses filed at the Agricultural Nematology Lab of the Department of Horticulture

APPENDIX C | Assigned field codes for voucher specimen of 15 agricultural fields

Table C1 | Field codes of the 15 agricultural fields sampled from regions (east, southwestern) and northwestern) and soil groups (mineral and muck) of Michigan, used as cross-reference labels for data and the voucher specimen.

Region	Soil group	Field	Field code
	-	1	JW
	Mineral	2	PZ1
Fact		3	PZ2
East		4	EBR1
	Muck	5	EBR2
		6	EBR3
	-	7	PN
CW	Mineral	8	L
5 W		9	Μ
	Muck	10	ED
	-	11	OF2
	Mineral	12	OB2
NW		13	OF
	Marala	14	JWA
	MUCK	15	VS

APPENDIX D | PCR mix and thermocycle used for PCR in Chapter 2

Table D1 | Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) mix with volumes and thermocycle settings(temperature, time and cycles) used to amplify the 16 ribosomal region of bacteria.

PCR MIX

THERMOCYCLE

PCR Mix	μL	Total (µL)	Temp (°C)	Time(min)	Cycles
Dream Taq	6.25	937.5	95	2:00	
ITS1F	0.375	60	95	0:20	
ITS2R	0.375	60	55	0:15	30x
H ₂ 0	2	320	72	5:00	504
BSA	2	320	72	10:00	
DNA	1		4	inf	

APPENDIX E | PCR mix and thermocycle used for 3-step PCR in Chapter 2

Table E1 | Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) mix with volumes and thermocycle settings(temperature, time and cycles) used to amplify the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region offungal ribosome.

PCR MIX			THERMOCYCLE			
Step 1			Step 1			
PCR Mix	μL	Total (µL)	Temp (°C)	Time(min)	Cycles	
Dream Taq	6.25	937.5	95	5:00		
ITS1F	0.375	60	95	0:30		
ITS2R	0.375	60	50	0:30	- 10v	
H ₂ 0	2	320	72	1:00	10X	
BSA	2	320	72	7:00		
DNA	1		12	inf		
Step 2			Step 2			
PCR Mix	μL	Total (µL)	Temp (°C)	Time(min)	Cycles	
Dream Taq	6.25	1000	95	5:00		
ITS1F (with frameshift)	0.375	60	95	0:30	10.	
ITS2R (with frameshift)	0.375	60	50	0:35	- 10x	
H ₂ 0	1	160	72	1:05	-	
BSA	2	320	72	7:00		
DNA	2 from step1		12	inf		

Step 3			Step 3		
PCR Mix	μL	Total (µL)	Temp (°C)	Time(min)	Cycles
Dream Taq	8	1280	95	5:00	
PCR F	0.5	80	95	0:40	
H20	0.5	80	63	0:50	10x
Barcode	1		72	7:00	-
DNA	4 from step2		72	7:00	
			12	inf	

Table F1 | Worm lysis buffer (WLB) mix used to extract bacterial DNA associated with

 Meloidogyne hapla populations isolated directly from field soils and greenhouse cultures.

WLB Mix	μL
1M KCL	500
1M Tris pH 8.3	100
1M MgCl ₂	25
NP40	45
Tween 20	45
2% Gelatin	50
dd H ₂ 0	9,235
Total	10,000

APPENDIX G | Voucher specimens

Table G1 | Voucher specimens of *Meloidogyne hapla* nematodes identified from the sampledfields and mounted on glass slides. The specimens were from the infested fields identifiedafter the greenhouse screening of *M. hapla* in Chapter 2. The samples are stored in theAgricultural Nematology Laboratory, Department of Horticulture at MSU.

Region	Soil group	Field	Nematode	Number of	Developmental
		number	species	individuals	stage
	Mineral	2	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
Fost		4	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
East	Muck	5	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
		6	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
Southwost	Mineral	8	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
Southwest	Muck	10	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
Northwest	Mineral	13	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
	Muck	14	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female
		15	Meloidogyne hapla	1	Female

Table G2 | Voucher specimens of nematode genera identified from the sampled fields andmounted on glass slides. The specimens were from the 15 fields across the lower peninsula ofMichigan in Table 2.1. The samples are stored in the Agricultural Nematology Laboratory,Department of Horticulture at MSU.

Slide	Nematode	Number of	Developmental
number	genera	individuals	stage
1	Ditylenchus	1	Female
2	Acrobeles	1	Female
3	Criconema	1	Female
4	Aphelenchus	1	Female
5	Eucephalobus	1	Female
6	Nygolaimus	1	Female
7	Cephalobus	1	Female
8	Filenchus	1	Female
9	Rhabditis	1	Female
10	Epidorylaimus	1	Female
11	Eucephalobus	1	Female
12	Pellioditis	1	Female
13	Malenchus	1	Female
14	Psilenchus	1	Female
15	Aphelenchoides	1	Female
16	Eucephalobus	1	Female
17	Pratylenchus	1	Female
18	Tripyla	1	Female
19	Anaplectus	1	Female
20	Eucephalobus	1	Female
21	Helicotylechus	1	Female
22	Acrobeloides	1	Female
23	Chiloplacus	1	Female
24	Mesorhabditis	1	Female
25	Paraphelenchus	1	Female
26	Meloidogyne	1	Female
27	Plectus	1	Female
28	Scutylenchus	1	Female
29	Heterocephalobus	1	Female
30	Paratylenchus	1	Female

Slide	Nematode	Number of	Developmental
number	genera	individuals	stage
31	Alaimus	1	Female
32	Rhabditella	1	Female
33	Nothotylenchus	1	Female
34	Rotylenchus	1	Female
35	Aprutides	1	Female
36	Loofia	1	Female

1

1

1

1

1

1

Lamydorus

Heterodera

Pristionchus

Diploscapter

Mesodorylaimus

Prodorylaimus

Table G2 (cont'd)

37

38

39

40

41

42

Female

Female

Female

Female

Female

Female

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abarenkov, K., Zirk, A., Piirmann, T., Pöhönen, R., Ivanov, F., Nilsson, R.H., Kõljalg, U., 2020. UNITE general FASTA release for fungi.
- Adam, M., Westphal, A., Hallmann, J., Heuer, H., 2014. Specific microbial attachment to root knot nematodes in suppressive Soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 2679. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03905-13
- Akduman, N., Lightfoot, J.W., Röseler, W., Witte, H., Lo, W.S., Rödelsperger, C., Sommer, R.J., 2020. Bacterial vitamin B12 production enhances nematode predatory behavior. ISME J. 2020 146 14, 1494–1507. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-0626-2
- Anon, 2005. Rootknot nematodes. University of Illonois Extension report on plant disease. RPD No. 1101
- Avendaño, F., Pierce, F.J., Melakeberhan, H., 2004. Spatial analysis of soybean yield in relation to soil texture, soil fertility and soybean cyst nematode. Nematology 6, 527–545. https://doi.org/10.1163/1568541042665313
- Babin, D., Deubel, A., Jacquiod, S., Sørensen, S.J., Geistlinger, J., Grosch, R., Smalla, K., 2019. Impact of long-term agricultural management practices on soil prokaryotic communities. Soil Biol. Biochem. 129, 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.11.002
- Balows, A., Trüper, H., Dworkin, M., Harder, W., 1992. The prokaryotes: a handbook on the biology of bacteria: ecophysiology, isolation, identification, applications.
- Barry, K.H., Koutros, S., Lubin, J.H., Coble, J.B., Barone-Adesi, F., Beane Freeman, L.E., Sandler, D.P., Hoppin, J.A., Ma, X., Zheng, T., Alavanja, M.C.R., 2012. Methyl bromide exposure and cancer risk in the agricultural health study. Cancer Causes Control 23, 807–818. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-012-9949-2
- Bennett, L.T., Mele, P.M., Annett, S., Kasel, S., 2010. Examining links between soil management, soil health, and public benefits in agricultural landscapes: An Australian perspective. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2010.06.017
- Benucci, G.M.N., Bonito, V., Bonito, G., 2018. Fungal, bacterial, and archaeal diversity in soils beneath native and introduced plants in Fiji, South Pacific. Microb. Ecol. 2018 781 78, 136–146. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00248-018-1266-1
- Bergkemper, F., Kublik, S., Lang, F., Krüger, J., Vestergaard, G., Schloter, M., Schulz, S., 2016. Novel oligonucleotide primers reveal a high diversity of microbes which drive phosphorous turnover in soil. J. Microbiol. Methods 125, 91–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIMET.2016.04.011
- Bolyen, E., Rideout, J.R., Dillon, M.R., Bokulich, N.A., Abnet, C.C., Al-Ghalith, G.A., Alexander, H., Alm, E.J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J.E., Bittinger,

K., Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C.J., Brown, C.T., Callahan, B.J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A.M., Chase, J., Cope, E.K., Da Silva, R., Diener, C., Dorrestein, P.C., Douglas, G.M., Durall, D.M., Duvallet, C., Edwardson, C.F., Ernst, M., Estaki, M., Fouquier, J., Gauglitz, J.M., Gibbons, S.M., Gibson, D.L., Gonzalez, A., Gorlick, K., Guo, J., Hillmann, B., Holmes, S., Holste, H., Huttenhower, C., Huttley, G.A., Janssen, S., Jarmusch, A.K., Jiang, L., Kaehler, B.D., Kang, K. Bin, Keefe, C.R., Keim, P., Kellev, S.T., Knights, D., Koester, I., Kosciolek, T., Kreps, J., Langille, M.G.I., Lee, J., Ley, R., Liu, Y.-X., Loftfield, E., Lozupone, C., Maher, M., Marotz, C., Martin, B.D., McDonald, D., McIver, L.J., Melnik, A. V., Metcalf, J.L., Morgan, S.C., Morton, J.T., Naimey, A.T., Navas-Molina, J.A., Nothias, L.F., Orchanian, S.B., Pearson, T., Peoples, S.L., Petras, D., Preuss, M.L., Pruesse, E., Rasmussen, L.B., Rivers, A., Robeson, M.S., Rosenthal, P., Segata, N., Shaffer, M., Shiffer, A., Sinha, R., Song, S.J., Spear, J.R., Swafford, A.D., Thompson, L.R., Torres, P.J., Trinh, P., Tripathi, A., Turnbaugh, P.J., Ul-Hasan, S., van der Hooft, J.J.J., Vargas, F., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Vogtmann, E., von Hippel, M., Walters, W., Wan, Y., Wang, M., Warren, J., Weber, K.C., Williamson, C.H.D., Willis, A.D., Xu, Z.Z., Zaneveld, J.R., Zhang, Y., Zhu, Q., Knight, R., Caporaso, J.G., 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using OIIME 2. Nat. Biotechnol. 2019 378 37, 852-857. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9

- Bongers, T., 1994. De Nematoden van Nederland, 2nd ed. KNNV-bibliotheek-III, Uuitgaeverii 46. Pirola, Schoorl.
- Bongers, T., 1990. The maturity index: an ecological measure of environmental disturbance based on nematode species composition. Oecologia 83, 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00324627
- Bongers, T., Goede, R.G.M. de, Korthals, G.W., Yeates, G.W., 1995. Proposed changes of c-p classification for nematodes. Russ. J. Nematol. 3, 61–62.
- Bouyoucos, G.J., 1951. A recalibration of the hydrometer method for making mechanical analysis of soils. Agron. J. 43, 434–438. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1951.00021962004300090005x
- Bridge, J., Page, S.L.J., 1980. Estimation of root-knot nematode infestation levels on roots using a rating chart. Trop. Pest Manag. 26, 296–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/09670878009414416
- Brown, A.M.V., Howe, D.K., Wasala, S.K., Peetz, A.B., Zasada, I.A., Denver, D.R., 2015. Comparative genomics of a plant-parasitic nematode endosymbiont suggest a role in nutritional symbiosis. Genome Biol. Evol. 7, 2727–2746. https://doi.org/10.1093/GBE/EVV176
- Bucki, P., Paran, I., Ozalvo, R., Iberkleid, I., Ganot, L., Miyara, S.B., 2017. Pathogenic variability of *Meloidogyne incognita* populations occurring in pepper-production greenhouses in Israel toward Me1, Me3 and N pepper resistance genes. Plant Dis. 101, 1391–1401. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-11-16-1667-RE

Budnik, L.T., Kloth, S., Velasco-Garrido, M., Baur, X., 2012. Prostate cancer and toxicity

from critical use exemptions of methyl bromide: Environmental protection helps protect against human health risks. Environ. Heal. A Glob. Access Sci. Source. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-11-522284215

- CABI, 2002. *Meloidogyne hapla*. [Distribution map]. [WWW Document]. Distrib. Maps Plant Dis. https://doi.org/10.1079/dmpd/20066500853
- Cacciari, I., Lippi, D., 2009. Arthrobacters: Successful arid soil bacteria: A review. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15324988709381125 1, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/15324988709381125
- Cáceres, M. De, Legendre, P., 2009. Associations between species and groups of sites: indices and statistical inference. Ecology 90, 3566–3574. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1823.1
- Calderón-Urrea, A., Vanholme, B., Vangestel, S., Kane, S.M., Bahaji, A., Pha, K., Garcia, M., Snider, A., Gheysen, G., 2016. Early development of the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*. BMC Dev. Biol. 16, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12861-016-0109-x
- Cannon, P., Cannon, P., Buddie, A., Bridge, P., de Neergaard, E., Lübeck, M., Askar, M., 2012. Lectera, a new genus of the Plectosphaerellaceae for the legume pathogen *Volutella colletotrichoides* [WWW Document]. MycoKeys. https://doi.org/10.3897/mycokeys.3.3065
- Cao, Y., Tian, B., Ji, X., Shang, S., Lu, C., Zhang, K., 2015. Associated bacteria of different life stages of *Meloidogyne incognita* using pyrosequencing-based analysis. J. Basic Microbiol. 55, 950–960. https://doi.org/10.1002/JOBM.201400816
- Caporaso, J.G., Lauber, C.L., Walters, W.A., Berg-Lyons, D., Lozupone, C.A., Turnbaugh, P.J., Fierer, N., Knight, R., 2011. Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 4516–4522. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000080107
- Castillo, J.D., Vivanco, J.M., Manter, D.K., 2017. Bacterial microbiome and nematode occurrence in different potato agricultural soils. Microb. Ecol. 74, 888–900. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-017-0990-2
- Chaparro, J.M., Sheflin, A.M., Manter, D.K., Vivanco, J.M., 2012. Manipulating the soil microbiome to increase soil health and plant fertility 48, 489–499.
- Chen, K.-H., Liao, H.-L., Arnold, A.E., Bonito, G., Lutzoni, F., 2018. RNA-based analyses reveal fungal communities structured by a senescence gradient in the moss *Dicranum scoparium* and the presence of putative multi-trophic fungi. New Phytol. 218, 1597– 1611. https://doi.org/10.1111/NPH.15092
- Chen, P., Tsay, T.T., 2006. Effect of crop rotation on *Meloidogyne* spp. and *Pratylenchus* spp. populations in strawberry fields in Taiwan. J. Nematol. 38, 339–344.

- Chen, S., 2020. Dynamics of population density and virulence phenotype of the soybean cyst nematode as influenced by resistance source sequence and tillage. Plant Dis. 104, 2111–2122. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-09-19-1916-RE
- Chen, Z.X., Dickson, D.W., 1998. Review of *Pasteuria penetrans*: Biology, Ecology, and biological control potential. J. Nematol. 30, 313.
- Cheng, Z., Melakeberhan, H., Mennan, S., Grewal, P.S., 2018. Relationship between soybean cyst nematode, *Heterodera glycines*, and soil nematode communities under long-term tillage and crop rotation systems. Nematropica 48, 101–115.
- Chiellini, C., Pasqualetti, C., Lanzoni, O., Fagorzi, C., Bazzocchi, C., Fani, R., Petroni, G., Modeo, L., 2019. Harmful effect of *Rheinheimera* sp. Eprs3 (Gammaproteobacteria) against the protist *Euplotes aediculatus* (Ciliophora, Spirotrichea): Insights into the ecological role of antimicrobial compounds from environmental bacterial strains. Front. Microbiol. 10, 510. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2019.00510/BIBTEX
- Chu, H., Wang, C., Li, Z., Wang, H., Xiao, Y., Chen, J., Tang, M., 2019. The dark septate endophytes and ectomycorrhizal fungi effect on *Pinus tabulaeformis* Carr. Seedling growth and their potential effects to pine wilt disease resistance. For. 2019, Vol. 10, Page 140 10, 140. https://doi.org/10.3390/F10020140
- Colagiero, M., Rosso, L.C., Catalano, D., Schena, L., Ciancio, A., 2020. Response of tomato rhizosphere bacteria to root-knot nematodes, fenamiphos and sampling time shows differential effects on low level taxa. Front. Microbiol. 390.
- Colegate, S.M., Molyneux, R.J., 2007. Bioactive natural products: Detection, isolation, and structural determination, second edition, bioactive natural products: Detection, isolation, and structural determination, Second Edition.
- Costa, S.R., Pin Ng, J.L., Mathesius, U., 2021. Interaction of symbiotic *Rhizobia* and parasitic root-knot nematodes in legume roots: From molecular regulation to field application. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 34, 470–490. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-12-20-0350-FI/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/MPMI-12-20-0350-FIT4.JPEG
- Curtis, R.H.C., Jones, J.T., Davies, K.G., Sharon, E., Spiegel, Y., 2018. In Biological control of plant-parasitic nematodes, in: Davies, K., Spiegel, Yitzhak (Eds.), Diseases of Nematodes. Springer, pp. 93–140. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781351071468
- da Silva, W.L., Yang, K.T., Pettis, G.S., Soares, N.R., Giorno, R., Clark, C.A., 2019. Flooding-associated soft rot of sweetpotato storage roots caused by distinct *Clostridium* isolates. Plant Dis. 103, 3050–3056. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-03-19-0548-RE/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/PDIS-03-19-0548-RE_T2.JPEG
- Daneshkhah, R., Cabello, S., Rozanska, E., Sobczak, M., Grundler, F.M.W., Wieczorek, K., Hofmann, J., 2013. *Piriformospora indica* antagonizes cyst nematode infection and development in *Arabidopsis* roots. J. Exp. Bot. 64, 3763–3774. https://doi.org/10.1093/JXB/ERT213
- Davies, K.G., 2005. Interactions between nematodes and microorganisms: Bridging ecological and molecular approaches, in: Laskin, A.I., Bennett, J.W., Gadd, G.M. (Eds.), Advances in Applied Microbiology. pp. 53–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2164(05)57002-3
- Davies, K.G., Williamson, V.M., 2006. Host specificity exhibited by populations of endospores of *Pasteuria penetrans* to the juvenile and male cuticles of *Meloidogyne hapla*. Nematology 8, 475–476. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854106778493493
- Davis, N.M., Proctor, Di.M., Holmes, S.P., Relman, D.A., Callahan, B.J., 2018. Simple statistical identification and removal of contaminant sequences in marker-gene and metagenomics data. Microbiome 6, 226. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0605-2
- Desaeger, J., 2019. *Meloidogyne hapla*, the northern root-knot nematode, in Florida strawberries and associated double-cropped vegetables. Edis 2019. https://doi.org/10.32473/edis-in1224-2018
- Desaeger, J., Dickson, D.W., Locascio, S.J., 2017. Methyl bromide alternatives for control of root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne* spp.) in tomato production in Florida. J. Nematol. 49, 140–149. https://doi.org/10.21307/jofnem-2017-058
- Desgarennes, D., Carrion, G., López-Lima, J.D., 2018. Integrated management reduces *Globodera rostochiensis* abundance and enhances nematode community composition. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 64, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2017.1322195
- Díaz-Vallejo, E.J., Seeley, M., Smith, A.P., Marín-Spiotta, E., 2021. A meta-analysis of tropical land-use change effects on the soil microbiome: Emerging patterns and knowledge gaps. Biotropica 53, 738–752. https://doi.org/10.1111/BTP.12931
- Dirksen, P., Marsh, S.A., Braker, I., Heitland, N., Wagner, S., Nakad, R., Mader, S., Petersen, C., Kowallik, V., Rosenstiel, P., Félix, M.A., Schulenburg, H., 2016. The native microbiome of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*: Gateway to a new hostmicrobiome model. BMC Biol. 14, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12915-016-0258-1/FIGURES/4
- Dixon, P., 2003. VEGAN, a package of R functions for community ecology. J. Veg. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02228.x
- Donald, P.A., Tyler, D.D., Boykin, D.L., 2009. Short- and long-term tillage effects on *Heterodera glycines* reproduction in soybean monoculture in west Tennessee. Soil Tillage Res. 104, 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2009.02.002
- Doran, J.W., Zeiss, M.R., 2000. Soil health and sustainability: managing the biotic component of soil quality. Appl. Soil Ecol. 15, 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(00)00067-6
- DuPont, S.T., Ferris, H., Van Horn, M., 2009. Effects of cover crop quality and quantity on nematode-based soil food webs and nutrient cycling. Appl. Soil Ecol. 41, 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2008.10.004

- East, Katherine E., Zasada, I.A., Schreiner, R.P., Moyer, M.M., 2019. Developmental Dynamics of *Meloidogyne hapla* in Washington Wine Grapes. Plant Dis. 103, 966–971. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-07-18-1195-RE
- East, Katherine E, Zasada, I.A., Schreiner, R.P., Moyer, M.M., 2019. Developmental dynamics of *Meloidogyne hapla* in Washington wine grapes. Plant Dis. 103, 966–971. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-07-18-1195-RE
- Eberlein, C., Heuer, H., Vidal, S., Westphal, A., 2016. Microbial Communities in *Globodera pallida* females raised in potato monoculture soil. http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-07-15-0180-R 106, 581–590. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-07-15-0180-R
- Eisenhauer, N., Dobies, T., Cesarz, S., Hobbie, S.E., Meyer, R.J., Worm, K., Reich, P.B., 2013. Plant diversity effects on soil food webs are stronger than those of elevated CO2 and N deposition in a long-term grassland experiment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 6889–6894. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1217382110
- Eisenhauer, N., Reich, P.B., Scheu, S., 2012. Increasing plant diversity effects on productivity with time due to delayed soil biota effects on plants. Basic Appl. Ecol. 13, 571–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2012.09.002
- Elhady, A., Giné, A., Topalovic, O., Jacquiod, S., Sørensen, S.J., Sorribas, F.J., Heue, H., 2017. Microbiomes associated with infective stages of root-knot and lesion nematodes in soil. PLoS One 12, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177145
- Elhady, A., Hallmann, J., Heuer, H., 2020. Symbiosis of soybean with nitrogen fixing bacteria affected by root lesion nematodes in a density-dependent manner. Sci. Reports 2020 101 10, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-58546-x
- Elnahal, A.S.M., El-Saadony, M.T., Saad, A.M., Desoky, E.S.M., El-Tahan, A.M., Rady, M.M., AbuQamar, S.F., El-Tarabily, K.A., 2022. The use of microbial inoculants for biological control, plant growth promotion, and sustainable agriculture: A review. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 162, 759–792. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10658-021-02393-7/FIGURES/3
- Engelbrecht, G., Claassens, S., Mienie, C.M.S., Fourie, H., 2021. Screening of rhizosphere bacteria and nematode populations associated with soybean roots in the Mpumalanga highveld of South Africa. Microorganisms 9, 1813. https://doi.org/10.3390/MICROORGANISMS9091813/S1
- Fahrbach, M., Kuever, J., Remesch, M., Huber, B.E., Kämpfer, P., Dott, W., Hollender, J., 2008. Steroidobacter denitrificans gen. nov., sp. nov., a steroidal hormone-degrading gammaproteobacterium. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 58, 2215–2223. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJS.0.65342-0/CITE/REFWORKS
- Falagán, C., Johnson, D.B., 2014. *Acidibacter ferrireducens* gen. nov., sp. nov.: an acidophilic ferric iron-reducing gammaproteobacterium. Extremophiles 18, 1067–1073. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00792-014-0684-3

Fan, D., Subramanian, S., Smith, D.L., 2020. Plant endophytes promote growth and alleviate

salt stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Sci. Reports 2020 101 10, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69713-5

- Farh, M.E.A., Kim, Y.J., Van An, H., Sukweenadhi, J., Singh, P., Huq, M.A., Yang, D.C., 2015. Burkholderia ginsengiterrae sp. nov. and Burkholderia panaciterrae sp. nov., antagonistic bacteria against root rot pathogen Cylindrocarpon destructans, isolated from ginseng soil. Arch. Microbiol. 197, 439–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00203-014-1075-Y
- Feng, H., Wang, T., Osborne, S.L., Kumar, S., 2021. Yield and economic performance of crop rotation systems in South Dakota. Agrosystems, Geosci. Environ. 4, e20196. https://doi.org/10.1002/AGG2.20196
- Feng, M.G., Johnson, J.B., Kish, L.P., 1990. Survey of entomopathogenic fungi naturally infecting cereal aphids (Homoptera: Aphididae) of irrigated grain crops in southwestern Idaho. Environ. Entomol. 19, 1534–1542. https://doi.org/10.1093/EE/19.5.1534
- Ferris, H., Bongers, T., De Goede, R.G.M., 2001. A framework for soil food web diagnostics: Extension of the nematode faunal analysis concept. Appl. Soil Ecol. 18, 13–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(01)00152-4
- Fierer, N., Jackson, R.B., 2006. The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103, 626–631. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0507535103
- Forero, L.E., Grenzer, J., Heinze, J., Schittko, C., Kulmatiski, A., 2019. Greenhouse- and field-measured plant-soil feedbacks are not correlated. Front. Environ. Sci. 7, 184. https://doi.org/10.3389/FENVS.2019.00184/BIBTEX
- Freckman, D.W., Ettema, C.H., 1993. Assessing nematode communities in agroecosystems of varying human intervention. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 45, 239–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8809(93)90074-Y
- Gardes, M., Bruns, T.D., 1993. ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Mol. Ecol. 2, 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.1993.tb00005.x
- Garnier, M., Foissac, X., Gaurivaud, P., Laigret, F., Renaudin, J., Saillard, C., Bové, J.M., 2001. Mycoplasmas plants insect vectors: A matrimonial triangle. Comptes Rendus l'Academie des Sci. - Ser. III 324, 923–928. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0764-4469(01)01372-5
- Gavassoni, W.L., Tylka, G.L., Munkvold, G.P., 2007. Effects of tillage practices on dissemination and spatial patterns of *Heterodera glycines* and soybean yield. Plant Dis. 91, 973–978. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-91-8-0973
- Gdanetz, K., Benucci, G.M.N., Vande Pol, N., Bonito, G., 2017. CONSTAX: A tool for improved taxonomic resolution of environmental fungal ITS sequences. BMC Bioinformatics 18, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-017-1952-x

- Ghahremani, Z., Escudero, N., Beltrán-Anadón, D., Saus, E., Cunquero, M., Andilla, J., Loza-Alvarez, P., Gabaldón, T., Sorribas, F.J., 2020. Bacillus firmus Strain I-1582, a Nematode Antagonist by Itself and Through the Plant. Front. Plant Sci. 11, 796. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2020.00796/BIBTEX
- Ghodhbane-Gtari, F., Nouioui, I., Hezbri, K., Lundstedt, E., D'Angelo, T., McNutt, Z., Laplaze, L., Gherbi, H., Vaissayre, V., Svistoonoff, S., Ahmed, H. ben, Boudabous, A., Tisa, L.S., 2019. The plant-growth-promoting actinobacteria of the genus *Nocardia* induces root nodule formation in *Casuarina glauca*. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 112, 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10482-018-1147-0
- Gomiero, T., Pimentel, D., Paoletti, M.G., 2011. Environmental impact of different agricultural management practices: conventional vs. organic agriculture. CRC. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2011.554355
- Gopalakrishnan, S., Srinivas, V., Naresh, N., Alekhya, G., Sharma, R., 2019. Exploiting plant growth-promoting *Amycolatopsis* sp. for bio-control of charcoal rot of sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) caused by *Macrophomina phaseolina* (Tassi) Goid. https://doi.org/10.1080/03235408.2018.1553472 52, 543–559. https://doi.org/10.1080/03235408.2018.1553472
- Goto, M., Kuwata, H., 1988. *Rhizobacter daucus* gen. nov., sp. nov., the causal agent of carrot bacterial gall. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 38, 233–239. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-38-3-233/CITE/REFWORKS
- Grabau, Z.J., Chen, S., 2016. Influence of long-term corn-soybean crop sequences on soil ecology as indicated by the nematode community. Appl. Soil Ecol. 100, 172–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.12.016
- Grabau, Z.J., Maung, Z.T.Z., Noyes, D.C., Baas, D.G., Werling, B.P., Brainard, D.C., Melakeberhan, H., 2017. Effects of cover crops on *Pratylenchus penetrans* and the nematode community in carrot production. J. Nematol. 49, 114–123. https://doi.org/10.21307/jofnem-2017-051
- Grappel, S.F., Giovenella, A.J., Phillips, L., Pitkin, D.H., Nisbet, L.J., 1985. Antimicrobial activity of aridicins, novel glycopeptide antibiotics with high and prolonged levels in blood. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 28, 660–662. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.28.5.660
- Gu, Z., Eils, R., Schlesner, M., 2016. Complex heatmaps reveal patterns and correlations in multidimensional genomic data. Bioinformatics 32, 2847–2849. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btw313
- Gugino, B.K., Abawi, G.S., Ludwig, J.W., 2006. Damage and management of *Meloidogyne hapla* using oxamyl on carrot in New York. J. Nematol. 38, 483.
- Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D., 2001. PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontol. Electron. 4, 9.

- Heiri, O., Lotter, A.F., Lemcke, G., 2001. Loss on ignition as a method for estimating organic and carbonate content in sediments: Reproducibility and comparability of results. J. Paleolimnol. 25, 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008119611481
- Hill, M.O., 1973. Diversity and Evenness: A unifying notation and its consequences. Ecology 54, 427–432. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934352
- Hlokwe, T.M., Said, H., Gcebe, N., 2017. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection in cattle from the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa. BMC Vet. Res. 13, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12917-017-1220-3/FIGURES/5
- Hu, W., Samac, D.A., Liu, X., Chen, S., 2017. Microbial communities in the cysts of soybean cyst nematode affected by tillage and biocide in a suppressive soil. Appl. Soil Ecol. 119, 396–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2017.07.018
- Huffman, S.A., Barbarick, K.A., 1981. Soil nitrate analysis by cadmium reduction. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 12, 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103628109367129
- Hunt, D.J., Handoo, Z.A., 2010. Taxonomy, identification and principal species, root-knot nematodes. Cabi Publishing-C a B Int, Wallingford.
- Hussey, R.S., Boerma, H.R., 1981. A greenhouse screening procedure for root-knot nematode resistance in soybeans. Crop Sci. 21, 794–796. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1981.0011183x002100050041x
- Inderbitzin, P., Ward, J., Barbella, A., Solares, N., Izyumin, D., Burman, P., Chellemi, D.O., Subbarao, K. V., 2018. Soil microbiomes associated with *Verticillium* wilt-suppressive broccoli and chitin amendments are enriched with potential biocontrol agents. Phytopathology 108, 31–43. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-07-17-0242-R/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/PHYTO-07-17-0242-R_F9.JPEG
- Inserra, R.N., Griffin, G.D., Sisson, D. V, 1983. Effects of temperature and root leachates on embryogenic development and hatching of *Meloidogyne chitwoodi* and *M. hapla*. J. Nematol. 15, 123–7.
- Ishizaki, T., Nomura, N., Watanabe, K., 2015. Screening of mushrooms for nematophagous activity against the pinewood nematode, *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus*. Nematol. Res. (Japanese J. Nematol. 45, 19–25. https://doi.org/10.3725/jjn.45.19
- Ito, T., Araki, M., Higashi, T., Komatsuzaki, M., Kaneko, N., Ohta, H., 2015. Responses of soil nematode community structure to soil carbon changes due to different tillage and cover crop management practices over a nine-year period in Kanto, Japan. Appl. Soil Ecol. 89, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2014.12.010
- Jin, N., Lu, X., Wang, X., Liu, Q., Peng, D., Jian, H., 2019. The effect of combined application of *Streptomyces rubrogriseus* HDZ-9-47 with soil biofumigation on soil microbial and nematode communities. Sci. Reports 2019 91 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52941-9

Joshi, N., 2011. "Sabre: a barcode demultiplexing and trimming tool for FastQ files."

- Kanfra, X., Wrede, A., Moll, J., Heuer, H., 2022. Nematode–microbe complexes in soils replanted with apple. Microorganisms 10, 157. https://doi.org/10.3390/MICROORGANISMS10010157/S1
- Khan, M.R., Mohidin, F.A., Khan, U., Ahamad, F., 2016. Native *Pseudomonas* spp. suppressed the root-knot nematode in in vitro and in vivo, and promoted the nodulation and grain yield in the field grown mungbean. Biol. Control 101, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOCONTROL.2016.06.012
- Khan, Z., Kim, S.G., Jeon, Y.H., Khan, H.U., Son, S.H., Kim, Y.H., 2008. A plant growth promoting rhizobacterium, *Paenibacillus polymyxa* strain GBR-1, suppresses root-knot nematode. Bioresour. Technol. 99, 3016–3023. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2007.06.031
- Khan, Z., Kim, Y.H., 2007. A review on the role of predatory soil nematodes in the biological control of plant parasitic nematodes. Appl. Soil Ecol. 35, 370–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2006.07.007
- Kimpinski, J., Sanderson, K., 2004. Effects of crop rotations on carrot yield and on the nematodes *Pratylenchus penetrans* and *Meloidogyne hapla*. Phytoprotection 85, 13–17. https://doi.org/10.7202/008901ar
- Kindt, R., Coe, R., 2005. Kindt R, Coe R.. Tree Diversity analysis. A manual and software for common statistical methods and biodiversity studies. World Agroforestry Centre. (ICRAF): Nairobi.
- Kirkpatrick, T.L., Sasser, J.N., 1983. Parasitic variability of *Meloidogyne incognita* populations on susceptible and resistant cotton. J. Nematol. 15, 302–7.
- Kumari, S., Nagendran, K., Rai, A.B., Singh, B., Govind Pratap Rao, Bertaccini, A., 2019. Global status of phytoplasma diseases in vegetable crops. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1349. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2019.01349/BIBTEX
- Lal, R., 2016. Soil health and carbon management. Food Energy Secur. 5, 212–222. https://doi.org/10.1002/FES3.96
- Lal, R., 2011. Soil Health and Climate Change: An Overview, in: Singh, B.P., Cowie, A.L., Chan, K.Y. (Eds.), Soil health and climate change. Springer-Verlag Berlin, Berlin, pp. 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-20256-8_1
- Lamelas, A., Desgarennes, D., López-Lima, D., Villain, L., Alonso-Sánchez, A., Artacho, A., Latorre, A., Moya, A., Carrión, G., 2020. The Bacterial Microbiome of *Meloidogyne*based disease complex in coffee and tomato. Front. Plant Sci. 11, 136. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2020.00136/BIBTEX
- Lammel, D.R., Barth, G., Ovaskainen, O., Cruz, L.M., Zanatta, J.A., Ryo, M., de Souza, E.M., Pedrosa, F.O., 2018. Direct and indirect effects of a pH gradient bring insights

into the mechanisms driving prokaryotic community structures. Microbiome 6, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-018-0482-8/FIGURES/4

- Lartey, I., Kravchenko, A., Marsh, T., Melakeberhan, H., 2021. Occurrence of *Meloidogyne hapla* relative to nematode abundance and soil food web structure in soil groups of selected Michigan vegetable production fields. Nematology 23, 1011–1022. https://doi.org/10.1163/15685411-bja10091
- Lazarova, S.S., Brown, D.J.F., Oliveira, C.M.G., Fenton, B., MacKenzie, K., Wright, F., Malloch, G., Neilson, R., 2016. Diversity of endosymbiont bacteria associated with a non-filarial nematode group. Nematology 18, 615–623. https://doi.org/10.1163/15685411-00002982
- Li, A.H., Yuan, F.X., Groenewald, M., Bensch, K., Yurkov, A.M., Li, K., Han, P.J., Guo, L.D., Aime, M.C., Sampaio, J.P., Jindamorakot, S., Turchetti, B., Inacio, J., Fungsin, B., Wang, Q.M., Bai, F.Y., 2020. Diversity and phylogeny of basidiomycetous yeasts from plant leaves and soil: Proposal of two new orders, three new families, eight new genera and one hundred and seven new species. Stud. Mycol. 96, 17–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SIMYCO.2020.01.002
- Li, P.F., Li, S.G., Li, Z.F., Zhao, L., Wang, T., Pan, H.W., Liu, H., Wu, Z.H., Li, Y.Z., 2013. Co-cultivation of *Sorangium cellulosum* strains affects cellular growth and biosynthesis of secondary metabolite epothilones. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 85, 358–368. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12125
- Liber, J.A., Bonito, G., Benucci, G.M.N., 2021. CONSTAX2: Improved taxonomic classification of environmental DNA markers. Bioinformatics 2021.02.15.430803. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btab347
- Lindahl, B.D., Nilsson, R.H., Tedersoo, L., Abarenkov, K., Carlsen, T., Kjøller, R., Kõljalg, U., Pennanen, T., Rosendahl, S., Stenlid, J., Kauserud, H., 2013. Fungal community analysis by high-throughput sequencing of amplified markers – a user's guide. New Phytol. 199, 288–299. https://doi.org/10.1111/NPH.12243
- Liu, Q.L., Williamson, V.M., 2006. Host-specific pathogenicity and genome differences between inbred strains of *Meloidogyne hapla*. J. Nematol. 38, 158–64.
- Liu, T., Hu, F., Li, H., 2019. Spatial ecology of soil nematodes: Perspectives from global to micro scales. Soil Biol. Biochem. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.107565
- Liu, X., Zhang, S., Jiang, Q., Bai, Y., Shen, G., Li, S., Ding, W., 2016. Using community analysis to explore bacterial indicators for disease suppression of tobacco bacterial wilt. Sci. Reports 2016 61 6, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep36773
- Liu, Y., Qu, Z.L., Liu, B., Ma, Y., Xu, J., Shen, W.X., Sun, H., 2021. The impact of pine wood nematode infection on the host fungal community. Microorganisms 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/MICROORGANISMS9050896/S1

Longley, R., Noel, Z.A., Benucci, G.M.N., Chilvers, M.I., Trail, F., Bonito, G., 2020. Crop

management impacts the soybean (*Glycine max*) Microbiome. Front. Microbiol. 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01116

- Luna, E., Van Eck, L., Campillo, T., Weinroth, M., Metcalf, J., Perez-Quintero, A.L., Botha, A.M., Thannhauser, T.W., Pappin, D., Tisserat, N.A., Lapitan, N.L.V., Argueso, C.T., Ode, P.J., Heck, M.L., Leach, J.E., 2018. Bacteria associated with Russian wheat aphid (*Diuraphis noxia*) enhance aphid virulence to wheat. Phytobiomes J. 2, 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1094/PBIOMES-06-18-0027-R
- Lundberg, D.S., Yourstone, S., Mieczkowski, P., Jones, C.D., Dangl, J.L., 2013. Practical innovations for high-throughput amplicon sequencing. Nat. Methods 2013 1010 10, 999–1002. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2634
- Luo, D., Langendries, S., Mendez, S.G., De Ryck, J., Liu, D., Beirinckx, S., Willems, A., Russinova, E., Debode, J., Goormachtig, S., 2019. Plant growth promotion driven by a novel *Caulobacter* strain. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 32, 1162–1174. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-12-18-0347-R
- Luo, Y., Wang, F., Huang, Y., Zhou, M., Gao, J., Yan, T., Sheng, H., An, L., 2019. Sphingomonas sp. Cra20 increases plant growth rate and alters rhizosphere microbial community structure of Arabidopsis thaliana under drought stress. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1221. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2019.01221/BIBTEX
- Lupatini, M., Jacques, R.J.S., Antoniolli, Z.I., Suleiman, A.K.A., Fulthorpe, R.R., Roesch, L.F.W., 2013. Land-use change and soil type are drivers of fungal and archaeal communities in the Pampa biome. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 29, 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-012-1174-3
- Madigan, M., Cox, S.S., Stegeman, R.A., 1984. Nitrogen fixation and nitrogenase activities in members of the family Rhodospirillaceae. J. Bacteriol. 157, 73–78. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.157.1.73-78.1984
- Maróti, G., Kondorosi, É., 2014. Nitrogen-fixing Rhizobium-legume symbiosis: Are polyploidy and host peptide-governed symbiont differentiation general principles of endosymbiosis? Front. Microbiol. 5, 326. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2014.00326/BIBTEX
- Mateille, T., Tavoillot, J., Goillon, C., Pares, L., Lefèvre, A., Védie, H., Navarrete, M., Palloix, A., Sage-Palloix, A.M., Castagnone-Sereno, P., Fazari, A., Marteu, N., Djian-Caporalino, C., 2020. Competitive interactions in plant-parasitic nematode communities affecting organic vegetable cropping systems. Crop Prot. 135, 105206. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CROPRO.2020.105206
- McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S., 2014. Waste Not, Want Not: Why Rarefying Microbiome Data Is Inadmissible. PLOS Comput. Biol. 10, e1003531. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PCBI.1003531
- McSorley, R., 2003. Adaptations of nematodes to environmental extremes, in: Florida Entomologist. pp. 138–142. https://doi.org/10.1653/0015-

4040(2003)086[0138:AONTEE]2.0.CO;2

- Melakeberhan, H., 1999. Effects of nutrient source on the physiological mechanisms of *Heterodera glycines* and soybean genotypes interactions. Nematology 1, 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854199508009
- Melakeberhan, H., Bonito, G., Kravchenko, A.N., 2021a. Application of nematode community analyses-based models towards identifying sustainable soil health management outcomes: A review of the concepts. Soil Syst. 2021, Vol. 5, Page 32 5, 32. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems5020032
- Melakeberhan, H., Dey, J., Baligar, V.C., Carter, T.E., 2004. Effect of soil pH on the pathogenesis of *Heterodera glycines* and *Meloidogyne incognita* on *Glycine max* genotypes. Nematology 6, 585–592. https://doi.org/10.1163/1568541042665205
- Melakeberhan, H., Douches, D., Wang, W., 2012. Interactions of selected potato cultivars and populations of *Meloidogyne hapla* adapted to the midwest U.S. soils. Crop Sci. 52, 1132–1137. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2011.08.0409
- Melakeberhan, H., Kravchenko, A., Dahl, J., Warncke, D., 2010. Effects of soil types and *Meloidogyne hapla* on the multi-purpose uses of arugula (*Eruca sativa*). Nematology 12, 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854109X456853
- Melakeberhan, H., Maung, Z., Lartey, I., Yildiz, S., Gronseth, J., Qi, J., Karuku, G.N., Kimenju, J.W., Kwoseh, C., Adjei-gyapong, T., 2021b. Nematode community-based soil food web analysis of ferralsol, lithosol and nitosol soil groups in Ghana, Kenya and Malawi reveals distinct soil health degradations. Diversity 13, 1–19. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.3390/d13030101
- Melakeberhan, H., Maung, Z.T.Z., Lee, C.L., Poindexter, S., Stewart, J., 2018. Soil typedriven variable effects on cover- and rotation-crops, nematodes and soil food web in sugar beet fields reveal a roadmap for developing healthy soils. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 85, 53– 63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2018.01.007
- Melakeberhan, H., Mennan, S., Chen, S., Darby, B., Dudek, T., 2007. Integrated approaches to understanding and managing *Meloidogyne hapla* populations' parasitic variability. Crop Prot. 26, 894–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2006.08.008
- Melakeberhan, H., Wang, W., 2013. Proof-of-concept for managing *Meloidogyne hapla* parasitic variability in carrot production soils. Nematology 15, 339–346. https://doi.org/10.1163/15685411-00002681
- Melakeberhan, H., Wang, W., 2012. Suitability of celery cultivars to infection by populations of *Meloidogyne hapla*. Nematology 14, 623–629. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854112X624186
- Mennan, S., Chen, S., Melakeberhan, H., 2006. Suppression of *Meloidogyne hapla* populations by *Hirsutella minnesotensis*. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1080/09583150500258610 16, 181–193.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09583150500258610

- Miles, P.W., 1999. Aphid saliva. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 74, 41–85. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0006323198005271
- Mitchum, M.G., Wrather, J.A., Heinz, R.D., 2007. Variability in distribution and virulence phenotypes of *Heterodera glycines* in Missouri during 2005. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-91-11-1473
- Mitkowski, N.A., Abawi, G.S., 2003. Root-knot nematodes. Plant Heal. Instr. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHI-I-2003-0917-01
- Mugford, S.T., Barclay, E., Drurey, C., Findlay, K.C., Hogenhout, S.A., 2016. An immunosuppressive aphid saliva protein is delivered into the cytosol of plant mesophyll cells during feeding. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 29, 854–861. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-08-16-0168-R/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/MPMI-08-16-0168-R_F4.JPEG
- Murata, G., Uesugi, K., 2021. Parasitism of *Solanum torvum* by *Meloidogyne hapla* populations from Japan. J. Phytopathol. 169, 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/JPH.12966
- Murphy, B.W., 2015. Impact of soil organic matter on soil properties—a review with emphasis on Australian soils. Soil Res. 53, 605–635. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR14246
- Naqqash, T., Imran, A., Hameed, S., Shahid, M., Majeed, A., Iqbal, J., Hanif, M.K., Ejaz, S., Malik, K.A., 2020. First report of diazotrophic *Brevundimonas* spp. as growth enhancer and root colonizer of potato. Sci. Reports 2020 101 10, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69782-6
- Neher, D.A., 2010. Ecology of plant and free-living nematodes in natural and agricultural soil. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 48, 371–394. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-073009-114439
- Nelson, D.W., 1983. Determination of ammonium in kc1 extracts of soils by the salicylate method. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 14, 1051–1062. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103628309367431
- Norton, D., 1978. Ecology of plant-parasitic nematodes. New York, USA, John Wiley & Sons 268pp
- Nour, S.M., Lawrence, J.R., Zhu, H., Swerhone, G.D.W., Welsh, M., Welacky, T.W., Topp, E., 2003. Bacteria associated with cysts of the soybean cyst nematode (*Heterodera* glycines). Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 607–615. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.1.607-615.2003/ASSET/44E9F0ED-4FC4-4DD2-BB06-9B5297DFA6BB/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/AM0131002004.JPEG
- Oka, Y., 2020. From old-generation to next-generation nematicides. Agron. 2020, Vol. 10, Page 1387 10, 1387. https://doi.org/10.3390/AGRONOMY10091387

- Okada, H., Kadota, I., 2003. Host status of 10 fungal isolates for two nematode species, *Filenchus misellus* and *Aphelenchus avenae*. Soil Biol. Biochem. 35, 1601–1607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2003.08.004
- Oliver, A.K., Callaham, M.A., Jumpponen, A., 2015. Soil fungal communities respond compositionally to recurring frequent prescribed burning in a managed southeastern US forest ecosystem. For. Ecol. Manage. 345, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2015.02.020
- Opperman, Charles H., Bird, D.M., Williamson, V.M., Rokhsar, D.S., Burke, M., Cohn, J., Cromer, J., Diener, S., Gajan, J., Graham, S., Houfek, T.D., Liu, Q., Mitros, T., Schaff, J., Schaffer, R., Scholl, E., Sosinski, B.R., Thomas, V.P., Windham, E., 2008. Sequence and genetic map of Meloidogyne hapla: A compact nematode genome for plant parasitism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 14802–14807. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805946105
- Opperman, Charles H, Bird, D.M., Williamson, V.M., Rokhsar, D.S., Burke, M., Cohn, Jonathan, Cromer, John, Diener, S., Gajan, J., Graham, S., Houfek, T.D., Liu, Q., Mitros, T., Schaff, J., Schaffer, R., Scholl, E., Sosinski, B.R., Thomas, V.P., Windham, E., Cohn, J, Cromer, J, 2008. Sciences of the USA 14802-14807 PNAS September 30.
- Pajares, S., Bohannan, B.J.M., 2016. Ecology of nitrogen fixing, nitrifying, and denitrifying microorganisms in tropical forest soils. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1045. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2016.01045/BIBTEX
- Park, S.D., Khan, Z., Ryu, J.G., Seo, Y.J., Yoon, J.T., 2005. Effect of initial density of *Meloidogyne hapla* on its pathogenic potential and reproduction in three species of medicinal plants. J. Phytopathol. 153, 250–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1439-0434.2005.00964.X
- Patowary, R., Deka, H., 2020. Paenibacillus. Benef. Microbes Agro-Ecology 339–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823414-3.00017-4
- Paulson, J.N., Colin Stine, O., Bravo, H.C., Pop, M., 2013. Differential abundance analysis for microbial marker-gene surveys. Nat. Methods 10, 1200–1202. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2658
- Pertile, G., Lamorski, K., Bieganowski, A., Boguta, P., Brzezińska, M., Polakowski, C., Skic, K., Sokołowska, Z., Baranowski, P., Gackiewicz, B., Rutkowska, A., Trzciński, P., Sas-Paszt, L., Frąc, M., 2021. Immediate effects of the application of various fungal strains with urea fertiliser on microbiome structure and functions and their relationships with the physicochemical parameters of two different soil types. Appl. Soil Ecol. 163, 103972. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2021.103972
- Plowright, R., Dusabe, J., Coyne, D., Speijer, P., 2013. Analysis of the pathogenic variability and genetic diversity of the plant-parasitic nematode *Radopholus similis* on bananas. Nematology 15, 41–56. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854112X643914

Preston, J.F., Dickson, D.W., Maruniak, J.E., Nong, G., Brito, J.A., Schmidt, L.M., Giblin-

Davis, R.M., 2003. *Pasteuria* spp.: Systematics and phylogeny of these bacterial parasites of phytopathogenic nematodes, in: Journal of Nematology. pp. 198–207.

- Pruesse, E., Peplies, J., Glöckner, F.O., 2012. SINA: Accurate high-throughput multiple sequence alignment of ribosomal RNA genes. Bioinformatics 28, 1823–1829. https://doi.org/10.1093/BIOINFORMATICS/BTS252
- Pyrowolakis, A., Westphal, A., Sikora, R.A., Ole Becker, J., 2002. Identification of root-knot nematode suppressive soils. Appl. Soil Ecol. 19, 51–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0929-1393(01)00170-6
- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., Glöckner, F.O., 2013. The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 41, D590. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKS1219
- R. Team, 2013. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Found. Stat. Comput.
- R Core Team, 2020. R: A language and environment for statistica... Google Scholar.
- Redding, N.W., Agudelo, P., Wells, C.E., 2018. Multiple nodulation genes are up-regulated during establishment of Reniform nematode feeding sites in soybean. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-04-17-0154-R
- Riggs, R.D., Schmitt, D.P., 1988. Complete characterization of the race scheme for *Heterodera glycines*, Journal of Nematology.
- Robertson, G.P., Gross, K.L., Hamilton, S.K., Landis, D.A., Schmidt, T.M., Snapp, S.S., Swinton, S.M., 2014. Farming for ecosystem services: An ecological approach to production agriculture. Bioscience 64, 404–415. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biu037
- Saleem, M., Hu, J., Jousset, A., 2019. More than the sum of its parts: Microbiome biodiversity as a driver of plant growth and soil health. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 50, 145–168. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-ECOLSYS-110617-062605
- Sánchez-Moreno, S., 2018. Biodiversity and soil health: The role of the soil food web in soil fertility and suppressiveness to soil-borne diseases. Acta Hortic. 1196, 95–104. https://doi.org/10.17660/ACTAHORTIC.2018.1196.11
- Sánchez-Moreno, S., Ferris, H., 2007. Suppressive service of the soil food web: effects of environmental management. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 119, 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2006.06.012
- Sanjuan, J., Delgado, M.J., Girard, L., 2020. Editorial: Microbial control of the nitrogen cycle. Front. Microbiol. 11, 950. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2020.00950/BIBTEX
- Santos, M.F.A., Correa, V.R., Peixoto, J.R., Mattos, V.S., Silva, J.G.P., Moita, A.W., Salgado, S.M.L., Castagnone-Sereno, P., Carneiro, R.M.D.G., 2018. Genetic variability

of *Meloidogyne paranaensis* populations and their aggressiveness to susceptible coffee genotypes. Plant Pathol. 67, 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12718

SAS-Institute, 2018. SAS user's guide: Statistics The SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.

- Schmidt, J.H., Bergkvist, G., Campiglia, E., Radicetti, E., Wittwer, R.A., Finckh, M.R., Hallmann, J., 2017. Effect of tillage, subsidiary crops and fertilisation on plant-parasitic nematodes in a range of agro-environmental conditions within Europe. Ann. Appl. Biol. 171, 477–489. https://doi.org/10.1111/aab.12389
- Schuelke, T., Pereira, T.J., Hardy, S.M., Bik, H.M., 2018. Nematode-associated microbial taxa do not correlate with host phylogeny, geographic region or feeding morphology in marine sediment habitats. Mol. Ecol. 27, 1930–1951. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14539
- Shade, A., Stopnisek, N., 2019. Abundance-occupancy distributions to prioritize plant core microbiome membership. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 49, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIB.2019.09.008
- Shearer, M.C., Giovenella, A.J., Grappel, S.F., Hedde, R.D., Mehta, R.J., Oh, Y.K., Pan, C.H., Pitkin, D.H., Nisbet, L.J., 1986. KIBDELINS, NOVEL GLYCOPEPTIDE ANTIBIOTICS I. DISCOVERY, PRODUCTION, AND BIOLOGICAL EVALUATION. J. Antibiot. (Tokyo). 39, 1386–1394. https://doi.org/10.7164/ANTIBIOTICS.39.1386
- Shuang, Z., Hui-cai, Z., Zhi-qiang, J., 2016. Response of soil nematode community composition and diversity to different crop rotations and tillage in the tropics. Appl. Soil Ecol. 107, 134–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2016.05.013
- Sikder, M.M., Vestergård, M., Kyndt, T., Kudjordjie, E.N., Nicolaisen, M., 2021. Phytohormones selectively affect plant parasitic nematodes associated with *Arabidopsis* roots. New Phytol. 232, 1272–1285. https://doi.org/10.1111/NPH.17549
- Simpson, E.H., 1949. Measurement of diversity [16]. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/163688a0
- Stephan, Z.A., Trudgill, D.L., 1982. Development of four populations of *Meloidogyne hapla* on two cultivars, of cucumber at different temperatures. J. Nematol. 14, 545–9.
- Svenningsen, N.B., Watts-Williams, S.J., Joner, E.J., Battini, F., Efthymiou, A., Cruz-Paredes, C., Nybroe, O., Jakobsen, I., 2018. Suppression of the activity of Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi by the soil microbiota. ISME J. 12, 1296. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41396-018-0059-3
- Swinton, S.M., Lupi, F., Robertson, G.P., Hamilton, S.K., 2007. Ecosystem services and agriculture: Cultivating agricultural ecosystems for diverse benefits. Ecol. Econ. 64, 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.09.020
- Tahat, M.M., Alananbeh, K.M., Othman, Y.A., Leskovar, D.I., 2020. Soil health and sustainable agriculture. Sustain. 2020, Vol. 12, Page 4859 12, 4859.

https://doi.org/10.3390/SU12124859

- Takeuchi, T., Hara, T., Naganawa, H., Okada, M., Hamada, M., Umezawa, H., Gomi, S., Sezaki, M., Kondo, S., 1988. New antifungal antibiotics, Benanomicins A and B from an actinomycete. J. Antibiot. (Tokyo). 41, 807–811. https://doi.org/10.7164/antibiotics.41.807
- Talwar, C., Nagar, S., Kumar, R., Scaria, J., Lal, R., Negi, R.K., 2020. Defining the environmental adaptations of genus *Devosia*: Insights into its expansive short peptide transport system and positively selected genes. Sci. Reports 2020 101 10, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-58163-8
- Tang, K., Yuan, B., Jia, L., Pan, X., Feng, F., Jin, K., 2021. Spatial and temporal distribution of aerobic anoxygenic phototrophic bacteria: key functional groups in biological soil crusts. Environ. Microbiol. 23, 3554–3567. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.15459
- Tian, B.-Y.Y., Cao, Y., Zhang, K.-Q.Q., 2015. Metagenomic insights into communities, functions of endophytes and their associates with infection by root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*, in tomato roots. Sci. Reports 2015 51 5, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17087
- Toju, H., Tanaka, Y., 2019. Consortia of anti-nematode fungi and bacteria in the rhizosphere of soybean plants attacked by root-knot nematodes. R. Soc. Open Sci. 6. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSOS.181693
- Tomita, K., Hoshino, Y., Miyaki, T., 1993. *Kibdelosporangium albatum* sp. nov., producer of the antiviral antibiotics cycloviracins. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 43, 297–301. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-43-2-297/CITE/REFWORKS
- Topalović, O., Elhady, A., Hallmann, J., Richert-Pöggeler, K.R., Heuer, H., 2019. Bacteria isolated from the cuticle of plant-parasitic nematodes attached to and antagonized the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne hapla*. Sci. Rep. 9, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47942-7
- Topalovic, O., Heuer, H., Reineke, A., Zinkernagel, J., Hallmann, J., 2020. Antagonistic role of the microbiome from a *Meloidogyne hapla*-suppressive soil against species of plant-parasitic nematodes with different life strategies. Nematology 22, 75–86. https://doi.org/10.1163/15685411-00003285
- Topalović, O., Hussain, M., Heuer, H., 2020. Plants and associated soil microbiota cooperatively suppress plant-parasitic nematodes. Front. Microbiol. 11, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00313
- Topalović, O., Santos, S.S., Heuer, H., Nesme, J., Kanfra, X., Hallmann, J., Sørensen, S.J., Vestergård, M., 2022. Deciphering bacteria associated with a pre-parasitic stage of the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne hapla* in nemato-suppressive and nemato-conducive soils. Appl. Soil Ecol. 172, 104344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2021.104344

Tsiafouli, M.A., Thébault, E., Sgardelis, S.P., Ruiter, P.C. de, Putten, W.H. van der,

Birkhofer, K., Hemerik, L., Vries, F.T. de, Bardgett, R.D., Brady, M.V., Bjornlund, L., Jørgensen, H.B., Christensen, S., Hertefeldt, T.D., Hotes, S., Hol, W.H.G., Frouz, J., Liiri, M., Mortimer, S.R., Setälä, H., Tzanopoulos, J., Uteseny, K., Pižl, V., Stary, J., Wolters, V., Hedlund, K., 2015. Intensive agriculture reduces soil biodiversity across Europe. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 973–985. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.12752

- Turmel, M.-S., Speratti, A., Baudron, F., Verhulst, N., Govaerts, B., 2015. Crop residue management and soil health: A systems analysis. Agric. Syst. 134, 6–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2014.05.009
- Umer, M., Ateeq, M., Ali Shad, M., 2021. Etiology, epidemiology and management of citrus black rot caused by alternaria citri-An outlook investigation of major diseases of potatoes in Gilgit-Baltistan Pakistan View Project Stress or Defense Enzymes of Cereals View Project. https://doi.org/10.33804/pp.005.02.3701
- van der Putten, W.H., Cook, R., Costa, S., Davies, K.G., Fargette, M., Freitas, H., Hol, W.H.G., Kerry, B.R., Maher, N., Mateille, T., Moens, M., de la Peña, E., Piśkiewicz, A.M., Raeymaekers, A.D.W., Rodríguez-Echeverría, S., van der Wurff, A.W.G., 2006. Nematode interactions in nature: Models for sustainable control of nematode pests of crop plants?, in: Advances in Agronomy. Academic Press, pp. 227–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(05)89005-4
- Vandekerckhove, T.T.M., Willems, A., Gillis, M., Coomans, A., 2000. Occurrence of novel verrucomicrobial species, endosymbiotic and associated with parthenogenesis in *Xiphinema americanum*-group species (Nematoda, Longidoridae). Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 50, 2197–2205. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-50-6-2197/CITE/REFWORKS
- Vestergård, M., 2019. Trap crops for *Meloidogyne hapla* management and its integration with supplementary strategies. Appl. Soil Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2018.10.012
- Viaene, N.M., Abawi, G.S., 1996. Damage threshold of *Meloidogyne hapla* to lettuce in organic soil. J. Nematol. 28, 537–545.
- Vicente, C.S.L., Soares, M., Faria, J.M.S., Ramos, A.P., Inácio, M.L., Scandellari, F., 2021. Insights into the role of fungi in pine wilt disease. mdpi.com 7, 780. https://doi.org/10.3390/jof7090780
- Vrain, T.C., Barker, K.R., Holtzman, G.I., 1978. Influence of Low Temperature on rate of development of *Meloidogyne incognita* and *M. hapla* Larvae. J. Nematol. 10, 166.
- Vu, V.Q., 2011. ggbiplot: A ggplot2 based biplot. https://www.rdocumentation.org/packages/ggbiplot/versions/0.55/topics/ggbiplot.
- Wang, K.-H., McSorley, V., 2005. Effects of soil ecosystem management on nematode pests, nutrient cycling, and plant health. APSnet Featur. Artic. https://doi.org/10.1094/apsnetfeatures/2005-0105

Ward, S., van Helden, M., Heddle, T., Ridland, P.M., Pirtle, E., Umina, P.A., 2020. Biology,

ecology and management of *Diuraphis noxia* (Hemiptera: Aphididae) in Australia. Austral Entomol. 59, 238–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/AEN.12453

- Watson, T.T., Strauss, S.L., Desaeger, J.A., 2020. Identification and characterization of Javanese root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne javanica*) suppressive soils in Florida. Appl. Soil Ecol. 154, 103597. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2020.103597
- Weerasinghe, R.R., Collings, D.A., Johannes, E., Allen, N.S., 2003. The distributional changes and role of microtubules in Nod factor-challenged *Medicago sativa* root hairs. Planta 218, 276–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-003-1097-1
- Wendeborn, S., 2020. The chemistry, biology, and modulation of ammonium nitrification in soil. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 59, 2182–2202. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.201903014
- White, T.J., Bruns, T., Lee, S. and Taylor, J., 1990. Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal rna genes for phylogenetics, in: Innis, M.A., Gelfand, D.H., Sninsky, J.J. and White, T.J. (Ed.), PCR Protocols. A guide to methods and applications,. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 315–322.
- Wickham, H., 2016. GGPlot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis.
- Wickham, J.D., Jianguo, W., Bradford, D.F., 1997. A conceptual framework for selecting and analyzing stressor data to study species richness at large spatial scales. Environ. Manage. 21, 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002679900024
- Widmer, T.L., Ludwig, J.W., Abawi, G.S., 1999. The northern root-knot nematode on carrot, lettuce, and onion in New York 156.
- Willms, I.M., Rudolph, A.Y., Göschel, I., Bolz, S.H., Schneider, D., Penone, C., Poehlein, A., Schöning, I., Nacke, H., 2020. Globally Abundant "*Candidatus Udaeobacter*"
 Benefits from release of antibiotics in soil and potentially performs trace gas scavenging . Msphere 5. https://doi.org/10.1128/MSPHERE.00186-20/ASSET/8A7ACA3D-F172-4885-BCFA-DF1F40FEC98E/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/MSPHERE.00186-20-F0006.JPEG
- Workie, M.A., 2017. Impact of crop production inputs on soil health: A review postharvest technology (ripening and shelflife improvement of climacteric fruits) View project Use of *Bacillus subtilis* as Biocontrol Agent. I. Activities and Characterization of Bacillus subtilis Strains View project. Artic. Asian J. Plant Sci. https://doi.org/10.3923/ajps.2017.109.131
- Wu, M., Huang, H., Li, G., Ren, Y., Shi, Z., Li, X., Dai, X., Gao, G., Ren, M., Ma, T., 2017. The evolutionary life cycle of the polysaccharide biosynthetic gene cluster based on the Sphingomonadaceae. Sci. Reports 2017 71 7, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46484
- Xia, X., Zhang, P., He, L., Gao, X., Li, W., Zhou, Y., Li, Z., Li, H., Yang, L., 2019. Effects of tillage managements and maize straw returning on soil microbiome using 16S rDNA sequencing. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 61, 765–777. https://doi.org/10.1111/jipb.12802
- Xue, S., Gan, J., Yates, S.R., Ole Becker, J., 2000. Nematode response to methyl bromide

and 1,3-dichloropropene soil fumigation at different. Pest Manag. Sci. 56, 737–742. https://doi.org/10.1002/1526-4998(200009)56:9<737::AID-PS192>3.0.CO;2-G

- Yeates, G.W., 2003. Nematodes as soil indicators: Functional and biodiversity aspects. Biol. Fertil. Soils 37, 199–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-003-0586-5
- Yeates, G.W., Bongers, T., 1999. Nematode diversity in agroecosystems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 74, 113–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(99)00033-X
- Yeates, G.W., Bongers, T., De Goede, R.G.M., Freckman, D.W., Georgieva, S.S., 1993. Feeding habits in soil nematode families and genera-an outline for soil ecologists. J. Nematol. 25, 315–331.
- Yergaliyev, T.M., Alexander-Shani, R., Dimerets, H., Pivonia, S., Bird, D.M., Rachmilevitch, S., Szitenberg, A., Kent, A.D., 2021. Bacterial community structure dynamics in *Meloidogyne incognita*-infected roots and its role in worm-microbiome interactions Downloaded from. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.00306-20
- Yoon, J.H., Kang, S.J., Lee, S.Y., Lee, J.S., Park, S., 2011. *Ohtaekwangia koreensis* gen. nov., sp. nov. and *Ohtaekwangia kribbensis* sp. nov., isolated from marine sand, deepbranching members of the phylum Bacteroidetes. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 61, 1066– 1072. https://doi.org/10.1099/IJS.0.025874-0/CITE/REFWORKS
- Zhang, J., Liu, Y.X., Zhang, N., Hu, B., Jin, T., Xu, H., Qin, Y., Yan, P., Zhang, X., Guo, X., Hui, J., Cao, S., Wang, X., Wang, C., Wang, H., Qu, B., Fan, G., Yuan, L., Garrido-Oter, R., Chu, C., Bai, Y., 2019. NRT1.1B is associated with root microbiota composition and nitrogen use in field-grown rice. Nat. Biotechnol. 37, 676–684. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0104-4
- Zhou, D., Feng, H., Schuelke, T., De Santiago, A., Zhang, Q., Zhang, J., Luo, C., Wei, L., 2019. Rhizosphere microbiomes from root knot nematode non-infested plants suppress nematode infection. Microb. Ecol. 78, 470–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-019-01319-5
- Zhou, J., Fong, J.J., 2021. Strong agricultural management effects on soil microbial community in a non-experimental agroecosystem. Appl. Soil Ecol. 165, 103970. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2021.103970
- Zuckerman, B.M., 1985. Nematode embryology and development, in: Zuckerman, B.W., Mai, W.F., Harrison, M.B. (Ed.), Plant Nematology Laboratory Manual. University of Massachusetts, Agricultural Experiment Station Publication, Amherst, USA, pp. 101– 105.